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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K that are not historical facts including any statements

concerning investment objectives other plans and objectives of management for future operations or economic performance or

assumptions or forecasts related thereto are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities

Act of 1933 as amended and Section 21 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended These statements are only

predictions We caution that forward-looking statements are not guarantees Actual events or our investments and results of

operations could differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements Forward-looking

statements are typically identified by the use of terms such as may should expect could intend plan
anticipate estimate believe continue predict potential or the negative of such terms and other comparable

terminology

The forward-looking statements included herein are based upon our current expectations plans estimates assumptions and

beliefs that involve numerous risks and uncertainties Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to

among other things future economic competitive and market conditions and future business decisions all of which are difficult

or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond our control Although we believe that the expectations

reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions our actual results and performance could

differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking statements Factors which could have material adverse effect on

our operations and future prospects include but are not limited to

the fact that we have limited operating history and commenced operations on August 11 2010

the fact that we have had net loss for each quarterly and annual period since inception

our ability to raise proceeds in our continuous public offering of common stock

our ability to effectively deploy the proceeds raised in our public offering of common stock

changes in economic conditions generally and the real estate and debt markets specifically

our ability to continue to successfully identifr and acquire real estate and real estate-related assets on terms that are

favorable to us

our ability to secure resident leases at favorable rental rates

risks inherent in the real estate business including tenant defaults potential liability relating to environmental matters

and the lack of liquidity of real estate investments

the fact we pay fees and expenses to our advisor and its affiliates that were not negotiated on an arms length basis and

the fact that the payment of these fees and expenses
increases the risk that our stockholders will not earn profit on

their investment in us

our ability to retain our executive officers and other key personnel of our advisor our property manager and our

affiliates

legislative or regulatory changes including changes to the laws governing the taxation of real estate investment trusts

or REITs

the availability of capital

changes in interest rates and

changes to generally accepted accounting principles or GAAP

Any of the assumptions underlying forward-looking statements could be inaccurate You are cautioned not to place undue

reliance on any forward-looking statements included in this annual report All forward-looking statements are made as of the

date of this annual report and the risk that actual results will differ materially from the expectations expressed in this annual

report will increase with the passage of time Except as otherwise required by the federal securities laws we undertake no

obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements after the date of this annual report whether as result of

new information future events changed circumstances or any other reason In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in



the forward-looking statements included in this annual repott including without limitation the risks described under Risk

Factors the inclusion of such forward-looking statements should not be regarded as representation by us or any other person

that the objectives and plans set forth in this annual report will be achieved
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PART

ITEM BUSINESS

Overview

Steadfast Income REIT Inc which is referred to in this annual report as context requires as the Company we us or

our was formed on May 2009 as Maryland corporation that has elected to qua1if as real estate investment trust or

REIT We intend to use substantially all of the net proceeds from our ongoing initial public offering to continue to invest in and

manage diverse portfolio of real estate investments primarily in the multifamily sector located throughout the United States

In addition to our focus on multifamily properties we may also selectively invest in other types of commercial properties We

may also acquire or originate mortgage mezzanine bridge and other real estate loans and equity securities of other real estate

companies Substantially all of our business is conducted through Steadfast Income REIT Operating Partnership L.P

Delaware limited partnership formed on July 2009 which we refer to as our operating partnership We are the sole general

partner of our operating partnership As of December 31 2012 we owned 30 multifamily properties comprised of total of

6690 apartment homes and 8995 square feet of rentable commercial space For more information on our real estate portfolio

see Our Real Estate Portfolio below

On July 23 2009 we filed registration statement on Form S-il with the Securities and Exchange Commission or the

SEC to offer maximum of 150000000 shares of common stock for sale to the public at an initial price of $10.00 per
share

subject to certain discounts We also initially offered up to 15789474 shares of common stock pursuant to our distribution

reinvestment plan at an initial price of $950 per
share subject to certain discounts On July 12 2012 our board of directors

determined an estimated value per share of our common stock of $10.24 as of March 31 2012 As result of the determination

of the estimated value per share of our common stock as of March 31 2012 effective September 10 2012 the offering price of

our common stock in our ongoing public offering increased from the initial price of $10.00 per
share to 10.24 per share

Additionally effective September 10 2012 the price of shares of our common stock issued pursuant to the distribution

reinvestment plan increased from the initial price of $9.50 per
share to price of $9.73 per share or 95% of the new public

offering price of $10.24 per share Effective September 10 2012 our board of directors increased the amount of distributions

paid on each share of our common stock from $0.00 1917 per
share

per day to $0.00 1964 per share per day which if paid each

day over 365-day period is equivalent to 7.0% annualized distribution rate based on the new public offering price of $10.24

per share Our board of directors may again in its sole discretion change the price at which we offer shares of common stock to

the public in the public offering or to our stockholders pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan to reflect future changes in

our estimated value
per

share and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant We may reallocate the shares

between the public offering and the distribution reinvestment plan

From the commencement of our public offering on July 19 2010 to December 31 2012 we had sold 22244340 shares of

common stock in our public offering for gross proceeds of $222327700 including 393471 shares of common stock issued

pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan for gross offering proceeds of $3771655 Our initial public offering will

terminate on the earlier of July 2013 or the date we sell all the shares offered in our primary offering however under rules

promulgated by the SEC in some circumstances we may continue the primary offering until as late as January 2014

Prior to the commencement of our public offering we sold shares of our common stock in private offering exempt from

the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Securities Act Upon termination of the private

offering we had sold 637279 shares of common stock at $9.40 per share subject to certain discounts for net offering proceeds

of $5844325

We are extemally managed by Steadfast Income Advisor LLC which we refer to as our advisor pursuant to the Advisory

Agreement as amended or the advisory agreement by and among us our operating partnership and our advisor Subject to

certain restrictions and limitations our advisor manages our day-to-day operations and our portfolio of properties and real

estate related assets Our advisor sources and presents investment opportunities to our board of directors and provides

investment management services on our behalf We have retained Steadfast Capital Markets Group LLC or the dealer

manager our affiliate to serve as the dealer manager for our ongoing public offering The dealer manager is responsible for



marketing our shares of common stock being offered pursuant to our ongoing public offering The advisor along with the

dealer manager also provides offering services marketing investor relations and other administrative services on our behalf

Our Structure

The chart below shows the relationships among our company and various affiliates
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Crossroads Capital Group LLCs interest in our sponsor is contingent upon net increase in book capitalization as

defined in our sponsors limited liability company agreement Steadfast REIT Holdings LLC or Steadfast Holdings

owns 75% interest in our sponsor For additional infonnation on the ownership of our sponsor see Item 13 Certain

Relationships and Related Transactions and Director IndependenceOur Relationships with our Advisor and our

Sponsor

Objectives and Strategies

Our primary investment objectives are to

preserve protect and return invested capital

pay attractive and stable cash distributions to stockholders and

realize capital appreciation in the value of our investments over the long term

We intend to use the net proceeds of our ongoing initial public offering to continue to invest in diverse portfolio of real

estate investments located throughout the United States primarily in the multifamily sector We seek to acquire and actively

manage stabilized income-producing and value-added properties with the objective of providing stable and secure source of

income for our stockholders and maximizing potential returns upon disposition of our assets through capital appreciation We

may make these investments directly or through joint ventures in each case provided that the underlying real estate or real

estate-related asset generally meets our criteria for direct investment

We believe that the recent downturn in the commercial real estate market during the past recession provides an opportunity

for us to purchase these types of investment properties at historically low prices during the period in which we will be investing

the net proceeds of our public offering thereby enhancing our ability to realize appreciation on the ultimate disposition of the

properties As result we believe that we will be able to identifS undervalued investments at attractive capitalization rates in

order to realize higher risk-adjusted returns than have been available from commercial real estate properties acquired in recent

years We believe desirable investment opportunities will be more prevalent during this period than historical norms due to the

lack of available credit preventing many property owners from refinancing existing debt We intend to target distressed sellers

of properties in which the fundamental attributes of the underlying property remain sound We also believe that the current

credit market conditions provide us with unique opportunities to acquire first mortgage mezzanine and bridge loans secured by

these types
of well-performing investment properties at discount to their par value in order to realize stable income and

attractive overall rates of return We believe that the multifamily sector of the commercial real estate property market presents

compelling opportunities for investments that align with our investment objectives due to the supply and demand dynamics

expected to arise in that sector during the investment and operational stages of our business

After we have invested substantially all of the net offering proceeds from our public offering we expect that multifamily

properties will comprise 75% or more of the aggregate cost of our portfolio and combination of other real estate assets real

estate-related assets and other investment types will not represent more than 25% of the aggregate cost of our portfolio Our

board of directors may revise this targeted portfolio allocation from time to time or at any time if it determines that different

portfolio composition is in our stockholders best interests

2012 Highlights

During 2012 we

acquired 22 multifamily properties for an aggregate purchase price of $501240000 exclusive of closing costs

increasing our property portfolio to 30 multifamily properties with an aggregate purchase price of $570808500

paid cash distributions of $4375205 and distributed $3172149 in shares of our common stock pursuant to our

distribution reinvestment plan which together constituted 7.0% annualized distribution to our stockholders and

issued 18296622 shares in our initial public offering including shares issued pursuant to our distribution

reinvestment plan resulting in gross offering proceeds of $183088632



Our Real Estate Portfolio

As of December 31 201 we owned the 30 multifamily properties described below

erage 4verage

Number Monthl Monthl Purchase Contract Mortgage Debt Capitaliiation
Property iame Cit and State of Units Occupancy Rent Date Purchase Price Outstanding

Lincoln Tosser Springfield

Apartments Illinois 190 96.8% 827 8111/2010 9.500000 8652963 9.7%

Park Place Des Moines
Condominiums Iowa l49 88.6 778 1222 2010 158500 5.000.000 8.500

Louisville

Arbor Pointe Apartments Kentucky 130 95.410 767 S/5/20 II 6500.000 5087.01 8.6%

anon Park \partments Ohithe Kansas 220 95.500 683 628201 1.215000 8778.412

Louisvi lie

Cooper Creek Village Kentucky 123 95.130 903 824/2011 10420.000 6743782 74%
irandvies

Truman Fann Has Missouri 200 96.5 653 12 222011 9.100000 5.915000 8.4

Kansas City

Prairie Walk Apartments Missouri 18 95.3% 600 12/22/2011 6100000 39650 1.9%

Kansas its

EB Lofts Misso ri 102 9b.0 881 12302011 8575000 5590.000 7.4%

Cedar Rapids
Windsor on the River Iowa 424 88.0% 718 1/26/20 12 33000000 23500000 7.0%

Louics ilic

itt Renaissance St Andrews Kentueks 216 93.5% 678 2/l720l2 l2500000 9084000 7.2%

Fdmond
11 Spring creek of Edinond Oklahoma 252 92.9% 813 3/92012 19350000 14.236229 7.6%

Montclair larc Oklahoma City

Apartments Oklahoma 360 88.6c 903 426 2012 35.750000 24766709 7.0%

Sonoma Grande

13 Apartments Tulsa Oklahoma 336 91.4% 922 5/24/2012 32200000 22.540.000 7.1%

Estancia Apartments Tulsa Oklahoma 294 95.2% 936 6/292012 27.900.000 22203718 7.2%

Round RocL
15 Montelena Apartments Texas 232 94.0% 855 7132012 18350000 12817796 6.9%

OUtS Ole

alle Farms Apartments Kentucky 160 94.4c 857 S302tJ 12 15.100.000 10.400000 6.8

17 Hilliard Park Apartments Columbus Ohio 201 92.0% 988 9/1 1i2012 19800000 13860000 67%
camore Terrace Terre 1-laute

IS Apartments Indiana Th 95.500 1.024 920 2012 16.500.000 11.550000 7.8%

Hilliard Summit
19 Apartments olumbus Ohio 208 93.8% 1.049 9/28/2012 24.100.000 16800000 6.6%

San \larcos

20 Sprmniarc Apartments Teo 240 88.80 951 10 192012 21.850.000 15470.000 6.7%

Renaissance at St Louisville

21 Andrews Condominiums Kentucky 58.6% 766 10/31/2012 1.375000 8.3%

San Antonio
22 \shks Oaks Apartments Texas 46 91.1 7211 II 29 2012 30790000 21.712.000 6.8%

23 Arrowhead Apartments Palatine Illinois 200 96.5% 1.004 Il 302012 16750000 12562000 7.0%

The Moorings

24 Apartments Roselle Illinois 216 9770 001 l30 2012 20.250.000 15187000 6.9c

Lexington

25 Forty57 Apartments Kentucky 436 87.2% 836 12/20/2012 52500000 38.500000 6.0%



Average Average

Number Monthly Monthly Purchase Contract Mortgage Debt Capitalization

City and State of Units Occupancy Rent Date Purchase Price Outstae Rate

The capitalization
rate reflected in the table is as of the closing of the acquisition of the property We calculate the

capitalization rate for real property by dividing net operating income of the property by the purchase price of the

property excluding acquisition costs Net operating income is calculated by deducting all operating expenses of

property including property taxes and management fees but excluding debt service payments and capital expenditures

from gross operating revenues received from property For purposes of this calculation net operating income is

determined using the projected
first year net operating income of the property based on in-place leases potential rent

increases or decreases for each unit and other revenues from latefees or services adjusted for projected vacancies

tenant concessions if any and charges not collected

The Lincoln Tower Apartments also contains approximately 8995 rentable square feet of commercial space As of

December 31 2012 the commercial space at the Lincoln Tower Apartments which represents approximately 5.1% of

the rentable square
feet of the Lincoln Tower Apartments was approximately 95.7% occupied by eight tenants with

average remaining lease terms of approximately 1.62 years The lease terms of the eight tenants occupying the

commercial space expire between 2013 and 2016 subject to tenant extension options The tenants of the commercial

space are nonprofit educational and consulting companies and pay an average annual rent of approximately $16389

or approximately $15.23 per square
foot In addition there are two leases relating to cell towers located on the Lincoln

Tower Apartments These leases have approximately 0.81 years remaining and collectively generate approximately

$43980 per year
in rent

South Pointe at Valley Farms also includes one clubhouse building/leasing office and improved land that is zoned and

entitled for an additional 224 apartment homes The noted capitalization rate for this property solely applies to the

operating units and existing structures

At December 31 2012 our portfolio was approximately 92 4% occupied and the average monthly rent per leased

multifamily home in our portfolio was $863 The weighted average remaining lease term of our portfolio is less than one year

The weighted-average remaining lease term of our commercial office space leases is 1.62 years

92.4% 863

Average monthly rent is based upon the amount of rents actually received from tenants

570808500 4088023



The following information generally applies to all our properties

we believe all of our properties are adequately covered by insurance and are suitable for their intended purposes

we are aware of no plans for any material renovations improvements or developments with respect to any of our

properties except for South Pointe at Valley Farms for which we have entitlements to construct up to 224 additional

residential units and

our properties face competition in attracting new residents and retaining current residents from other multifamily

properties in and around their respective submarkets

Borrowing Policy

We use and intend to use in the future secured and unsecured debt as means of providing additional funds for the

acquisition of our properties and our real estate-related assets We believe that careful use of borrowings will help us achieve

our diversification goals and potentially enhance the returns on our investments We expect that our borrowings will be

approximately 65% of the cost of our real properties before deducting depreciation and amortization plus the value of our
other investments after we have invested substantially all of the net offering proceeds from our public offering In order to

facilitate investments in the early stages of our operations we expect to temporarily borrow in excess of our long-term targeted
debt level Under our Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement or our charter we are prohibited from borrowing in

excess of 300% of our net assets which generally approximates to 75% of the aggregate cost of our assets We may borrow in

excess of this amount if such excess is approved by majority of the independent directors and disclosed to stockholders in our
next quarterly report along with justification for such excess In such event we will monitor our debt levels and take action to

reduce any such excess as soon as practicable We do not intend to exceed our charters leverage limit except in the early stages
of our operations when the costs of our investments are most likely to substantially exceed our net offering proceeds Our

aggregate borrowings are reviewed by our board of directors at least quarterly At December 31 2012 our borrowings were not
in excess of 300% of the value of our net assets

Employees

We have no paid employees The employees of our advisor or its affiliates provide management acquisition advisory and
certain administrative services for us

Competition

We are subject to significant competition in seeking real estate investments and residents We compete with many third

parties engaged in real estate investment activities including other REITs specialty finance companies savings and loan

associations banks mortgage bankers insurance companies mutual funds institutional investors investment banking finns
lenders hedge funds governmental bodies and other entities Many of our competitors have

substantially greater financial and
other resources than we have and may have substantially more operating experience than us They also may enjoy significant

competitive advantages that result from among other things lower cost of capital

The multifamily property market in particular is highly competitive This competition could reduce occupancy levels and

revenues at our multifamily properties which would adversely affect our operations We face competition from many sources

including from other multifamily properties both in the immediate vicinity and the geographic market where our multifamily
properties are and will be located In addition overbuilding of multifamily properties may occur which would increase the

number of multifamily homes available and may decrease occupancy and unit rental rates Furthermore multifamily properties
we acquire most likely compete or will compete with numerous housing alternatives in attracting residents including owner

occupied single and multifamily homes available to rent or purchase Competitive housing in particular area and the

increasing affordability of owner occupied single- and multi-family homes available to rent or buy caused by declining

mortgage interest rates and government programs to promote home ownership could adversely affect our ability to retain our

residents lease apartment homes and increase or maintain rental rates



Regulations

Our investments are subject to various federal state and local laws ordinances and regulations including among other

things zoning regulations land use controls environmental controls relating to air and water quality noise pollution and

indirect environmental impacts such as increased motor vehicle activity We believe that we have all permits and approvals

necessary under current law to operate our investments

Income Taxes

We have elected to be taxed as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended or the Internal Revenue Code

and have operated as such beginning with the taxable year ending December 31 2010 To qualify as REIT we must meet

certain organizational and operational requirements including requirement to distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT

taxable income to stockholders which is computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain and which

does not necessarily equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP As REIT we generally will not be subject to

federal income tax to the extent we distribute qualifying dividends to our stockholders If we fail to qualify as REIT in any

taxable year after the taxable year in which we initially elect to be taxed as REIT we will be subject to federal income tax on

our taxable income at regular corporate income tax rates and generally will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as REIT

for federal income tax purposes for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification is lost unless the

Internal Revenue Service grants us relief under certain statutory provisions

Financial Information About Industry Segments

Our current business consists of owning managing operating leasing acquiring developing investing in and disposing of

real estate assets We internally evaluate all of our real estate assets as one industry segment and accordingly we do not report

segment information

Available Information

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended or the Exchange Act and

as result file periodic reports proxy statements and other information with the SEC Access to copies of our Annual Reports

on Form 10-K QuarterlyReports on Form 10-Q Current Reports on Form 8-K proxy statements and other filings with the

SEC including amendmentsto such filings may be obtained free of charge from our website http//wwwsteadfastreits.com

These filings are available promptly after we file them with or furnish them to the SEC We are not incorporating our website

or any information from the website into this annual report The SEC also maintains website http//www.sec.gov that

contains our Annual Reports on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form lO-Q Current Report on Form 8-K proxy statements

and other filings with the SEC Access to these filings is free of charge



ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

The following are some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those

presented in our forward-looking statements The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face but do

represent
those risks and uncertainties that we believe are material to us Additional risks and uncertainties not presently

known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also harm our business References to shares and our common

stock refer to the shares of common stock of Steadfast Income REI7 Inc

General Investment Risks

We have limited operating history and there is no assurance that we will be able to successfully achieve our investment

objectives

We commenced our operations on August 11 2010 with our acquisition of the Lincoln Tower Apartments We our sponsor

and our advisor have limited operating history and may not be able to successfully operate Qur business or achieve our

investment objectives As result an investment in our shares of common stock may entail more risk than an investment in the

shares of common stock of real estate investment trust with substantial operating history

We have experienced losses in the past and may experience similar losses in the future

We incurred net loss for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 Our losses can be attributed in part to depreciation

and amortization expenses We cannot assure you that we will be profitable in the future or that we will recognize growth in the

value of our assets

There is no public trading market for shares of our common stock and we are not required to effectuate liquidity event by

certain date As result it will be difficult foryou to sell your shares of common stock and ifyou are able to sell your

shares you are likely to sell them at substantial discount

There is no current public market for the shares of our common stock and we have no obligation to list our shares on any

public securities market or provide any other type of liquidity to our stockholders by particular date It may therefore be

difficult for you to sell your shares of common stock Even if you are able to sell your shares of common stock the absence of

public market may cause the price received for any shares of our common stock sold to be less than what you paid or less than

your proportionate value of the assets we own We have adopted share repurchase plan but it is limited in terms of the amount

of shares that may be repurchased each quarter Additionally our charter does not require that we consummate transaction to

provide liquidity to stockholders on any date certain As result you should purchase shares of our common stock only as

long-term investment and you must be prepared to hold your shares for an indefinite period of time

If we are unable to raise substantialfunds in our public offering we will be limited in the number and type of investments

we may make which could negatively impact your investmeni

Our public offering is being made on best efforts basis Therefore the broker-dealers participating in the offering are

only required to use their best efforts to sell shares of our common stock have no firm commitment or obligation to purchase

any of the shares of our common stock and may choose to emphasize other REIT products over our offering As of March 22

2013 we had raised $267812851 in
gross offering proceeds from our public offering including $5539778 in gross offering

proceeds from the distribution reinvestment plan If we raise substantially less than the maximum offering amount in this

offering we will make fewer investments resulting in less diversification in terms of the number of investments we own the

geographic regions in which our real properties are located and the types of investments that we make Further we may not be

able to achieve portfolio diversification consistent with our longer-term investment objectives increasing the likelihood that

any single investment poor performance would materially affect our overall investment performance We currently face

concentration risk with respect to our properties in Columbus Ohio Lexington Kentucky Tulsa Oklahoma and Austin Texas

Our inability to raise substantial funds and make investments would also increase our fixed operating expenses as percentage

of gross income As of December 31 2012 our total operating expenses were 0.2% of our average invested assets and 6.3% of

our net loss Each of these factors could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and ability to make distributions to

our stockholders



Disruptions in the financial markets and deteriorating economic conditions could adversely impact our ability to implement

our investment strategy and achieve our investment objectives

United States and global financial markets have experienced extreme volatility and disruption jn recent years There has

been widespread tightening in overall.credit markets devaluation of the assets underlying certain financial contracts and

increased borrowing by governmental entities The recent turmoil in the capital markets resulted in constrained equity and debt

capital available for investment in the real estate market resulting in fewer buyers seeking to acquire real properties increases

in capitalization rates and lower property values Recently capital has been more available and the overall economy has begun

to improve However the failure of sustained economic recovery or future disruptions in the financial markets and

deteriorating economic conditions could impact the value of our investments in properties In addition if potential purchasers of

real properties have difficulty obtaining capital to finance property acquisitions capitalization rates could increase and property

values could decrease Current economic conditions greatly increasethe risks of our investments See Risks Related to Our

Investments

Recently enacted and potential financial regulatory reforms could have significant impact on our business financial

condition and results of operations

On July 21 2010 President Barack Obama signed the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or the

Dodd-Frank Act into law The Dodd-Frank Act represents significant change in the American financial regulatory

environment and impacts nearly every aspect of the United States financial services industry The Dodd Frank Act requires

various federal agencies to adopt hundreds of new rules to implement the Dodd-Frank Act and to deliver to Congress numerous

studies and reports that may influence future legislation The Dodd-Frank Act leaves significant discretion to federal agencies as

to exactly how to implement the broad provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act To date many of the details and much of the impact

of the Dodd Frank Act is not known and may not be known for some time The changes resulting from the Dodd Frank Act

may impact the profitability of business activities require changes to certain business practices impose more stnngent capital

liquidity and leverage requirements or otherwise adversely affect our business

Further we may be required to invest significant management attention and resources to evaluate and make any changes

necessary to comply with new statutory and regulatory requirements under the Dodd-Frank Act which may negatively impact

results of operations and our financial condition

The geographic concentration of our portfolio may makeus particularly susceptible to adverse economic developments in

the real estate markets of those areas

In addition to general regional and national economic conditions our operating results are impacted by the economic

conditions of the specific markets in which we have concentrations of properties As of December 31 2012 of our

$570808500 of real estate assets 14.8% was located in the Columbus Ohio metropolitan area 14.5% was located in the

Lexington Kentucky metropolitan area 10.5% was located in the Tulsa Oklahoma metropolitan area and 10.4% was located in

the Austin Texas metropolitan area These properties represent approximately 24.3% of our total revenues Any adverse

economic or real estate developments in these markets such as business layoffs or downsizing industry slowdowns relocations

of businesses changing demographics and other factors or any decrease in demand for multifamily property space resulting

from the local business climate could adversely affect our property revenue and hence net operating income

Our ability to successfully conduct our public offe ring is dependent inpart on the ability of the dealer manager to hire and

retain key employees and to successfully establish operate and maintain network of broker-dealers

The dealer manager for our public offering is Steadfast Capital Markets Group LLC which we refer to as Steadfast Capital

Markets Group or our dealer manager Other than serving as dealer manager for our public offering Steadfast Capital

Markets Group has no experience acting as dealer manager for public offering The success of our public offering and our

ability to implement our business strategy is dependent upon the ability of the dealer manager to hire and retain key employees

and to establish operate and maintain network of licensed securities broker-dealers and other agents The success of the

dealer manager will be determined in large part by James Shepherdson manager of the dealer manager and Philip

Meserve manager president and chief executive officer of the dealer manager and the loss of such services could harm our

ability to raise capital If the dealer manager is unable to hire qualified employees and build sufficient network of broker-

dealers we may not be able to raise adequate proceeds through our public offering to implement our investment strategy If we

are unsuccessful in implementing our investment strategy you could lose all or part of your investment



If we pay distributions from sources other than our cash flow from operations we will have fewer funds available for

investments and overall returns may be reduced

Although our distribution policy is to use our cash flow from operations to make distributions our organizational documents

permit us to pay distributions from any source For the year ended December 31 2012 all distributions paid to our stockholders

were funded from offering proceeds from our public offering To the extent we fund distributions from the net proceeds of our

public offering we will have less funds available for investment in real properties and real estate-related assets than if our

distributions came solely from cash flow from operations and overall returns may be reduced We expect to have little if any
cash flow from operations available for distribution until we make substantial investments Further because we may receive

income at various times during our fiscal year and because we may need cash flow from operations during particular period to

fund expenses we expect that at least during the early stages of our development and from time to time during our operational

stage we will declare distributions in anticipation of cash flow that we expect to receive during later period and we will pay
these distributions in advance of our actual receipt of these funds In these instances we expect to look to third party

borrowings to fund our distributions but we may determine to use net proceeds of our public offering when borrowings are not

available or if our board of directors determines it is appropriate to do so We have not established limit on the amount of

proceeds we may use from our public offering to fund distributions All distributions to date have been paid with offering

proceeds

We may also fund such distributions from advances from our advisor or sponsor or the deferral by our advisor of fees

payable under the advisory agreement Our obligation to pay all fees due to the advisor from us pursuant to the advisory

agreement will be deferred during our offering stage to provide additional funds to support the payment of distributions to our

stockholders to the extent that the distributions we pay during any calendar quarter exceed our adjusted funds from operations

as defined in the advisory agreement for such calendar quarter up to an amount equal to 7.0% cumulative non-compounded
annual return on stockholders invested capital pro-rated for such quarter The amount of fees that may be deferred is limited to

an aggregate amount of $5 million To the extent we pay distributions at an annualized rate lower than 7.0% the amount of fees

that are required to be deferred by our advisor could decrease If we pay distributions at an annualized rate that is greater than

7.0% our advisor is not required to defer fees for the amount equal to the amount paid in excess of 7.0% annualized

distribution In each case the amount of fees that are required to be deferred by our advisor may decrease which would reduce

the funds we have available for investments

In addition if the aggregate amount of cash we distribute to stockholders in any given year exceeds the amount of our

earnings and profits generated during the year the excess amount will either be return of capital or gain from the sale

or exchange of property to the extent that stockholder basis in our common stock equals or is reduced to zero as the result

of our current or prior year distributions

You may be more likely to sustain loss on your investment because our sponsor does not have as strong an economic

incentive to avoid losses as do sponsors who have made significant equity investments in the investment programs they are

sponsoring

Our sponsor has invested $200007 in us in exchange for 22223 shares of our common stock Therefore if we are

successful in raising sufficient offering proceeds in our public offering to be able to reimburse our sponsor for our organization

and offering expenses our sponsor will have little exposure to loss in the value of its investment in our shares Without this

exposure our investors may be at greater risk of loss because our sponsor
does not have as strong an economic incentive to

prevent decrease in the value of our shares as do those sponsors who make more significant equity investments in the

investment programs they are sponsoring

Effrctive September 10 2012 we raised the offering price of shares in our public offering to $10.24 per share from $1000

per share The sale of shares in our public offering at price of $10.00 per share prior to September 10 2012 resulted in

the dilution of existing stockholders investments To the extent that we sell shares at price below the then-current

estimated value per share in the future our stockholders may experience dilution of their investment

Our board of directors determined an estimated value per share of our common stock of $10.24 as of March 31 2012

Accordingly our board of directors determined that effective September 10 2012 it was appropriate to revise the price at

which shares of our common stock are offered in our continuous public offering and under our distribution reinvestment plan to

reflect the estimated value per share Prior to September 10 2012 we continued to sell shares in our public offering at $10.00
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per
share and pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan at price based on $10.00 per share When our shares are sold at

price per share below the then-current estimated value per share the resulting increase in the number of outstanding shares is

not accompanied by proportionate increase in our net assets As result any sale of shares at price below the then-current

estimated value per share results in an immediate dilution to existing stockholders who purchased shares This dilution includes

reduction in the estimated value per share of outstanding shares as result of the issuance of shares at price below the then

current estimated value per share value and proportionately greater
decrease in existing stockholders interest in our earnings

and assets for that period To the extent that we sell shares at price below the then-current estimated value per share in the

future our stockholders may experience dilution of their investment

Our board of directors determined an estimated value per share of $10.24 for our shares of common stock as of March 31

2012 Voushould not rely on the estimated value per share as being an accurate measure of the current value of our shares

of common stock or in making an investment decision

On July 12 2012 our board of directors determined an estimated value per share of our common stock of $10.24 as of

March 31 2012 Our board of directors objective in determining the estimated value per share was to arrive at value based

on the most recent data available that it believed was reasonable based on methodologies that it deemed appropnate
after

consultation with our advisor However the market for commercial real estate can fluctuate quickly and substantially and the

value of our assets is expected to change in the future and may decrease Also our board of directors did not consider certain

other factors such as liquidity discount to reflect the fact that our shares are not currently traded on national securities

exchange and the limitations on the ability to redeem shares pursuant to our share repurchase program

As with any valuation methodology the methodologies used to determine the estimated value per
share were based upon

number of assumptions estimates and judgments that may not be accurate or complete Our assets have been valued based upon

appraisal standards and the value of our assets using these methodologies are not required to be reflection of market value

under those standards and will not result in reflection of fair value under GAAP Further different parties using different

property-specific and general real estate and capital market assumptions estimates judgments and standards could derive

different estimated value per share which could be significantly different from the estimated value per share determined by our

board of directors The estimated value per share does not represent the fair value of our assets less liabilities in accordance

with United States GAAP The estimated value per share is not representation or indication that stockholder would be able

to realize the estimated value per share if he or she attempts to sell shares stockholder would ultimately realize distributions

per
share equal to the estimated value per share upon liquidation of assets and settlement of our liabilities or upon sale of our

company shares of our common stock would trade at the estimated value per share on national securities exchange third

party would offer the estimated value per share in an arms-length transaction to purchase all or substantially all of our shares of

common stock or the methodologies used to estimate the value per share would be acceptable to F1NRA or ERISA with respect

to their respective requirements Further the estimated value per share was calculated as of moment in time and the value of

our shares will fluctuate over time as result of among other things future acquisitions or dispositions of assets including

acquisitions and dispositions of real estate investments since March 31 2012 developments related to individual assets and

changes in the real estate and capital markets

We do not intend to publicly disclose an updated estimated value per share of our common stock until six months following

the completion of our offering stage as defined below Therefore you will not be able to determine the true value of your

shares on an ongoing basis during our public offering We will consider our offering stage complete on the first date that we are

no longer publicly offering equity securities that are not listed on national securities exchange whether through our current

public offering or follow-on public equity offerings provided we have not filed registration statement for follow-on public

equity offering as of such date for purposes of this definition we do not consider public equity offerings to include offerings

on behalf of selling stockholders or offerings related to distribution reinvestment plan employee benefit plan or the

redemption of interests in our operating partnership

11



Because our charter does not require our listing or liquidation by specified date you should only purchase our shares as

long-term investment and be prepared to only hold them for an indefinite period of time

In the future our board of directors will consider alternatives for providing liquidity to our stockholders which we refer to

as liquidity event that may include the sale of our assets sale or merger of our company or listing of our shares on

national securities exchange Our board of directors has determined that it will evaluate whether to pursue possible liquidity

event no later than January 2015 If we have not determined to pursue liquidity event by December 31 2016 our charter

requires
that we either seek stockholder approval of our liquidation or postpone presenting the liquidation decision to our

stockholders if majority of our board of directors including majority of the independent directors determines that

liquidation is not then in the best interests of our stockholders If majority of our board of directors including majority of

the independent directors determines that liquidation is not then in the best interests of our stockholders our charter requires

our board of directors to reconsider whether to seek stockholder approval of our liquidation at least annually Further

postponement of liquidity event or stockholder action regarding liquidation would only be permitted if majority of our board

of directors including majority of the independent directors again determined that liquidation would not be in the best

interests of our stockholders If we sought and failed to obtain stockholder approval of our liquidation our charter would not

require us to consummate our liquidation and would not require our board of directors to reconsider whether to seek

stockholder approval of our liquidation and we could continue to operate as before If however we sought and obtained

stockholder approval of liquidation we would begin an orderly sale of our assets Because our charter does not require us to

pursue liquidity event by specified date you should be prepared to hold them for an indefinite period of time

Payment offres to our advisor and its affiliates reduces cash available for investment which may result in our stockholders

not receiving full return of their invested capital

Because portion of the offering price from the sale of our shares has been and will continue to be used to pay expenses and

fees the full offering price paid by stockholders will not he invested in real properties and real estate-related assets As result

stockholders will only receive full return of their invested capital if we either sell our assets or our company for

sufficient amount in excess of the original purchase price of our assets or the market value of our company after we list our

shares of common stock on national securities exchange is substantially in excess of the original purchase price of our assets

If we internalize our management functions your interest in us could be diluted and we could incur other significant costs

associated with being self-managed

Our board of directors may decide in the future to internalize our management functions If we do so we may elect to

negotiate to acquire our advisors assets and personnel At this time we cannot anticipate the form or amount of consideration

or other terms relating to any such acquisition Such consideration could take many forms including cash payments

promissory notes and shares of our common stock The payment of such consideration could result in dilution of your interests

as stockholder and could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and ability to make distributions to our

stockholders

Additionally while we would no longer bear the costs of the various fees and expenses we expect to pay to our advisor

under the advisory agreement our direct expenses would include general and administrative costs including legal accounting

and other expenses related to corporate governance SEC reporting and compliance We would also be required to employ

personnel and would be subject to potential liabilities commonly faced by employers such as workers disability and

compensation claims potential labor disputes and other employee-related liabilities and grievances as well as incur the

compensation and benefits costs of our officers and other employees and consultants that will be paid by our advisor or its

affiliates We may issue equity awards to officers employees and consultants which awards would decrease net income and

funds from operations and may further dilute your investment We cannot reasonably estimate the amount of fees to our advisor

we would save or the costs we would incur if we became self-managed If the expenses we assume as result of an

internalization are higher than the expenses we avoid paying to our advisor our funds from operations would be lower as

result of the internalization than they otherwise would have been potentially decreasing the amount of funds available to

distribute to our stockholders

Internalization transactions involving the acquisition of advisors have also in some cases been the subject of litigation

Even if these claims are without merit we could be forced to spend significant amounts of money defending claims which

would reduce the amount of funds available for us to invest or to pay distributions
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You are limited in your ability to have your shares of common stock repurchased pursuant to our share repurchase plan

You may not be able to sell any ofyour shares of our common stock back to us and fyou do sell your shares you may not

receive the price you paid upon subscription

Our share repurchase plan may provide you with an opportunity to have your shares of common stock repurchased by us

We anticipate that shares of our common stock may be repurchased on quarterly basis No shares may be repurchased under

our share repurchase plan until after the first anniversary of the date of purchase of such shares Prior to the completion of our

offering stage we will repurchase shares of our common stock pursuant to our share repurchase plan at discount from the

current offering price based upon how long such shares have been held Notwithstanding the foregoing following the

completion of our offering stage shares of our common stock will be repurchased at price equal to price based upon our

estimated value per share as of our most recent appraisal

Our share repurchase plan contains certain restrictions and limitations including those relating to the number of shares of

our common stock that we can repurchase at any given time and limiting the repurchase price Specifically the share repurchase

plan limits the number of shares to be repurchased during any calendar year to no more than 5.0% of the weighted average

number of shares of our common stock outstanding in the prior calendar year and those that could be funded from the net

proceeds from the sale of shares under our distribution reinvestment plan in the prior calendar year plus such additional funds

as may be borrowed or reserved for that purpose by our board of directors Further we have no obligation to repurchase shares

if the repurchase would violate the restrictions on distributions under Maryland law which prohibits distributions that would

cause corporation to fail to meet statutory tests of solvency Our board of directors reserves the right to reject any repurchase

request for any reason or no reason or to amend or terminate the share repurchase plan at any time upon 30 days notice to our

stockholders Therefore you may not have the opportunity to make repurchase request prior to potential termination of the

share repurchase plan and you may not be able to sell any of your shares of common stock back to us Moreover if you do sell

your shares of common stock back to us pursuant to the share repurchase plan you may be forced to do so at discount to the

purchase price you paid for your shares

Our success is dependent on the performance of our advisor and its affiliates

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to pay distributions is dependent upon the performance of our advisor

and its affiliates Our advisor and its affiliates are sensitive to trends in the general economy as well as the commercial real

estate and credit markets The recent economic recession and accompanying credit crisis negatively impacted the value of

commercial real estate assets contributing to general slow down in the real estate industry The failure to achieve sustained

economic recovery or renewed economic downturn could result in continued reductions in overall transaction volume and size

of sales and leasing activities that our advisor and its affiliates have recently experienced and would continue to put downward

pressure on our advisors and its affiliates revenues and operating results To the extent that any decline in revenues and

operating results impacts the performance of our advisor and its affiliates our financial condition and ability to pay

distributions to our stockholders could also suffer

Additionally our advisor relies primarily on the fees it receives pursuant to the advisory agreement and capital from our

sponsor to fund its operations and liabilities If our advisor has insufficient cash from operations to meet its obligations under

the advisory agreement and is unable to obtain financing we would be adversely impacted

If we are delayed or unable to find suitable investments we may not be able to achieve our investment objectives

Delays in selecting acquiring and developing real properties could adversely affect investor returns Because we are

conducting our ongoing initial public offering on best efforts basis over time our ability to commit to purchase specific

assets will depend in part on the amount of proceeds we have received at given time If we are unable to access sufficient

additional capital we may suffer from delays locating and acquiring suitable investments

Events in United States financial markets have had and may continue to have negative impact on the terms and

availability of credit and the overall national economy which could have an adverse effect on our business and our results

of operations

The failure of large United States financial institutions in 2009 and the resulting turmoil in the United States financial sector

has had and will likely continue to have negative impact on the terms and availability of credit and the state of the economy

generally within the United States The tightening of the U.S credit markets resulted in lack of adequate credit and further
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economic downturn Some lenders continue to impose more stringent restrictions on the terms of credit including shorter terms

and more conservative loan-to-value underwriting than was previously customary The negative impact of the tightening of the

credit markets may limit our ability to finance the acquisition of properties and other real estate-related assets on favorable

terms if at all and may result in increased financing costs or financing with increasingly restrictive covenants

Additionally decreasing home prices and increasing mortgage defaults have resulted in uncertainty in the real estate and real

estate securities and debt markets The market for new issuances of commercial mortgage-backed securities or CMBS has

been significantly reduced as result of the recent turmoil in the financial markets and banks currently are generally providing

limited debt financing with more stringent conditions for investments in real estate-related assets As result the valuation of

real estate-related assets has been volatile and is likely to continue to be volatile in the future The volatility in markets may
make it more difficult for us to obtain adequate financing or realize gains on our investments which could have an adverse

effect on our business and our results of operations

We are uncertain of our sources forfunding our future capital needs If we do not have sufficient funds from operations to

cover our expenses or to fund improvements to our real estate and cannot obtain debt or equity financing on acceptable

terms our ability to cover our expenses or to fund improvements to our real estate may be adversely affected

The net proceeds of our public offering have been and will continue to be used primarily for investments in real properties

and real estate related assets We may not have sufficient funds from operations to cover our expenses or to fund improvements
to our real estate Accordingly in the event that we develop need for additional capital in the future for the improvement of

our real properties or for any other reason sources of funding may not be available to us If we do not have sufficient funds

from cash flow generated by our investments or out of net sale proceeds or cannot obtain debt or equity financing on

acceptable terms our financial condition and ability to make distributions may be adversely affected

If we cease to retain our advisor or one of its affiliates to perform substantial advisory services for us we may be required to

cease to conduct business under or use the name Steadfast or any derivative thereof

Pursuant to the terms of the advisory agreement if we cease to retain our advisor or one of its affiliates to perform
substantial advisory services for us we are required upon receipt of written request from our advisor to cease to conduct

business under or use the name Steadfast or any derivative thereof and to change our name and the names of our subsidiaries

to name that does not contain the word Steadfast or any other word or words that might in the reasonable discretion of our

advisor indicate some form of relationship between us and our advisor or its affiliates If we are required to cease to conduct

business under or use the name Steadfast or any derivative thereof it could have an adverse effect on our ability to achieve

our investment objectives

Risks Relating to Our Organizational Structure

Maryland law and our organizational documents limit your right to bring claims against our officers and directors

Maryland law provides that director will not have any liability as director so long as he or she performs his or her duties

in accordance with the applicable standard of conduct In addition our charter provides that subject to the applicable

limitations set forth therein or under Maryland law no director or officer will be liable to us or our stockholders for monetary

damages Our charter also provides that we will generally indemnify our directors our officers our advisor and its affiliates for

losses they may incur by reason of their service in those capacities unless their act or omission was material to the matter giving

rise to the proceeding and was committed in bad faith or was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty they actually

received an improper personal benefit in money property or services or in the case of any criminal proceeding they had

reasonable cause to believe the act or omission was unlawful Moreover we have entered into separate indemnification

agreements with each of our directors and executive officers As result we and our stockholders may have more limited rights

against these persons than might otherwise exist under common law in addition we maybe obligated to fund the defense costs

incurred by these persons However our charter provides that we may not indemnify our directors our advisor and its affiliates

for loss or liability suffered by them or hold our directors or our advisor and its affiliates harmless for loss or liability suffered

by us unless they have determined that the course of conduct that caused the loss or liability was in our best interests they were

acting on our behalf or performing services for us the liability was not the result of negligence or misconduct by our non

independent directors our advisor and its affiliates or gross negligence or willful misconduct by our independent directors and

the indemnification or agreement to hold harmless is recoverable only out of our net assets including the proceeds of insurance
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and not from the stockholders As result of these limitations on liability and indemnification provisions and agreements we

and our stockholders may be entitled to more limited right of action than we would otherwise have if indemnification rights

were not granted

The limit on the percentage of shares of our common stock that any person may own may discourage takeover or business

combination that may benefit our stockholders

Our charter restricts the direct or indirect ownership by one person or entity to no more than 9.8% of the value of our then

outstanding capital stock which includes common stock and any preferred stock we may issue and no more than 9.8% of the

value or number of shares whichever is more restrictive of our then outstanding common stock unless exempted by our board

of directors These restrictions may discourage change of control of us and may deter individuals or entities from making

tender offers for shares of our common stock on terms that might be financially attractive to stockholders or which may cause

change in our management In addition to deterring potential transactions that may be favorable to our stockholders these

provisions may also decrease your ability to sell your shares of our common stock

We may issue prefr rred stock or other classes of common stock which issuance could adversely affect the holders of our

common stock

Investors in our common stock do not have preemptive rights to any shares issued by us in the future We may issue without

stockholder approval preferred stock or other classes of common stock with rights that could dilute the value of your shares of

common stock However the issuance of preferred stock must also be approved by majority of our independent directors not

otherwise interested in the transaction who will have access at our expense to our legal counsel or to independent legal

counsel The issuance of preferred stock or other classes of common stock may increase the number of stockholders entitled to

distributions without simultaneously increasing the size of our asset base Under our charter we have authority to issue total

of 1100000000 shares of capital stock of which 999999000 shares are designated as common stock with par value of

$0.01 per share 100000000 shares are designated as preferred stock with par value of $0.01 per share and 1000 shares are

designated as convertible stock with par value of $0.01 per share Our board of directors with the approval of majority of

the entire board of directors and without any action by our stockholders may amend our charter from time to time to increase or

decrease the aggregate number of shares of capital stock or the number of shares of capital stock of any class or series that we

have authority to issue If we ever created and issued preferred stock with distribution preference over common stock

payment of any distribution preferences of outstanding preferred stock would reduce the amount of funds available for the

payment of distributions on our common stock Further holders of preferred stock are normally entitled to receive preference

payment in the event we liquidate dissolve or wind up before any payment is made to our common stockholders likely

reducing the amount common stockholders would otherwise receive upon such an occurrence In addition under certain

circumstances the issuance of preferred stock or separate class or series of common stock may render more difficult or tend to

discourage merger tender offer or proxy contest the assumption of control by holder of large block of our securities or

the removal of incumbent management

Your investment will be diluted upon conversion of the convertible stock

We have issued 1000 shares of our convertible stock to our advisor Under limited circumstances each outstanding share of

our convertible stock may be converted into shares of our common stock which will have dilutive effect to our stockholders

Our convertible stock will be converted into shares of common stock if we have made total distributions on the then

outstanding shares of our common stock equal to the price paid for those shares plus an 8.0% cumulative non-compounded

annual return on that price we list our common stock for trading on national securities exchange or enter into merger

whereby holders of our common stock receive listed securities of another issuer or our advisory agreement is terminated or

not renewed other than for cause as defined in our advisory agreement Upon any of these events each share of convertible

stock will be converted into number of shares of common stock equal to 1/1000 of the quotient of 10% of the amount if

any by which our enterprise value plus the aggregate value of the distributions paid to date on the then outstanding shares

exceeds ii the aggregate purchase price paid by stockholders for those outstanding shares plus an 8.0% cumulative non

compounded annual return on the original issue price of the shares divided by our enterprise value divided by the number

of outstanding shares of our common stock on an as-converted basis as of the date of conversion In the event of termination

or non-renewal of our advisory agreement for cause the convertible stock will be redeemed by us for $1.00 Upon the issuance

of our common stock in connection with the conversion of our convertible stock your interests in us will be diluted
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We may grant stock-based awards to our directors advisor employees and consultants pursuant to our long-term incentive

plan which will have dilutive effect on your investment in us

We have adopted long-term incentive plan pursuant to which we are authorized to grant restricted stock stock options

stock appreciation rights restricted or deferred stock units performance awards dividend equivalents or other stock-based

awards to directors advisor employees and consultants selected by our board of directors for participation in the plan We

currently intend only to issue awards of restricted stock to our independent directors underour long-term incentive plan If we
issue additional stock-based awards to eligible participants under our long-term incentive plan the issuance of these stock-

based awards will dilute your investment in our shares of common stock

Certain features of our long-term incentive plan could have dilutive effect on your investment in us including lack of

annual award limits individually or in the
aggregate subject to the limit on the maximum number of shares which may be

issued pursuant to awards granted under the plan the fact that the limit on the maximum number of shares which may be

issued pursuant to awards granted under the plan is not tied to the amount of proceeds raised in the offering and share

counting procedures which provide that shares subject to certain awards including without limitation substitute awards

granted by us to employees of another entity in connection with our merger or consolidation with such company or shares

subject to outstanding awards of another company assumed by us in connection with our merger or consolidation with such

company are not subject to the limit on the maximum number of shares which may be issued pursuant to awards granted under

the plan

The conversion of the convertible stock held by our advisor due upon termination of the advisory agreement and the voting

rights granted to the holder of our convertible stock may discourage takeover attempt or prevent us from effecting

merger that otherwise would have been in the best interests of our stockholders

If we engage in merger in which we are not the surviving entity or our advisory agreement is terminated without cause our

advisor may be entitled to conversion of the shares of our convertible stock it holds and to require that we purchase all or

portion of the limited partnership interests in our operating partnership that it holds at any time thereafter for cash or our

common stock The existence of this convertible stock may deter prospective acquirer from bidding on our company which

may limit the opportunity for stockholders to receive premium for their stock that might otherwise exist if an investor

attempted to acquire us through merger

The affirmative vote of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of convertible stock voting as single class will be required

for any amendment alteration or repeal of any provision of our charter that materially and adversely changes the rights of

the convertible stock and to effect merger of our company into another entity or merger of another entity into our

company unless in each case each share of convertible stock will remain outstanding without material and adverse

change to its terms and rights or will be converted into or exchanged for shares of stock or other ownership interest of the

surviving entity having rights identical to that of our convertible stock In the event that we propose to merge with or into

another entity including another REIT our advisor could by exercising these voting rights determine whether or not we are

able to complete the proposed transaction By voting against proposed merger our advisor could prevent us from effecting the

merger even if the merger otherwise would have been in the best interests of our stockholders
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Our UPREIT structure may result in potential conflicts of interest with limited partners in our operating par/nership whose

interests may not be aligned with those of our stockholders

Limited partners in our operating partnership have the right to vote on certain amendments to the operating partnership

agreement as well as on certain other matters Persons holding such voting nghts may exercise them in manner that conflicts

with the interests of our stockholders As general partner of our operating partnership we are obligated to act in manner that is

in the best interest of all partners of our operating partnership Circumstances may arise in the future when the interests of

limited partners in our operating partnership may conflict with the interests of our stockholders These conflicts may be

resolved in manner stockholders do not believe are in their best interest

Your investment return may be reduced ifwe are required to register as an investment company under the In vestment

Company Act ifwe are subject to registration under the Investment Company Act we will not be able to continue our

business

Neither we our operating partnership or any of our subsidiaries intend to register as an investment company under the

Investment Company Act Our operating partnership and subsidiaries investments in real estate will represent the substantial

majority of our total asset mix In order for us not to be subject to regulation under the Investment Company Act we engage

through our operating partnership and our wholly and majority owned subsidiaries primarily in the business of buying real

estate These investments must be made within year after our public offering ends

We expect that most of our assets will be held through wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries of our operating

partnership We expect that most of these subsidiaries will be outside the definition of an investment company under

Section 3a1 of the Investment Company Act as they are generally expected to hold at least 60% of their assets in real

property Section 3a1A of the Investment Company Act defines an investment company as any issuer that is or holds itself

out as being engaged primarily in the business of investing reinvesting or trading in securities Section 3a of the

Investment Company Act defines an investment company as any issuer that is engaged or proposes to engage in the business of

investing reinvesting owning holding or trading in securities and owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having

value exceeding 40% of the value of the issuer total assets exclusive of U.S government securities and cash items on an

unconsolidated basis which we refer to as the 40% test Excluded from the tern investment securities among other things

are U.S government securities and securities issued by majority-owned subsidiaries that are not themselves investment

companies and are not relying on the exception from the definition of investment company set forth in Section or

Section 3c7 of the Investment Company Act

We believe that we our operating partnership and most of the subsidiaries of our operating partnership will not fall within

either definition of investment company under Section of the Investment Company Act as we intend to invest primarily

in real property through our wholly or majority-owned subsidiaries the majority of which we expect to have at least 60% of

their assets in real property As these subsidiaries would be investing either solely or primarily in real property they would be

outside of the definition of investment company under Section 3a of the Investment Company Act We are organized as

holding company that conducts its businesses primarily through our operating partnership which in turn is holding company

conducting its business through its subsidiaries Both we and our operating partnership intend to conduct our operations so that

they comply with the 40% test We will monitor our holdings to ensure continuing and ongoing compliance with this test In

addition we believe that neither we nor our operating partnership will be considered an investment company under Section 3a
1A of the Investment Company Act because neither we nor our operating partnership will engage primarily or hold itself out

as being engaged primarily in the business of investing reinvesting or trading in securities Rather through our operating

partnership wholly owned or majority owned subsidiaries we and our operating partnership will be primarily engaged in the

non-investment company businesses of these subsidiaries

In the event that the value of investment securities held by subsidiary of our operating partnership were to exceed 40% of

the value of its total assets we expect that subsidiary to be able to rely on the exclusion from the definition of investment

company provided by Section 3c5C of the Investment Company Act Section 3c5C as interpreted by the staff of the

SEC requires each of our subsidiaries relying on this exception to invest at least 55% of its portfolio in mortgage and other

liens on and interests in real estate which we refer to as qualifying real estate assets and maintain at least 80% of its assets

in qualifying real estate assets or other real estate-related assets The remaining 20% of the portfolio can consist of

miscellaneous assets What we buy and sell is therefore limited by these criteria How we determine to classify our assets for

purposes
of the Investment Company Act will be based in large measure upon no-action letters issued by the SEC staff in the
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past and other SEC interpretive guidance and in the absence of SEC guidance on our view of what constitutes qualif5iing real

estate asset and real estate-related asset These no-action positions were issued in accordance with factual situations that may

be substantially different from the factual situations we may face and number of these no-action positions were issued more

than ten years ago Pursuant to this guidance and depending on the characteristics of the specific investments certain mortgage

loans participations in mortgage loans mortgage-backed securities mezzanine loans joint venture investments and the equity

securities of other entities may not constitute qualifljing real estate assets and therefore investments in these types of assets may
be limited No assurance can be given that the SEC staff will concur with our classification of our assets Future revisions to the

Investment Company Act or further guidance from the SEC staff may cause us to lose our exclusion from registration or force

us to re-evaluate our portfolio and our investment strategy Such changes may prevent us from operating our business

successfully

In the event that we or our operating partnership were to acquire assets that could make either entity fall within the

definition of an investment company under Section 3a of the Investment Company Act we believe that we would still

qualify for an exclusion from registration pursuant to Section 3c6 Although the SEC staff has issued little interpretive

guidance with respect to Section 3c6 we believe that we and our operating partnership may rely on Section 3c6 if 55%

of the assets of our operating partnership consist of and at least 55% of the income of our operating partnership is derived

from qualifying real estate assets owned by wholly owned or majority-owned subsidiaries of our operating partnership

To ensure that neither we our operating partnership or any of our subsidiaries are required to register as an investment

company each entity may be unable to sell assets that it would otherwise want to sell and may need to sell assets that it would

otherwise wish to retain In addition we our operating partnership or our subsidiaries may be required to acquire additional

income- or loss-generating assets that we might not otherwise acquire or forego opportunities to acquire interests in companies

that we would otherwise want to acquire Although we our operating partnership and our subsidiaries intend to monitor our

portfolio periodically and prior to each acquisition and disposition any of these entities may not be able to maintain an

exclusion from registration as an investment company If we our operating partnership or our subsidiaries are required to

register as an investment company but fail to do so the unregistered entity would be prohibited from engaging in our business

and criminal and civil actions could be brought against such entity In addition the contracts of such entity would be

unenforceable unless court required enforcement and court could appoint receiver to take control of the entity and

liquidate its business

Risks Related To Conflicts of Interest

We depend on our advisor and its key personnel and any of such key personnel were to cease to be affiliated with our

advisor our business could suffer

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives is dependent upon the performance of our advisor Our success depends to

significant degree upon the continued contributions of certain of the key personnel of our advisor each of whom would be

difficult to replace We currently do not have key man life insurance on any of our advisor personnel If our advisor were to

lose the benefit of the experience efforts and abilities of any these individuals our operating results could suffer

Our advisor and its affiliates including our officers and our affiliated directors will face conflicts of interest caused by

compensation arrangements with us which could result in actions that are not in the best interests of our stockholders

Our advisor and its affiliates receive substantial fees from us in return for their services and these fees could influence the

advice provided to us Among other matters these compensation arrangements could affect their judgment with respect to

public offerings of equity by us which allow the dealer manager to earn additional dealer manager fees and allows our

advisor to earn increased acquisition fees and investment management fees

real property sales since the investment management fees and property management fees payable to our advisor and

its affiliates would decrease upon the disposition of an investment and

the purchase of assets from our sponsor and its affiliates which may allow our advisor or its affiliates to earn

additional acquisition fees investment management fees and property management fees
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Further our advisor may recommend that we invest in particular asset or pay higher purchase price for the asset than it

would otherwise recommend if it did not receive an acquisition fee in connection with such transactions Certain potential

acquisition fees and investment management fees payable to our advisor and property management fees payable to our property

manager will be paid irrespective of the quality of the underlying real estate or property management services These fees may

influence our advisor to recommend transactions with respect to the sale of property or properties that may not be in our best

interest Our advisor will have considerable discretion with respect to the terms and timing of our acquisition disposition and

leasing transactions In evaluating investments and other management strategies the opportunity to eam these fees may lead our

advisor to place undue emphasis on criteria relating to its compensation at the expense of other criteria such as the preservation

of capital to achieve higher short-term compensation This could result in decisions that are not in the best interests of our

stockholders

We may compete with affiliates of our sponsor for opportunities to acquire or sell investments which may have an adverse

impact on our operations

We may compete with affiliates of our sponsor for opportunities to acquire or sell real properties and other real estate-related

assets We may also buy or sell real properties and other real estate-related assets at the same time as affiliates of our sponsor In

this regard there is risk that our sponsor
will select for us investments that provide lower returns to us than investments

purchased by its affiliates Certain of our affiliates own or manage real properties in geographical areas in which we expect to

own real properties As result of our potential competition with affiliates of our sponsor certain investment opportunities that

would otherwise be available to us may not in fact be available This competition may also result in conflicts of interest that are

not resolved in our favor

The time and resources that our sponsor and its affiliates could devote to us may be diverted to other investment activities

and we may face additional competition due to the fact that our sponsor and its affiliates are not prohibited from raising

moneyfor or managing another entity that makes the same types of investments that we do

Our sponsor
and its affiliates are not prohibited from raising money for or managing another investment entity that makes

the same types of investments as we do As result the time and resources they could devote to us may be diverted to other

investment activities Additionally some of our directors and officers may serve as directors and officers of investment entities

sponsored by our sponsor and its affiliates We cannot currently estimate the time our officers and directors will be required to

devote to us because the time commitment required of our officers and directors will vary depending upon variety of factors

including but not limited to general economic and market conditions affecting us the amount of proceeds raised in our public

offering and our advisor ability to locate and acquire investments that meet our investment objectives Since these

professionals engage in and will continue to engage in other business activities on behalf of themselves and others these

professionals will face conflicts of interest in allocating their time among us our advisor and its affiliates and other business

activities in which they are involved This could result in actions that are more favorable to affiliates of our adyisor than to us

In addition we may compete with affiliates of our advisor for the same investors and investment opportunities We may also

co-invest with any such investment entity Even though all such co-investments will be subject to approval by our independent

directors they could be on terms not as favorable to us as those we could achieve co-investing with third party

Our advisor may have conflicting fiduciaiy obligations ifwe acquire assets from affiliates of our sponsor or enter into joint

ventures with affiliates of our sponsor As result in any such transaction we may not have the benefit of arm s-length

negotiations of the type normally conducted between unrelated parties

Our advisor may cause us to invest in property owned by or make an investment in equity securities in or real estate

related loans to our sponsor or its affiliates or through joint venture with affiliates of our sponsor In these circumstances our

advisor will have conflict of interest when fulfilling its fiduciary obligation to us In any such transaction we would not have

the benefit of arms-length negotiations of the type normally conducted between unrelated parties
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The fres we pay to affiliates in connection with our public offrring and in connection with the acquisition and management

of our investments were determined without the benefit of arm s-length negotiations of the type normally conducted between

unrelated parties

The fees to be paid to our advisor our property managers the dealer manager and other affiliates for services they provide

for us were determined without the benefit of arms-length negotiations of the type normally conducted between unrelated

parties may be in excess of amounts that we would otherwise pay to third parties for such services and may reduce the amount

of cash that would otherwise be available for investments in real properties and distributions to our stockholders

Risks Related To Investments in Real Estate

Our operating results will be affrcted by economic and regulatory changes that impact the real estate market in generaL

Our investments in real properties will be subject to risks generally attributable to the ownership of real property including

changes in global national regional or local economic demographic or real estate market conditions

changes in supply of or demand for similarproperties in an area

increased competition for real property investments targeted by our investment
strategy

bankruptcies financial difficulties or lease defaults by our tenants

changes in interest rates and availability of financing

changes in the terms of available financing including more conservative loan-to-value requirements and shorter debt

maturities

changes in government rules regulations and fiscal policies including changes in tax real estate environmental and

zoning laws

the severe curtailment of liquidity for certain real estate-related assets and

rent restrictions due to government program requirements

All of these factors are beyond our control Any negative changes in these factors could affect our ability to meet our

obligations and make distributions to stockholders

We are unable to predict future changes in global national regional or local economic demographic or real estate market

conditions For example recession or rise in interest rates could make it more difficult for us to lease or dispose of real

properties and could make alternative interest-bearing and other investments more attractive and therefore potentially lower the

relative value of the real estate assets we acquire These conditions or others we cannot predict may adversely affect our

results of operations and returns to our stockholders In addition the value of the real properties we acquire may decrease

following the date we acquire such properties due to the risks described above or any other unforeseen changes in market

conditions If the value of our real properties decreases we may be forced to dispose of the properties at price lower than the

price we paid to acquire our properties which could adversely impact results of our operations and our our ability to make

distributions and return capital to our investors

Real property that experiences significant vacancy could be difficult to sell or re-lease

Commercial real property may experience vacancy either by the continued default of tenant under its lease or the

expiration of one of our leases Certain of the real properties we acquire may have some level of vacancy at the time of closing

of our acquisition of the property Certain other real properties may not be specifically suited to the particular needs of tenant

and may become vacant There can be no assurances that we will have the funds available to correct defects or make capital

improvements necessary to attract replacement tenants As result we may have difficulty obtaining new tenant for any

vacant space we have in our real properties If the vacancy continues for long period of time we may suffer reduced revenues

resulting in lower cash distributions to stockholders In addition the resale value of the real property could be diminished

because the market value may depend principally upon the value of the leases of such real property
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We will compete with numerous other persons and entities for real estate assets and tenants

We will compete with numerous other persons and entities in acquiring real property and attracting tenants to real properties

we acquire These persons and entities may have greater experience and financial strength than us There is no assurance that

we will be able to acquire real propertiesôr attract tenants to real properties we acquire on favorable terms if at all For

example our competitors may be willing tooffer space at rental-rates below our rates causing us to lose existing or potential

tenants and pressuring us to reduce our rental rates to retain existing tenants or convince new tenants to lease space at our

properties Each of these factors could adversely affect our results of operations
financial condition value of our investments

and ability to pay distributions to you

Delays in the acquisition and construction of real properties may have adverse effects on our results of operations and

returns to our stockholders

Delays we encounter in the selection and acquisition of real properties could adversely affect your returns In instances in

which properties are acquired prior to the start of construction or during the early stages of construction it will typically take

several months to complete construction and rent available space Therefore you could suffer delays in receiving cash

distributions attributable to those particular real properties Delays in completion of construction could give tenants the right to

terminate preconstruction leases for space at newly developed project We may incur additional risks when we make periodic

progress payments or other advances to builders prior to completion of the construction of real property Each of those factors

could result in increased costs of project or loss of our investment In addition we will be subject to normal lease-up risks

relating to newly constructed projects Furthermore the price we agree to pay for real property will be based on our

projections of rental income and expenses and estimates of the fair market value of the real property upon completion of

construction If our projections are inaccurate we may pay too much for real property

Real properties are ihiquid investments and we may be unable to adjust our portfolio in response to changes in economic or

other conditions or sell property if or when we decide to do so

Real properties are illiquid investments We may be unable to adjust our portfolio in response to changes in economic or

other conditions In addition the real estate market is affected by many factors such as general economic conditions

availability of financing interest rates supply and demand and other factors that are beyond our control We cannot predict

whether we will be able to sell any real property for the price or on the terms set by us or whether any price or other terms

offered by prospective purchaser would be acceptable to us We cannot predict the length of time needed to find willing

purchaser and to close the sale of real property Additionally we may be required to expend funds to correct defects or to

make improvements before real property can be sold We cannot assure you that we will have funds available to correct such

defects or to make such improvements

In acquiring real property we may agree to restrictions that prohibit the sale of that real property for period of time or

impose other restrictions such as limitation on the amount of debt that can be placed or repaid on that real property
All these

provisions would restrict our ability to sell property which could reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our

stockholders

Competition from other apartment communities for residents could reduce our profitability and the-return on your

investment

The apartment sector is highly competitive This competition could reduce occupancy levels and revenues at our apartment

communities which would adversely affect our operations We expect to face competition from many sources We will face

competition from other apartment communities both in the immediate vicinity and in the larger geographic market where our

apartment communities are located These competitors may have greater experience and financial resources than us giving them

an advantage in attracting residents to their properties
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Increased competition and increased affordability of single-family homes could limit our ability to retain residents lease

apartment units or increase or maintain rents

Any apartment communities we may acquire will most likely compete with numerous housing alternatives in attracting

residents including single-family homes as well as owner occupied single- and multifamily homes available to rent

Competitive housing in particular area and the increasing affordability of owner occupied single- and multifamily homes

available to rent or buy caused by declining mortgage interest rates and government programs to promote home ownership

could adversely affect our ability to retain our residents lease apartment units and increase or maintain rental rates

Short-term apartment leases expose us to the effects of declining market rent which could adversely impact our ability to

make cash distributions to our stockholders

Substantially all of our apartment leases are for term of one year or less Because these leases generally permit the

residents to leave at the end of the lease term without penalty our rental revenues may be impacted by declines in market rents

more quickly than if our leases were for longer terms

Increased construction of similar properties that compete with our apartment communities in any particular location could

adversely affect the operating results of our properties and our cash available for distribution to our stockholders

We may acquire apartment communities in locations which experience increases in construction of properties that compete

with our apartment communities This increased competition and construction could

make it more difficult for us to find residents to lease units in our apartment communities

force us to lower our rental prices in order to lease units in our apartment communities and/or

substantially reduce our revenues and cash available for distribution to our stockholders

Our leases with commercial tenants at some of our properties are expected to be short-term leases which may result in

increased operating expenses i1 those tenants vacate their space and we are forced to locate new tenants

portion of our portfolio of real property investments is comprised of properties with commercial tenants The leases for

these commercial tenants may be short-term leases ranging from one to five year terms Short-term leases are generally less

desirable than long-term leases because long-term leases provide more predictable income stream over longer period Long-

term leases also make it easier for us to obtain longer-term fixed-rate mortgage financing with principal amortization thereby

moderating the interest rate risk associated with financing or refinancing our real properties portfolio by reducing the

outstanding principal balance over time Short-term commercial leases at our properties increase the risk of an extended

vacancy due to the difficulty we may experience in finding new tenants upon the expiration of the leases Additionally we may
incur significant costs related to leasing commissions and tenant improvements to attract new tenants Tothe extent that

portion of our real estate portfolio is leased under the terms of short-term leases we will be subject to the risks of less

predictable income stream and greater exposure to the fluctuations in market rental rates We will also be subject to interest rate

risks should the short-term leases result in mismatch with any long-term mortgage financing on the real properties

Tenant concentrations may decrease the value of our investments

To the extent we invest in commercial property investments other than multifamily properties we expect some commercial

property will have few major tenants that lease significant portion of the propertys leasable space If any one of these major

tenants defaults on its lease this will reduce the propertys income and overall value In addition tenant roll concentration

occurs when there are significant leases that terminate in given year Tenant concentration creates uncertainty as to the future

cash flow of property or portfolio and often decreases the value potential purchaser will pay for one or more properties

There is no guarantee that our commercial properties will not have tenant concentration and if such concentration occurs it

could decrease our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders and the value of your investment
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The success of our single-tenant property investments will be subject to the financial health of their tenants and the inability

of tenant to make required lease payments or the early termination of lease could adversely affect our business

To the extent we invest in conimercial property investments other than multifamily properties we expect such properties

will be composed of single-tenant properties Single-tenant properties expose us to increased default risk as default by one of

our significant single tenancies due to bankruptcy operational failure or other reasons could have an adverse effect on our

financial condition and ability to make distributions to our stockholders In addition if the current lease for single-tenant

property is terminated or not renewed we may be required to make rent concessions renovate the property and pay leasing

commissions in order to lease the property to another tenant or sell the property in timely manner

Actions ofjoint venture partners could negatively impact our performance

We may enter into joint ventures with third parties including with entities that are affiliated with our advisor We may also

purchase and develop properties in joint ventures or in partnerships co-tenancies or other co-ownership arrangements with the

sellers of the properties affiliates of the sellers developers or other persons Such investments may involve risks not otherwise

present with direct investment in real estate including for example

the possibility that our venture partner or co-tenant in anirivestment might become bankrupt

that the venture partner or co-tenant may at any time have economic or business interests or goals which are or which

become inconsistent with our business interests or goals

that such venture partner or co-tenant may be in position to take action contrary to our instructions or requests or

contrary to our policies or objectives

the possibility that we may incur liabilities as result of an action taken by such venture partner

that disputes between us and venture partner may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses

and prevent our officers and directors from focusing their time and effort on our business

the possibility that if we have nght of first refusal or buy/sell right to buy out co venturer co owner or partner we

may be unable to finance such buy out if it becomes exercisable or we may be required to purchase such interest at

time when it would not otherwise be in our best interest to do so or

the possibility that we may not be able to sell our interest in the joint venture if we desire to exit the joint venture

Under certain joint venture arrangements neither venture partner may have the power to control the venture and an impasse

may be reached which might have negative influence on the joint venture and decrease potential returns to you In addition

to the extent that our venture partner or co-tenant is an affiliate of our advisor certain conflicts of interest will exist

Our real properties will be subject to property taxes that may increase in the future which could adversely affect our cash

flow

Our real properties are subject to real and personal property taxes that may increase as tax rates change and as the real

properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities We anticipate that certain of our leases such as leases at our

multifamily properties will generally provide that we are responsible for the property taxes or increases therein while other

leases may provide that such taxes are charged to the lessees as an expense related to the real properties that they occupy In any

case as the owner of the properties we are ultimately responsible for payment of the taxes to the applicable government

authorities If real property taxes increase our residents may be unable to make the required tax payments ultimately requiring

us to pay the taxes even if otherwise stated under the terms of the lease If we fail to pay any such taxes the applicable taxing

authority may place lien on the real property and the real property may be subject to tax sale In addition we will generally

be responsible for real property taxes related to any vacant space
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Uninsured losses or premiums for insurance coverage relating to real property may adversely afftct your returns

We will attempt to adequately insure all of our real properties against casualty losses The nature of the activities at certain

properties we may acquire such as age-restricted communities may expose us and our operators to potential liability for

personal injuries and property damage claims In addition there are types of losses generally catastrophic in nature such as

losses due to wars acts of terrorism earthquakes floods hurricanes pollution or environmental matters that are uninsurable or

not economically insurable or may be insured subject to limitations such as large deductibles or co-payments Risks associated

with potential acts of terrorism could sharply increase the premiums we pay for
coverage against property and casualty claims

Mortgage lenders sometimes require commercial property owners to purchase specific coverage against acts of terrorism as

condition for providing mortgage loans These policies may not be available at reasonable cost if at all which could inhibit

our ability to finance or refinance our real properties Iii such instances we may be required to provide other financial support

either through financial assurances or self-insurance to cover potential losses Changes in the cost or availability of insurance

could expose us to uninsured casualty losses In the event that any of our real properties incurs casualty loss that is not fully

coveredby insurance the value of our assets will be reduced by any such uninsured loss In addition we cannot assure you that

funding will be available to us for repair or reconstruction of damaged real property in the future

Costs of complying with governmental laws and regulations related to environmental protection and human health and

safety may be high

All real property investments and the operations conductedin connection with such investments are subject to federal state

and local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and human health and safety Some of these laws and

regulations may impose joint and several liability on customers owners or operators for the costs to investigate or remediate

contaminated properties regardless of fault or whether the acts causing the contamination were legal

Under various federal state and local environmental laws current or previous owner or operator of real property may be

liable for the cost of removing or remediating hazardous or toxic substances on such real property These environmental laws

often impose liability whether or not the owner or operator knew of or was responsible for the presence of such hazardous or

toxic substances In addition the
presence of hazardous substances or the failure to properly remediate these substances may

adversely affect our ability to sell rent or pledge such real property as collateral for future borrowings Environmental laws also

may impose restrictions on the manner in which real property may be used or businesses may be operated Some of these laws

and regulations have been amended so as to require compliance with new or more stringent standards as of future dates

Compliance with new or more stringent laws or regulations or stricter interpretationof existing laws may require us to incur

material expenditures Future laws ordinances or regulations may impose material environmental liability Additionally our

tenants operations the existing condition of land when we buy it operations in the vicinity of our real properties such as the

presence of underground storage tanks or activities of unrelated third parties may affect our real properties There are also

various local state and federal fire health life-safety and similar regulations with which we may be required to comply and

which may subject us to liability in the form of fines or damages for noncompliance In connection with the acquisition and

ownership of our real properties we may be exposed to these costs in connection with such regulations The cost of defending

against environmental claims any damages or fines we must pay compliance with environmental regulatory requirements or

remediating any contaminated real property could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations lower

the value of our assets and consequently lower the amounts available for distribution to our stockholders

The costs associated with complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act may reduce the amount of cash available for

distribution to our stockholders

Investment in real properties may also be subject to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 as amended or the ADA
Under the ADA all places of public accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access and use

by disabled persons We are committed to complying with the ADA to the extent to which it applies The ADA has separate

compliance requirements for public accommodations and commercial facilities that generally require that buildings and

services be made accessible and available to people with disabilities With respect to the properties we acquire the ADAs

requirements could require us to remove access barriers and could result in the imposition of injunctive relief monetary

penalties or in some cases an award of damages We will attempt to acquire properties that comply with the ADA or place the

burden on the seller or other third party such as tenant to ensure compliance with the ADA We cannot assure you that we

will be able to acquire properties or allocate responsibilities in this manner Any monies we use to comply with the ADA will

reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders
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To the extent we invest in age-restricted communities we may incur liability by failing to comply with the Housing for Older

Persons Act or HOPA the FairHousingAct orFHA or certain state regulations which may affect cash available for

distribution to our stockholders

To the extent we invest in age-restricted communities any such properties must comply with the FHA and the HOPA The

FHA generally prohibits age-based housing discrimination however certain exceptions exist for housing developments that

qualifr as housing for older persons HOPA provides the legal requirements for such housing developments In order for

housing to qualifi as housing for older persons HOPA requires all residents of such developments to be at least 62 years of

age or that at least 80% of the occupied units are occupied by at least one person who is at least 55 years of age and that the

housing community publish and adhere to policies and procedures that demonstrate this required intent and comply with rules

issued by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development or HUD for verification of occupancy In

addition certain states require that age-restricted communities register with the state Noncompliance with the FHA HOPA or

state registration requirements could result in the imposition of fines awards of damages to private litigants payment of

attorneys fees and other costs to plaintiffs substantial litigation costs and substantial costs of remediation all of which would

reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders

Government housing regulations may limit the opportunities at some of the government-assisted housing properties we

invest in and failure to comply with resident qualification requirements may result in financial penalties and/or loss of

benefits such as rental revenues paid by government agencies

To the extent that we invest in government-assisted housing we may acquire properties that benefit from governmental

programs intended to provide affordable housing to individuals with low or moderate incomes These programs which are

typically administered by HUD or state housing finance agencies typically provide mortgage insurance favorable financing

terms tax credits or rental assistance payments to property owners As condition of the receipt of assistance under these

programs the properties must comply with various requirements which typically limit rents to pre-approved amounts and

impose restrictions on resident incomes Failure to comply with these requirements and restrictions may result in financial

penalties or loss of benefits In addition we will typically need to obtain the approval of HUD in order to acquire or dispose of

significant interest in or manage HUD-assisted property

Risks Associated with Real Estate-Related Assets

Disruptions in the financial markets and deteriorating economic conditions could adversely impact the commercial

mortgage market as well as the market for real estate-related assets and debt-related investments generally which could

hinder our ability to implement our business strategy and generate returns to our stockholders

We intend to allocate portion of our portfolio to real estate-related assets The returns available to investors in these

investments are determined by the supply and demand for such investments and the existence of market for such

investments which includes the ability to sell or finance such investments

During periods of volatility the number of investors participating in the market may change at an accelerated pace As

liquidity or demand increases the returns available to investors will decrease Conversely lack of liquidity will cause the

returns available to investors to increase Recently concerns pertaining to the deterioration of credit in the residential mortgage

market have adversely impacted almost all areas of the debt capital markets including corporate bonds asset-backed securities

and commercial real estate bonds and loans Only recently have these markets begun to stabilize Future instability in the

financial markets or weakened economic conditions may interfere with the successful implementation of our business strategy

If we make or iAvest in mortgage loans our mortgage loans may be afftcted by unfavorable real estate market conditions

and other factors that impact the commercial real estate underlying the mortgage loans which could decrease the value of

those loans and the return on your investment

If we make or invest in mortgage loans we will be at risk of defaults by the borrowers on those mortgage loans These

defaults may be caused by many conditions beyond our control including interest rate levels economic conditions affecting

real estate values and other factors that impact the value of the underlying real estate including those associated with the

financial condition of the tenants leasing the underlying real properties and expenditures associated with the early termination

or nonrenewal of lease such as tenant improvement costs and leasing commissions The borrower may also be subject to
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tenant roll concentration in which there are significant leases that terminate in given year
and increase the uncertainty of the

future cash flow of the property to the borrower and ultimately to us as the holder of the mortgage in the event the borrower

defaults See above Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate We will not know whether the values of the properties

securing our mortgage loans will remain at the levels existing on the dates of origination of those mortgage loans If the values

of the underlying properties decrease our risk will increase because of the lower value of the security associated with such

loans

Real estate loans in which we intend to invest are secured by multifamily or commercial properties and are subject to risks

of delinquency and foreclosure The ability of borrower to repay loan secured by an income-producing property typically is

dependent primarily upon the successful operation of such property rather than upon the existence of independent income or

assets of the borrower If the net operating income of the property is reduced the borrowers ability to repay the loan may be

impaired Net operating income of an income-producing property can be affected by among other things tenant mix success of

tenant businesses property management decisions property location and condition competition from comparable types of

properties changes in laws that increase operating expenses or limit rents that may be charged any need to address

environmental contamination at the property the occurrence of any uninsured casualty at the property changes in national

regional or local economic conditions and/or specific industry segments declines in regional or local real estate values declines

in regional or local rental or occupancy rates increases in interest rates real estate tax rates and other operating expenses

changes in governmental rules regulations and fiscal policies including environmental legislation natural disasters terrorism

social unrest and civil disturbances Any of these events could have an adverse effect on the operations of the underlying

property and ability of borrower to repay the loan

If we make or invest in mortgage loans our mortgage loans will be subject to interest rate fluctuations that could reduce our

returns as compared to market interest rates and reduce the value of the mortgage loans in the event we sell them

If we invest in fixed-rate long-term mortgage loans and interest rates rise the mortgage loans could yield return that is

lower than then-current market rates and the value of the loan may decline If interest rates decrease we will be adversely

affected to the extent that mortgage loans are prepaid because we may not be able to make new loans at the higher interest rate

If we invest in variable-rate loans and interest rates decrease our revenues and the value of the loan will also decrease For

these reasons if we invest in mortgage loans our returns on those loans and the value of your investment will be subject to

fluctuations in interest rates

Many of our investments in real estate-related assets may be illiquid and we may not be able to vary our portfolio in

response to changes in economic and other conditions

Certain of the real estate-related assets that we may purchase in connection with privately negotiated transactions will not be

registered under the relevant securities laws resulting in prohibition against their transfer sale pledge or other disposition

except in transaction that is exempt from the registration requirements of or is otherwise in accordance with those laws The

mezzanine and bridge loans we may purchase will be particularly illiquid investments due to their short life their unsuitability

for securitization and the greater difficulty of recoupment in the event of borrowers default As result our ability to vary

our portfolio in response to changes in economic and other conditions may be relatively limited

The mezzanine loans in which we may invest would involve greater risks of loss than senior loans secured by income-

producing real properties

We may invest in mezzanine loans that take the form of subordinated loans secured by second mortgages on the underlying

real property or loans secured by pledge of the ownership interests of the entity owning the real property the entity that owns

the interest in the entity owning the real property or other assets These types of investments involve higher degree of risk

than long-term senior mortgage lending secured by income-producing real property because the investment may become

unsecured as result of foreclosure by the senior lender In the event of bankruptcy of the entity providing the pledge of its

ownership interests as security we may not have full recourse to the assets of such entity or the assets of the entity may not be

sufficient to satisfy our mezzanine loan If borrower defaults on our mezzanine loan or debt senior to our mezzanine loan or

in the event of borrower bankruptcy our mezzanine loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt As result we may not

recover some or all of our investment In addition mezzanine loans will have higher loan-to-value ratios than conventional

mortgage loans resulting in less equity in the real property and increasing the risk of loss of principal and interest
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Bridge loans may involve greater risk of loss than conventional mortgage loans

We may provide bridge loans secured by first-lien mortgages on properties to borrowers who are typically seeking short-

term capital to be used in an acquisition development or refinancing of real estate The borrower may have identified an

undervalued asset that has been undermanaged or is located in recovering market If the market in which the asset is located

fails to recover according to the borrowers projections or if the borrower fails to improve the quality of the assets

management or the value of the asset the borrower may not receive sufficient return on the asset to satisfy the bridge loan

and we may not recover some or all of our investment In addition owners usually borrow funds under conventional mortgage

loan to repay bridge loan We may therefore be dependent on borrowers ability to obtain permanent financing to repay our

bridge loan which could depend on market conditions and other factors Bridge loans are also subject to risks of borrower

defaults bankruptcies fraud losses and special hazard losses that are not covered by standard hazard insurance In the event of

any default under bridge loans held by us we bear the risk of loss of principal and nonpayment of interest and fees to the extent

of any deficiency between the value of the mortgage collateral and the principal amount of the bridge loan To the extent we

suffer such losses with respect to our investments in bridge loans the value of our company and of our common stock may be

adversely affected

Our real estate-related assets may be sensitive to fluctuations in interest rates and our hedging strategies may not be

effective

We may use vanous investment strategies to hedge interest rate nsks with respect to our portfolio of real estate-related

assets The use of interest rate hedging transactions involves certain risks These risks include the possibility that the market

will move in manner or direction that would have resulted in gain for us had an interest rate hedging transaction not been

utilized in which case our performance would have been better had we not engaged in the interest rate hedging transaction

the nsk of imperfect correlation between the nsk sought to be hedged and the interest rate hedging transaction used

potential illiquidity for the hedging instrument used which may make it difficult for us to close out or unwind an interest

rate hedging transaction and the possibility that the counterparty fails to honor its obligation In addition because we have

elected to be taxed as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code beginning with the taxable year ending December 31 2010 for

federal income tax purposes we will have limitations on our income sources and the hedging strategies available to us will be

more limited than those available to companies that are not REITs To the extent that we do not hedge our interest rate

exposure our profitability may be negatively impacted by changes in long-term interest rates

Declines in the market values of the real estate-related assets in which we invest may adversely affect our periodic reported

results of operations
and credit availability which may reduce earnings and in turn cash available for distribution to our

stockholders

portion of the real estate-related assets in which we invest may be classified for accounting purposes as available-for

sale These investments are carried at estimated fair value and temporary changes in the market values of those assets will be

directly charged or credited to stockholders equity without impacting net income on our income statement Market values of

our investments may decline for number of reasons such as market illiquidity changes in prevailing marketrates increases in

defaults increases in voluntary prepayments for those of our investments that are subject to prepayment risk widening of credit

spreads and downgrades of ratings of the securities by ratings agencies If we determine that decline in the estimated fair

value of an available-for-sale security below its amortized value is other-than-temporary we will recognize loss on that

security in our income statement which will reduce our earnings in the period recognized

decline in the market value of our real estate-related assets may adversely affect us particularly in instances where we

have borrowed money based on the market value of those assets If the market value of those assets declines the lender may

require us to post additional collateral to support the loan If we were unable to post the additional collateral we may have to

sell assets at time when we might not otherwise choose to do so reduction in credit available may reduce our earnings and

in turn cash available for distribution to stockholders Further credit facility providers may require us to maintain certain

amount of cash reserves or to set aside unlevered assets sufficient to maintain specified liquidity position As result we may

not be able to leverage our assets as fully as we would choose which could reduce our return on equity In the event that we are

unable to meet these contractual obligations our financial condition could detenorate rapidly

27



Some of the real estate-related assets in which we invest will be carried at estimated fair value as determined by us and as

result there may be uncertainty as to the value of these investments

Some of the real-estate-related assets in which we invest may be in the form of securities that are recorded at fair value but

that have limited liquidity or are not publicly traded The fair value of securities and other investments that have limited

liquidity or are not publicly traded may not be readily determinable We estimate the fair value of these investments on

quarterly basis Because such valuations are inherently uncertain may fluctuate over short periods of time and may be based on

numerous estimates our determinations of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if ready

market for these securities existed The value of our common stock could be adversely affected if our determinations regarding

the fair value of these investments are materially higher than the values that we ultimately realize upon their disposal

Risks Associated With Debt Financing

We will incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings that may increase our business risks and could hinder our ability

to make distributions and decrease the value of your investment

We intend to continue to finance portion of the purchase price ofreal properties by borrowing funds Under our charter we

are prohibited from borrowing in excess of 300% of the value of our net assets Net assets for purposes of this calculation is

defined to be our total assets other than intangibles valued at cost prior to deducting depreciation and amortization

allowances for bad debt or other allowances less total liabilities Generally speaking the preceding calculation is expected to

approximate 75% of the aggregate cost of our investments before depreciation and amortization We may borrow in excess of

these amounts if such excess is approved by majority of the independent directors and is disclosed to stockholders in our next

quarterly report along with the justification for such excess In addition we may incur mortgage debt and pledge some or all of

our investments as security for that debt to obtain funds to acquire additional investments or for working capital We may also

borrow funds as necessary or advisable to ensure we maintain our REIT tax qualification including the requirement that we

distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income to our stockholders computed without regard to the distribution paid

deduction and excluding net capital gains Furthermore we may borrow in excess of the borrowing limitations in our charter if

we otherwise deem it necessary or advisable to ensure that we maintain our qualification as REIT for federal income tax

purposes

High debt levels will cause us to incur higher interest charges which would result in higher debt service payments and could

be accompanied by restrictive covenants If there is shortfall between the cash flow from property and the cash flow needed

to service mortgage debt on that property then the amount available for distributions to stockholders may be reduced In

addition incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness secured by property may result in

lenders initiating foreclosure actions In that case we could lose the property securing the loan that is in default thus reducing

the value of your investment For tax purposes foreclosure on any of our properties will be treated as sale of the property

for purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage If the outstanding balance of the debt

secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property we will recognize taxable income on foreclosure but we would

not receive any cash proceeds If any mortgage contains cross collateralization or cross default provisions default on single

property could affect multiple properties If any of our properties are foreclosed upon due to default our ability to pay cash

distributions to our stockholders will be adversely affected

Instability in the debt markets and our inability tofindfinancing on attractive terms may make it more dj/ficult for us to

finance or refinance properties which could reduce the number ofproperties we can acquire and the amount of cash

distributions we can make to our stockholders

If mortgage debt is unavailable on reasonable terms as result of increased interest rates underwriting standards capital

market instability or other factors we may not be able to finance the initial purchase of properties To the extent that we place

mortgage debt on properties we run the risk of being unable to refinance such debt when the loans come due or of being

unable to refinance on favorable terms If interest rates are higher when we refinance debt our income could be reduced We

may be unable to refinance debt at appropriate times which may require us to sell properties on terms that are not advantageous

to us or could result in the foreclosure of such properties If any of these events occur our cash flow would be reduced This in

turn would reduce cash available for distribution to our stockholders and may hinder our ability to raise more capital by issuing

securities or by borrowing more money
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Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and negatively impact our operating results

Interest we pay on our debt obligations will reduce our cash available for distributions If we incur variable rate debt

increases in interest rates would increase our interest costs which would reduceour cash flows and our ability to make

distributions to our stockholders If we need to repay existing debt during periods of rising interest rates we could be required

to liquidate one or more of our investments at times which may not pennit realization of the maximum return on such

investments

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations which could limit our ability to make

distributions to our stockholders

When providing financing lender may impose restrictions on us that affect our distribution and operating policies and our

ability to incur additional debt Loan documents we enter into may contain covenants that limit our ability to further mortgage

property discontinue insurance coverage or replace our advisor In addition loan documents may limit our ability to replace

propertys property manager or terminate certain operating or lease agreements related to property These or other limitations

may adversely affect our flexibility and our ability to achieve our investment objectives

The derivative financial instruments that we may use to hedge against interest rate fluctuations may not be successful in

mitigating our risks associate4 with interest rates and could reduce the overall returns on your investmenL

We may use derivative financial instruments such as interest rate cap or collar agreements and interest rate swap

agreements to hedge exposures to changes in interest rates on loans secured by our assets but no hedging strategy can protect

us completely These agreements involve risks such as the risk that counterparties may fail to honor their obligations under

these arrangements and that these arrangements may not be effective in reducing our exposure to interest rate changes We

cannot assure you that our hedging strategy and the derivatives that we use will adequately offset the risk of interest rate

volatility or that our hedging transactions will not result in losses In addition the use of such instruments may reduce the

overall return on our investments These instruments may also generate income that may not be treated as qualifying REIT

income for purposes of the 75% or 95% REIT gross income tests

Federal Income Tax Risks

Failure to qualify as REIT would reduce our net earnings available for investment or distribution

If we fail to qualify as REIT for any taxable year after electing REIT status we will be subject to federal income tax on

our taxable income at corporate rates In addition we would generally be disqualified from treatment as REIT for the four

taxable years following the year of losing our REIT status Losing our REIT status would reduce our net earnings available for

investment or distribution to stockholders because of the additional tax liability In addition distributions to stockholders would

no longer qualify for the dividends paid deduction and we would no longer be required to make distributions If this occurs we

might be required to borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable tax

You may have current tax liability on distributions you elect to reinvest in our common stock

If you participate in our distribution reinvestment plan you will be deemed to have received and for income tax purposes

will be taxed on the amount reinvested in shares of our common stock to the extent the amount reinvested was not tax-free

return of capital In addition you will be treatedfor tax purposes as having received an additional distribution to the extent the

shares are purchased at discount to fair market value As result unless you are tax-exempt entity you may have to use

funds from other sources to pay your tax liability on the value of the shares of common stock received

29



Even ifwe qualify as REITforfederal income tax purposes we may be subject to other tax liabilities that reduce our cash

flow and our ability to make distributions to you

Even if we qualify as REIT for federal income tax purposes we may be subject to some federal state and local taxes on

our income or property For example

In order to qualify as REIT we must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income which is

determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain for this purpose to our stockholders To

the extent that we satisfy the distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income we

will be subject to federal corporate income tax on the undistributed income

We will be subject to 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount if any by which distributions we pay in any

calendar year are less than the sum of 85% of our ordinary income 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of

our undistributed income from prior years

If we have net income from the sale of foreclosure property
that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary

course of business or other non-qualifying income from foreclosure property we must pay tax on that income at the

highest corporate income tax rate

If we sell an asset other than foreclosure property that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course

of business our gain would be subject to the 100% prohibited transaction tax unless such sale were made by one of

our taxable REIT subsidiaries

REIT distribution requirements could adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan

We generally must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income which is determined without regard to the

dividends paid deduction or net capital gain for this purpose in order to qualify as aREIT To the extent that we satisfy this

distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income including net capital gain we will be

subject to federal corporate income tax on our undistributed REIT taxable income In addition we will be subject to 4%

nondeductible excise tax if the actual amount that we pay out to our stockholders in calendar year is less than minimum

amount specified under federal tax laws We intend to make distributions to our stockholders to comply with the REIT

requirements of the Internal Revenue Code

From time to time we may generate taxable income greater than our taxable income for financial reporting purposes or our

taxable income may be greater than our cash flow available for distribution to stockholders If we do not have other funds

available in these situations we could be required to borrow funds sell investments at disadvantageous prices or find another

alternative source of funds to make distributions sufficient to enable us to pay out enough of our taxable income to satisfy the

REIT distribution requirement and to avoid corporate income tax and the 4% excise tax in particular year There is no

assurance that outside financing will be available to us Even if available the useof outside financing or other alternative

sources of funds to pay distributions could increase our costs or dilute our stockholders equity interests Thus compliance with

the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits

To maintain our REIT status we may be forced to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities which may delay or hinder our

ability to meet our investment objectives and reduce your overall return

To maintain our REIT status we must satisfy certain tests on an ongoing basis concerning among other things the sources

of our income nature of our assets and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders We may be required to make distributions

to stockholders at times when it would be more advantageous to reinvest cash in our business or when we do not have funds

readily available for distribution Compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis

of maximizing profits and the value of your investment
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Our gains from sales of our assets are potentially subject to the prohibited transaction tax which could reduce the return on

your investment

Our ability to dispose of property during the first few years following acquisition is restricted to substantial extent as

result of our REIT status We will be subject to 100% tax on any gain realized on the sale or other disposition of any property

other than foreclosure property we own directly or through any subsidiary entity including our operating partnership but

excluding our taxable REIT subsidiaries that is deemed to be inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers in the

ordinary course of trade or business Whether property is inventory or otherwise held primarily for sale to customers in the

ordinary course of trade or business depends on the particular facts and circumstances surrounding each property We intend

to avoid the 100% prohibited transaction tax by conducting activities that may otherwise be considered prohibited

transactions through taxable REIT subsidiary conducting our operations in such manner so that no sale or other

disposition of an asset we own directly or through any subsidiary other than taxable REIT subsidiary will be treated as

prohibited transaction or structuring certain dispositions of our properties to comply with certain safe harbors available

under the Internal Revenue Code for properties held at least two years However no assurance can be given that any particular

property we own directly or through any subsidiary entity including our operating partnership but excluding our taxable REIT

subsidiaries will not be treated as inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of trade or

business

Complying with REIT requirements may force us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments

To maintain our REIT status we must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter at least 75% of the value of our assets

consists of cash cash items government securities and qualifying real estate assets including certain mortgage loans and

mortgage-backed securities The remainder of our investment in securities other than government securities and qualified real

estate assets generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10%

of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer In addition in general no more than 5% of the value of our

assets other than government securities and qualified real estate assets can consist of the securities of any one issuer and no

more than 25% of the value of our total assets can be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries

If we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter we must correct the failure within 30 days

after the end of the calendar quarter or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualification and

suffering adverse tax consequences As result we may be required to liquidate from our portfolio otherwise attractive

investments These actions could have the effect of reducing our income and amounts available for distribution to our

stockholders

Liquidation of assets may jeopardize our REIT status

To maintain our REIT status we must comply with requirements regarding our assets and our sources of income If we are

compelled to liquidate our investments to repay obligations to our lenders we may be unable to comply with these

requirements ultimately jeopardizing our qualification as REIT or we may be subject to 100% tax on any resultant gain if

we sell assets that are treated as dealer property or inventory

The failure of mezzanine loan to qualify as real estate asset could adversely affect our ability to qualify as REIT

We may acquire mezzanine loans The Internal Revenue Service has provided safe harbor in Revenue Procedure 2003-65

for structuring mezzanine loans so that they will be treated by the Internal Revenue Service as real estate asset for purposes of

the REIT asset tests and interest derived from mezzanine loans will be treated as qualifying mortgage interest for purposes of

the 75% gross income test as discussed below Although the Revenue Procedure provides safe harbor on which taxpayers

may rely it does not prescribe rules of substantive tax law We may acquire mezzanine loans that do not meet all of the

requirements of the safe harbor In the event we own mezzanine loan that does not meet the safe harbor the Internal Revenue

Service could challenge such loans treatment as real estate asset for purposes of the REIT asset and income tests and if such

challenge were sustained we could fail to continue to qualify as REIT
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Legislative or regulatory action could adversely affect investors

In recent years numerous legislative judicial and administrative changes have been made to the federal income tax laws

applicable to investments in REITs and similarentities Additional changes to tax laws are likely to continue to occur in the

future and we cannot assure you that any such changes will not adversely affect the taxation of stockholder Any such changes

could have an adverse effect on an investment in shares of our common stock We urge you to consult with your own tax

advisor with respect to the status of legislative regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and their potential

effect on an investment in shares of our common stock

Non-U.S investors may be subject to FIRPTA on the sale of shares of our common stock ifwe are unable to qualify as

domestically controlled qualified investment entity

non-U.S
person disposing of U.S real property interest including shares of U.S corporation whose assets consist

principally of U.S real property interests is generally subject to tax known as FIRPTA on the gain recognized on the

disposition of such interest FIRPTA does not apply however to the disposition of stock in REIT if the REIT is

domestically controlled qualified investment entity REIT is domestically controlled qualified investment entity if at all

times during specified testing period the continuous five
year period ending on the date of disposition or if shorter the entire

period of the REITs existence less than 50% in value of its shares is held directly or indirectly by non-U.S holders We

cannot assure you that we will qualify as domestically controlled qualified investment entity If we were to fail to so qualify

gain realized by non-U.S investor on sale of our common stock would be subject to FIRPTA unless our common stock was

traded on an established securities market and the non-U.S investor did not at any time during specified testing period

directly or indirectly own more than 5% of the value of our outstanding common stock

Retirement Plan Risks

Ifyou fail to meet the fiduciary and other standards under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code as result of an investment

in our stock you could be subject to criminal and civil penalties

There are special considerations that apply to employee benefit plans subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security

Act of 1974 or ERISA such as pension profit-sharing or 401k plans and other retirement plans or accounts subject to

Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code such as an IRA or Keogh plan whose assets are being invested in our common

stock If you are investing the assets of such plan including assets of an insurance company general account or entity whose

assets are considered plan assets under ERISA or account in our common stock you should satisfy yourself that

your investment is consistent with your fiduciary obligations under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code

your investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing your plan or IRA including

your plan or accounts investment policy

your investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Section 404alB and 404alC of

ERISA and other applicable provisions of ERISA and/or the Internal Revenue Code

your investment will not impair the liquidity of the plan or IRA

your investment will not produce unrelated business taxable income referred to as UBTI for the plan or IRA

you will be able to value the assets of the plan annually in accordance with ERISA requirements and applicable

provisions of the plan or IRA and

your investment will not constitute prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the

Internal Revenue Code

Failure to satisfy the fiduciary standards of conduct and other applicable requirements of ERISA and the Internal Revenue

Code may result in the imposition of civil and criminal penalties and could subject the fiduciary to equitable remedies In

addition if an investment in our common stock constitutes prohibited transaction under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code

the fiduciary that authorized or directed the investment may be subject to the imposition of excise taxes with respect to the

amount invested
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ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We have no unresolved staff comments

ITEM PROPERTIES

As of December 31 2012 we owned 30 multifamily properties consisting of an aggregate
of 6690 multifamily homes and

8995 square feet of rentable office space The total cost of our real estate portfolio was $570808500 exclusive of closing

costs For additional information on our real estate portfolio see Part Item BusinessOur Real Estate Portfolio of this

Annual Report on Form 10-K

Our principal executive offices are located at 18100 Von Karman Avenue Suite 500 Irvine CA 92612 Our telephone

number general facsimile number and website address are 949 852 0700 949 852 0143 and http //wwwsteadfastreits corn

respectively

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time we are party to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business Management is not

aware of any legal proceedings of which the outcome is reasonably likely to have material adverse effect on our results of

operations or financial condition nor are we aware of any such legal proceedings contemplated by government agencies

ITEM MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable

PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

AND PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Stockholder Information

As of March 22 2013 we had approximately 27.3 million shares of common stock outstanding held by total of

approximately 7514 stockholders The number of stockholders is based on the records of DST Systems Inc who serves as our

transfer agent

Market Information

No public market currently exists for our shares of common stock and we currently have no plans to list our shares on

national securities exchange Until our shares are listed if ever our stockholders may not sell their shares unless the buyer

meets the applicable suitability and minimum purchase requirements In addition our charter prohibits the ownership of more

than 9.8% in value of our outstanding capital stock which includes common stock and preferred stock we may issue and more

than 9.8% in value or number of shares whichever is more restrictive of our outstanding common stock unless exempted by

our board of directors Consequently there is the risk that our stockholders may not be able to sell their shares at time or price

acceptable to them

To assist the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority Inc or FINRA members and their associated persons that participate

in our ongoing initial public offering of common stock pursuant to FIINRA Conduct Rule 5110 we disclose in each annual

report distributed to stockholders per
share estimated value of our common stock the method by which it was developed and
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the date of the data used to develop the estimated value In addition our advisor will prepare annual statements of estimated

share values to assist fiduciaries of retirement plans subject to the annual reporting requirements of ERISA in the preparation of

their reports relating to an investment in our shares For these purposes our advisor estimated the value of our common stock

at $10.24 per share as of December 31 2012 The basis for this valuation is the fact that the current public offering price for our

shares of common stock in our public offering is $10.24 per share effective September 10 2012 Our advisor has indicated that

it intends to use the most recent price paid to acquire share of our common stock in our ongoing public offering or follow-on

public offerings as its estimated per share value of our shares until we have completed our offering stage

Although this estimated value represents the most recent price at which most investors are willing to purchase shares in our

primary offering this reported value is likely to differ from the price at which stockholder could resell his or her shares

because there is no public trading market for the shares at this time the estimated value does not reflect and is not

derived from the fair market value of our properties and other assets as of December 31 2012 nor does it represent the amount

of net proceeds that would result from an immediate liquidation of those assets the estimated value does not take into

account how market fluctuations affect the value of our investments the estimated value does not take into account fees and

expenses we pay with respect to our operations and the estimated value does not take into account how developments

related to individual assets may have increased or decreased the value of our portfolio

Distribution Information

To qualify and maintain our qualification as REIT we must meet certain organizational and operational requirements

including requirement to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income computed without regard to the dividends-paid

deduction or net capital gain and which does not necessarily equal net income as calculated in accordance with U.S generally

accepted accounting principles or GAAP Our board of directors may authorize distributions in excess of those required for us

to maintain REIT status depending on our financial condition and such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant

We declared distributions based on daily record dates for each day during the period commencing August 12 2010 the day

following our first property acquisition through December 31 2012 Distributions declared for all record dates of given

month are paid approximately three days after month-end Distributions are currently calculated at rate of $0.00 1964 per

share
per day which if paid each day over 365-day period is equivalent to 7.0% annualized distribution rate based on

purchase price of $10.24 per share of common stock Prior to September 10 2012 distributions were calculated at rate of

$0.00 1917 per share of common stock which was equivalent to 7.0% annualized distribution rate based on purchase price

of $10.00 per share of common stock There is no guarantee that we will pay distributions at this rate in the future or at all

Distributions declared during the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 and the period from August 12 2010 through

December 31 2010 aggregated by quarter are as follows

2012

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter Total

Total Distributions Declared 1004618 1498103 2422753 3710684 8636158

Total Per Share Distribution 0.174 0.174 0.177 0.181 0.706

Annualized Rate Based on Purchase Price 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0%

20

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter Total

Total Disibutions Declared 230428 314620 442789 653008 1.640845

Total Per Share Distribution 0.174 0.174 0.1 76 0.176 0.700

Annua1zed Rate Based on Purchase Price 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0% 7.0%
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2010

For the period from

August 12 2010 through

September 30 2010 4th Quarter Total

Total distributions declared 63588 166814 230402

Annualized rate based on Purchase Price 7.0% 7.0% 7.0%

The tax composition of our distributions declared for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 was as follows

Retum of capital 100%WtfrAi
For additional information on our distributions see Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and

Results of OperationsDistributions

In order to provide additional funds for us to pay distributions under certain circumstances our obligation to pay all fees due

to our advisor pursuant to the advisory agreement will be deferred up to an aggregate amount of $5000000 during our offering

stage If during any calendar quarter during our offering stage the distributions we pay exceed our funds from operations as

defined by NAREIT plus any acquisition expenses and acquisition fees expensed by us that are related to any property

loan or other investment acquired or expected to be acquired by us and any non-operating non-cash charges incurred by us
such as impairments of property or loans any other than temporary impairments of marketable securities or other similar

charges for the quarter which is defined in the advisory agreement as adjusted funds from operations the payment of fees

we are obligated to pay our advisor will be deferred in an amount equal to the amount by which the distributions paid to our

stockholders for the quarter exceed our adjusted funds from operations up to cash distributions equal to 7.0% cumulative non-

compounded annual return on stockholders invested capital prorated for such quarter For purposes of this calculation if our

adjusted funds from operations is negative adjusted funds from operations shall be deemed to be zero As of December 31

2012 we had deferred $2399153 in fees payable to our advisor pursuant to the terms of our advisory agreement Adjusted

funds from operations is equivalent to modified funds from operations described herein For discussion of how we calculate

funds from operations and modified funds from operations see Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of OperationsFunds From Operations and Modified Funds from Operations

We are only obligated to reimburse our advisor for these deferred fees if and to the extent that our cumulative adjusted funds

from operations for the period beginning on the date of the commencement of our private offering through the date of any such

reimbursement exceed the lesser of the cumulative amount of any distributions paid to our stockholders as of the date of

such reimbursement or cash distributions equal to 7.0% cumulative non-compounded annual return on invested capital

for our stockholders for the period from the commencement of this offering through the date of such reimbursement Our

obligation to pay the deferred fees will survive the termination of the advisory agreement and will continue to be subject to the

repayment conditions above No interest will accrue on the fees deferred by our advisor

Use of Proceeds from Sales of Registered Securities and Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

We were initially capitalized with $202007 of which $200007 was contributed by our sponsor on June 12 2009 in

exchange for 22223 shares of our common stock On July 10 2009 our advisor purchased 1000 shares of convertible stock

for an aggregate purchase price of $1000 In addition our advisor invested $1000 in our operating partnership in exchange for

its limited partnership interests The issuance of our shares of common stock and convertible stock to our affiliates were

exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Section 42 of the Securities Act

Our convertible stock will convert to shares of common stock if and when we have made total distributions on the then

outstanding shares of our common stock equal to the original issue price of those shares plus an 8.0% cumulative non

compounded annual return on the original issue price of those shares we list our common stock for trading on national
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securities exchange or our advisory agreement is terminated or not renewed other than for cause as defined in our

advisory agreement In the event of termination or non-renewal of our advisory agreement for cause the convertible stock

will be redeemed by us for $1.00 In general each share of our convertible stock will convert into number of shares of

common stock equal to 1/1000 of the quotient of 10% of the excess of our enterprise value plus the aggregate
value of

distributions paid to date on the theti outstanding shares of our common stock over the aggregate purchase price paid by

stockholders for those outstanding shares of common stock plus an 8.0% cumulative non-compounded annual return on the

original issue price of those outstanding shares divided by our enterprise value divided by the number of outstanding shares

of common stock on an as-converted basis in each case calculated as of the date of the conversion

On October 13 2009 we commenced private offering of up to $94000000 in shares of common stock at $9.40 per share

subject to discounts to accredited investors as defined in Rule 501 under the Securities Act We terminated the private

offering on or about July 2010 at which time we had raised
gross proceeds of $5844325 and incurred offering costs of

$876649 from the sale of 637279 shares of our common stock Each of the purchasers of our common stock in the private

offering has represented to us that he or she is an accredited investor Based upon these representations we believe that the

issuance of our common shares in the private offering was exempt from the registration requirements pursuant to Section 42
of the Securities Act and Regulation promulgated thereunder

On April 15 2010 we granted 5000 shares of restricted stock to each of our three independent directors pursuant to our

independent directors compensation plan in connection with
raising

the minimum offering amount of $2 000 000 in our private

offering On August 10 2011 we granted 500 shares of restricted common stock to each of our three independent directors

pursuant to our independent directors compensation plan in connection with their reelection to our board of directors at our

annual meeting of stockholders On October 24 2011 we granted 000 shares of restricted common stock to one of our

independent directors pursuant to our independent directors compensation plan in connection with her initial election to the

board of directors On August 2012 wegranted 2500 shares of restricted common stock to each of our three independent

directors pursuant to our independent directors compensation plan in connection with their reelection to our board of directors

at our annual meeting of stockholders On October 2012 we granted 5000 shares of restricted common stock to each of our

two new independent directors pursuant to our independent directors compensation plan in connection with their initial

election to the board of directors The shares of restricted stock issued pursuant to our independent directors compensation plan

were issued in transactions exempt from registration pursuant to Section 42 of the Securities Act

On October 23 2011 in connection with the resignation of one of our independent directors we canceled 4375 shares of

restricted common stock representing the forfeiture of the unvested portion of his shares of restricted stock issued pursuant to

the independent directors compensation plan

On July 2010 our Registration Statement on Form S-li File No 333-160748 registering public offering of up to

$1650000000 in shares of our common stock was declared effective under the Securities Act and we commenced our initial

public offering on July 19 2010 We are offering up to 150000000 shares of our common stock to the public in our primary

offering and up to 15789474 shares of our common stock pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan We initially offered

shares of our common stock to the public in our primary offering at price of $10.00 per
share and to our stockholders pursuant

to our distribution reinvestment plan at price of $9.50 per share As result of our determination of our estimated value per

share as of March 31 2012 effective September 10 2012 the offering price of shares of our common stock to the public in our

primary offering increased from price of $10.00 per share to price of $10.24 per share and the purchase price for shares

issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan increased from price of $9.50 per
share to price of $9.73 per share As

of December 31 2012 we had sold 22244340 shares of our common stock in our public offering for gross offering proceeds

of $222327700 including 393471 shares of common stock issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan for gross

offering proceeds of $3771655 Our initial public offering will terminateon the earlier of July 2013 orthe date we sell all

the shares offered in our primary offering however under rules promulgated by the SEC in some circumstances we may

continue the primary offering until as late as January 2014
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As of December 31 2012 we had recognized selling commissions dealer manager fees and organization and other offering

costs in our public offering in the amounts set forth below The dealer manager for our public offering reallowed all of the

selling commissions and portion of the dealer manager fees to participating broker-dealers

Share Repurchase Plan

Type of Expense Amount

Our share repurchase plan may provide an opportunity for our stockholders to have their shares of common stock

repurchased by us subject to certain restrictions and limitations No shares can be repurchased under our share repurchase plan

until after the first anniversary of the date of purchase of such shares provided however that this holding period shall not

apply to repurchases requested within two years
after the death or disability of stockholder

Prior to the completion of our offering stage as defined below the purchase price for shares repurchased under our share

repurchase plan will be as follows

Share Purchase Anniversary

year

iv
years

In the event of stockholders death or disability2

Repurchase Price

on Repurchase Date1

92.5% of Purchase Price

Z4
97.5% of Purchase Price

Average Issue Price for Shares3

Estimated

Amount Actual

Other organization and offering costs 11956125 Actual

34O1 Muai

Total public offering proceeds excluding distribution

reinvestment plan proceeds 218556045 Actual

From the commencement of our initial public offering through December 31 2012 the net offering proceeds to us after

deducting the total
expenses

incurred as described above were approximately $189544293 including net offering proceeds

from our distribution reinvestment plan of$3771655 For the year ended December 31 2012 the ratio of the cost of raising

equity capital to the gross amount of equity capital raised was approximately 15%

We intend to use substantially all of the net proceeds from our public and private offerings to invest in and manage diverse

portfolio of real estate investments primarily in the multifamily sector located throughout the United States In addition to our

focus on multifamily properties we may also selectively invest in other types of commercial properties We may also acquire or

originate mortgage bridge and other real estate loans and equity securities of other real estate companies As of December 31

2012 we had invested in 30 multifamily properties for total purchase price of $570808500 These property acquisitions were

funded from proceeds of our offerings and $402429409 in secured financings
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After the completion of our offering stage as defined below the purchase price for shares repurchased under our share

repurchase plan will be as follows

Repurchase Price

Share Purchase Anniversary on Repurchase DateW

Jiess ht tea

year 92.5% of Estimated Value per Share2

years OEsttYLeiS1me

years 97.5% of Estimated Value per
Share2

years 4j yr$ire2

In the event of stockholders death or disability3 Average Issue Price for Shares4

As adjusted for any stock dividends combinations splits recapitalizations or any similar transaction with respect to the

shares of common stock

For purposes of the share repurchase plan the estimated value per share will equal the purchase price until the day we

publicly disclose subsequent to completion ofthe offering stage new estimated value per share Thereafter the estimated

value per share is determined by our board of directors based on periodic valuations by independent third-party appraisers

and qualified independent valuation experts selected by our advisor

The required one year holding period to be eligible to redeem shares under our share repurchase plan does not apply in

the event of death or disability of stockholder For purposes of our share repurchase plan disability means the

stockholder has received determination of disability based upon physical or mental condition or impairment arising

after the date the stockholder acquired the shares to be redeemed and the determination of such disability was made

by the governmental agency responsible for reviewing and awarding the disability retirement benefits that the stockholder

could be eligible to receive which we refer to as the applicable governmental agency The applicable governmental

agencies are limited to the following the Social Security Administration ii the U.S Office of Personnel Management

with respect to disability benefits under the Civil Service Retirement System or CSRS or iiithe Veterans Administration

and in each case the agency charged with administering disability benefits at that time on behalf of one of the applicable

governmental agencies Disability determinations by governmental agencies other than those listed above including but

not limited to workers compensation insurance or the administration or enforcement of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973

as amended or the ADA will not entitle stockholder to the terms available for the repurchase of shares Repurchase

requests following an award by the applicable governmental agency ofdisability such as the Social Security Administration

Notice of Award U.S Office of Personnel Management determination of disability under CSRS Veterans

Administration record of disability-related discharge as the case may be or such other documentation issued by the

applicable governmental agency that we deem acceptable and demonstrates an award of the disability benefits As the

following disabilities generally do not entitle worker to Social Security or related disability benefits they will not qualify

as disability for purposes of our share repurchase plan disabilities occurring after the legal retirement age

temporary disabilities and disabilities that do not render worker incapable of performing substantial gainful activity

However where stockholder requests the repurchase of shares due to disability and the stockholder does not have

disability that meets the definition described above but is subject to similar circumstances our board of directors may

repurchase the stockholders shares in its sole discretion

The purchase price per share for shares redeemed upon the death or disability of stockholder will be equal to the average

issue price per
share for all of the stockholders shares

The purchase price per
share for shares repurchased pursuant to the share repurchase plan will be further reduced by the

aggregate amount of net proceeds per share if any distributed to our stockholders prior to the repurchase date as result of the

sale of one or more of our assets that constitutes return of capital distribution as result of such sales
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We will consider our offering stage complete on the first date that we are no longer publicly offering equity securities that

are not listed on national securities exchange whether through our ongoing initial public offering or follow-on public equity

offerings provided we have not filed registration statement for follow-on public equity offering as of such date for

purposes of this definition we do not consider public equity offerings to include offerings on behalf of selling stockholders or

offerings related to distribution reinvestment plan employee benefit plan or the redemption of interests in our operating

partnership

Repurchases of shares of our common stock will be made quarterly upon written request to us at least 15 days prior to the

end of the applicable quarter Repurchase requests will be honored approximately 30 days following the end of the applicable

quarter which we refer to as the repurchase date Stockholders may withdraw their repurchase request at any time up to three

business days prior to the repurchase date

We cannot guarantee that the funds set aside for the share repurchase plan will be sufficient to accommodate all repurchase

requests made in any quarter In the event that we do not have sufficient funds available to repurchase all of the shares of our

common stock for which repurchase requests have been submitted in any quarter priority will be given to redemption requests

in the case of the death or disability of stockholder If we repurchase less than all of the shares subject to repurchase request

in any quarter
with respect to any shares which have not been repurchased stockholder may withdraw the request for

repurchase or ask that we honor the request in future quarter
if any when such repurchases can be made pursuant to the

limitations of the share repurchase plan and when sufficient funds are available Such pending requests will be honored among

all requests for redemptions in any given redemption period as follows first pro
rata as to redemptions sought upon

stockholders death or disability and next pro rata as to other redemption requests

We are not obligated to repurchase shares of our common stock under the share repurchase plan We presently intend to limit

the number of shares to be repurchased in any calendar year to those that could be funded from the net proceeds from the sale

of shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan and shall not exceed 5% of the weighted average number of shares of

our common stock outstanding during the prior calendar year There is no fee in connection with repurchase of shares of our

common stock

The aggregate amount of repurchases under our share repurchase plan is not expected to exceed the aggregate proceeds

received from the sale of shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan However if this amount is not sufficient to fund

repurchase requests subject to the 5% limitation outlined above our board of directors may in its sole discretion choose to use

other sources of funds to repurchase shares of our common stock Such sources of funds could include cash on hand cash

available from borrowings and cash from liquidations
of securities investments as of the end of the applicable month to the

extent that such funds are not otherwise dedicated to particular use such as working capital cash distributions to stockholders

or purchases of real estate assets

In addition our board of directors may in its sole discretion amend suspend or terminate the share repurchase plan at any

time upon 30 days notice to our stockholders if it determines that the funds available to fund the share repurchase plan are

needed for other business or operational purposes or that amendment suspension or termination of the share repurchase plan is

in the best interest of our stockholders Therefore stockholders may not have the opportunity to make repurchase request

prior to any potential termination of our share repurchase plan
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During the quarter ending December 31 2012 we fulfilled redemption requests and redeemed shares of our common stock

pursuant to our share repurchase plan as follows

Approximate Dollar

Total Number of Value of Shares

Shares Total Number Average Available That May
Requested to be of Shares Price Paid Yet Be Redeemed

Redeemed Redeemed per Share2 Under the Program

October 2012 7586 3700 10.00

November 20l2 4.287

December 2012 16.969

28842 3700

We generally redeem shares on the last business day of the month following the end of each fiscal quarter in which

requests were received

The number of shares that may be redeemed pursuant to the share repurchase plan during any calendar year is limited

to 5% of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the prior calendar
year and those that can

be funded from the net proceeds we received from the sale of shares under the distribution reinvestment plan during

the prior calendar
year plus such additional funds as may be reserved for that purpose by our board of directors

As of December 31 2012 we had 28842 shares of outstanding and unfulfilled redemption requests and recorded

$269651 in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet related to these

unfulfilled redemption requests We redeemed the outstanding redemption requests as of December 31 2012 of

$269651 on the January 31 2013 redemption date

ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data as of December 31 2012 2011 2010 and 2009 and for the years ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 and the period from May 2009 inception to December 31 2009 should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto and Item Managements Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Our results of operations for the periods presented below are not indicative of those expected in future periods We have not

yet invested all of the proceeds received to date from our public offering and expect to continue to raise additional capital

increase our borrowings and make future acquisitions which would have significant impact on our future results of

operations During the period from May 2009 inception to August 10 2010 we were formed and commenced our private

offering and initial public offering but had not yet commenced real estate operations as we had not yet acquired any real estate

investments As result we had no material results of operations for that period
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As of December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009aIwI
Total real estate net 559972087 66751176 17011752i4a flZo7
Notes payable 413802388 47973049 11650000

ts
Redeemable common stock 3049521 385458 57827

For the Years Ended December 31

For the Period

from May 2009

Inception to

2012 2011 2010 December3l20091ugi 44fIpl c4tMt

Total revenues 30586932 5710173 828230

Net loss attributable to common
stockholders 22559927 4049010 2162581

Other data

Cash flows used in operating actiities 4563196 201.273 455876

Cash flows used in investing activities 382505.492 53833531 10902324

Cash flows provided by financing

activities 384396671 63377.288 14014390 202007

Distributions declared 8.636158 1640 845 230402

Distributions declared per common
share 0.706 0.700 0.272

Weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding basic and

diluted 12238094 2358867 506.003 22223

FF0t2 76c070 1471548 16230O9djci rJ
MFFO2 5828 557 469670 940466

Distributions declared per common share for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 assumes each share was

issued and outstanding each day of each year Distributions declared per common share for the year ended

December 31 2010 assumes each share was issued and outstanding each day from August 12 2010 the first day

distributions began to accrue through December 31 2010 Distributions currently declared are calculated at rate of

$0.00 1964 per share of common stock per day which if paid each day over 365-day period is equivalent to 7.0%

annualized distribution rate based on purchase price of $10.24 per share of common stock Prior to September 10

2012 distributions were calculated at rate of $0.00 1917 per share of common stock
per day which was equivalent to

7.0% annualized distribution rate based on purchase price of $10.00 per share of common stock We made our first

monthly distribution payment in September 2010

GAAP basis accounting for real estate assets utilizes historical cost accounting and assumes real estate values diminish

over time In an effort to overcome the difference between real estate values and historical cost accounting for real

estate assets the Board of Governors of the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts or NAREIT
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established the measurement tool of funds from operations or FF0 Since its introduction FF0 has become widely

used non-GAAP financial measure among REITs Additionally we use modified funds from operations or MFFO as

defined by the Investment Program Association as supplemental measure to evaluate our operating performance

MFFO is based on FF0 but includes certain adjustments we believe are necessary due to changes in accounting and

reporting under GAAP since the establishment of FF0 Neither FF0 or MFFO should be considered as alternatives to

net loss or other measurements under GAAP as indicators of our operating performance nor should they be considered

as alternatives to cash flow from operating activities or other measurements under GAAP as indicators of liquidity For

additional information on how we calculate FF0 and MFFO and reconciliation of FF0 and MFFO to net loss see

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of OperationsFunds From Operations

and Modified Funds From Operations

ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS

OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Selected Financial Data above and our

accompanying consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in this annual report Also see Cautionary Note

Regarding Forward Looking Statements preceding Part

Overview

We were formed on May 2009 as Maryland corporation that has elected to qualifr as real estate investment trust or

REIT We intend to use substantially all of the net proceeds from our ongoing initial public offering to invest in and manage

diverse portfolio of real estate investments primarily in the multifamily sector located throughout the United States In addition

to our focus on multifamily properties we may also selectively invest in commercial properties We may also acquire or

originate mortgage mezzanine bridge and other real estate loans and equity securities of other real estate companies

On July 23 2009 we filed registration statement on Form S-il or the registration statement with the SEC to offer

maximum of 150000000 shares of common stock for sale to the public at an initial price of $10.00 per
share subject to certain

discounts We also initially offered up to 15789474 shares of common stock pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan at

an initial price of $9.50 per
share subject to certain discounts On July 12 2012 our board of directors determined an

estimated value per share of our common stock of $10.24 as of March 31 2012 As result of the determination of the

estimated value per share of our common stock as of March 31 2012 effective September 10 2012 the offering price of our

common stock in our ongoing public offering increased from the previous price of $10.00 per share to $10.24 per share

Additionally effective September 10 2012 the price of shares of our common stock issued pursuant to our distribution

reinvestment plan increased from price of $9.50 per
share to price of $9.73 per share or 95% of the new offering price of

$10.24 per share From the commencement of our public offering on July 19 2010 to December 31 2012 we had sold

22244340 shares of common stock in our public offering for
gross proceeds of $222327700 including 393471 shares of

common stock issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan for gross offering proceeds of $3771655

Our initial public offering will terminate on the earlier of July 2013 or the date we sell all the shares offered in our

primary offering however under rules promulgated by the SEC in some circumstances we may continue the primary offering

until as late as January 2014 Prior to the commencement of our public offering we sold shares of our common stock in

private offering exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act Upon termination of the private offering we

had sold 637279 shares of common stock at $9.40 per share subject to certain discounts for gross offering proceeds of

$5844325

Our board of directors may again in its sole discretion from time to time change the price at which we offer shares to the

public in our public offering or to our stockholders pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan to reflect changes in our

estimated value per share and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant If we determine to change the price at

which we offer our shares of our common stock in our public offering we do not anticipate that we will do so more frequently

than quarterly Our advisor will calculate our estimated net asset value per share by dividing our net asset value by the number

of shares of our common stock outstanding Our net asset value will be determined by subtracting our liabilities including

the accrued fees and other expenses attributable to this offering and our operations from our assets which will consist
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almost entirely of the value of our interest in our operating partnership The value of our operating partnership is the excess of

the fair value of its assets including real estate properties real estate-related assets and other investments over the fair value of

its liabilities including debt and the expenses attributable to its operations as determined by our advisor

Steadfast Income Advisor LLC is our advisor Subject to certain restrictions and limitations our advisor manages our day

to day operations and our portfolio of properties and real estate-related assets Our advisor sources and presents mvestment

opportunities to our board of directors Our advisor also provides investment management marketing investor relations and

other administrative services on our behalf

Substantially all of our business is conducted through Steadfast Income REIT Operating Partnership L.P our operating

partnership We are the sole general partner of our operating partnership The initial limited partner of our operating partnership

is our advisor As we accept subscriptions for shares we transfer substantially all of the net proceeds of our public offering to

our operating partnership as capital contribution The limited partnership agreement of our operating partnership provides that

our operating partnership will be operated in manner that will enable us to satisfy the requirements for being classified as

REIT for tax purposes avoid any federal income or excise tax liability and ensure that our operating partnership will

not be classified as publicly traded partnership for purposes of Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code which

classification could result in our operating partnership being taxed as corporation rather than as partnership In addition to

the administrative and operating costs and
expenses

incurred by our operating partnership in acquiring and operating real

properties our operating partnership will pay all of our administrative costs and expenses and such expenses will be treated as

expenses of our operating partnership

We have made an election to be taxed as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code beginning with the taxable year ended

December 31 2010 As REIT we generally will not be subject to federal income tax to the extent that we distribute

qualifying dividends to our stockholders If we fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year we will be subject to federal

income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates and will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as REIT for

federal income tax purposes for four years following the
year

in which qualification is denied Failing to qualify as REIT

could materially and adversely affect our net income

Review of our Policies

Our board of directors including our independent directors has reviewed our policies described in this annual report and

our registration statement and determined that they are in the best interests of our stockholders because they increase the

likelihood that we will be able to acquire diversified portfolio of income producing properties thereby reducing risk in our

portfolio there are sufficient property acquisition opportunities with the attributes that we seek our executive officers

directors and affiliates of our advisor have expertise with the type of real estate investments we seek and borrowings should

enable us to purchase assets and earn rental income more quickly thereby increasing our likelihood of generating income for

our stockholders and preserving stockholder capital

Liquidity and Capital Resources

If we raise substantially less funds in our initial public offering than the maximum offering amount registered we will make

fewer investments resulting in less diversification in terms of the type number and size of investments we make and the value

of an investment in us will fluctuate more significantly based upon the performance of specific assets Further we will have

certain fixed operating expenses including certain expenses as public REIT regardless of whether we are able to raise

substantial funds in our initial public offering Our inability to raise substantial funds would increase our fixed operating

expenses as percentage of gross income reducing our net income and limiting ourability to make distributions

Once we have fully invested the proceeds of oUr initial public offering we expect that our overall borrowings will be

approximately 65% of the cost of our investments although we expect to exceed this level during our offering stage in order to

enable us to quickly build diversified portfolio Under our charter we are prohibited from borrowing in excess of 300% of the

value of our net assets which generally approximates to 75% of the aggregate cost of our assets though we may exceed this

limit under certain circumstances As of December 31 2012 our borrowings were not in excess of 300% of the value of our net

assets
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In addition to making investments in accordance with our investment objectives we expect to use our capital resources to

make certain payments to our advisor and the dealer manager for our initial public offering During our organization and

offering stage these payments include payments to the dealer manager for sales commissions and the dealer manager fee and

payments to our advisor for reimbursement of certain organization and offering expenses However within 60 days of the end

of the month in which our initial public offering ends our advisor has agreed to reimburse us to the extent that sales

commissions the dealer manager fee and other organization and offering expenses incurred by us in the completed offering

exceed 15% of the gross offering proceeds of the completed offering During our operating stage we expect to make payments

to our advisor in connection with the acquisition of investments the management of our assets and costs incurred by our

advisor in providing services to us

Our principal demand for funds will be to acquire properties and real estate-related assets to pay operating expenses and

interest on our outstanding indebtedness and to make distributions to our stockholders Over time we intend to generally fund

our cash needs for items other than asset acquisitions from operations We expect that our principal sources of working capital

will include

current cash balances

proceeds from the sales of shares of common stock in our public offering

various forms of secured and unsecured financing

equity capital from joint venture partners

proceeds from our operating partnership private placements if any

proceeds from our distribution reinvestment plan and

cash from operations

Over the short term we believe that our sources of capital specifically our cash balances cash flow from operations the

proceeds from our public offering our ability to raise equity capital from joint venture partners our ability to obtain various

forms of secured and unsecured financing and proceeds from our operating partnership private placements of securities if

any will be adequate to meet our liquidity requirements and capital commitments

Over the longer term in addition to the same sources of capital we will rely on to meet our short term liquidity

requirements we may also utilize additional secured and unsecured financings including entering into credit facility and

equity capital from joint venture partners We may also conduct additional public or private offerings of interests in us or our

operating partnership There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain such financing or capital on favorable terms if

at all We expect these resources will be adequate to fund our operating activities debt service and distributions which we

presently anticipate will grow over time and will be sufficient to fund our ongoing acquisition activities as well as providing

capital for investment in future development and other joint ventures along with potential forward purchase commitments

On October 22 2012 we entered into an unsecured revolving credit facility with PNC Bank National Association in an

amount up to $5000000 As of December31 2012 there was $5000000 outstanding under our credit facility

We may but are not required to establish working capital reserves from offering proceeds out of cash flow generated by our

investments or out of proceeds from the sale of our investments We do not anticipate establishing general working capital

reserve however we may establish capital reserves with respect to particular investments We also may but are not required to

establish reserves out of cash flow generated by investments or out of net sale proceeds in non-liquidating sale transactions Our

lenders also may require working capital reserves

To the extent that the working capital reserve is insufficient to satisfr our cash requirements additional funds may be

provided from cash generated from operations or through short-term borrowing In addition subject to certain limitations

described in our charter we may incur indebtedness in connection with the acquisition of any real estate asset refinance the

debt thereon arrange for the leveraging of any previously unfinanced property or reinvest the proceeds of financing or

refinancing in additional properties
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Cash Flows Used in Operating Activities

We commenced real estate operations with the acquisition of our first multifamily property on August 11 2010 As of

December 31 2012 we owned 30 multifamily properties During the year ended December 31 2012 net cash used in

operating activities was $4563 196 compared to net cash used in operating activities of $201273 for the year
ended

December 31 2011 The increase in net cash used in operating activities is primarily due to increased cash reserves for property

taxes interest and insurance associated with the 22 additional multifamily properties acquired in 2012 We expect cash used in

operating activities to increase in future periods as result of the acquisition fees and expenses incurred for anticipated future

acquisitions of real estate and real estate-related investments However we expect to generate cash flows from operations as we

expand our property portfolio and stabilize its operations

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

Our cash used in investing activities will vary based on how quickly we raise funds in our ongoing initial public offering

and how quickly we invest those funds towards acquisitions of real estate and real-estate related investments During the
year

ended December 31 2012 net cash used in investing activities was $382505492 compared to net cash used in investing

activities of $53833531 during the year ended December 31 2011 The increase in net cash used in investing activities was

primarily due to the acquisition of 22 multifamily properties during the year
ended December 312012 compared to six

property acquisitions during the year ended December 31 2011

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Our cash flows from financing activities consist primarily of proceeds from our ongoing initial public offeriiig net of

distributions paid to our stockholders and the issuance of notes payable During the year ended December 31 2012 net cash

provided by financing activities was $384396671 compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $63377288 during

the
year

ended December 31 2011 Net cash provided by financing activities during the year
ended December 31 2012

consisted of the following

$152895 936 of cash provided by offering proceeds related to our initial public offering net of1 payments of

commissions on sales of common stock and related dealer manager fees in the amount of $17 154479 and the

reimbursement of other offering costs to affiliates in the amount of $9799471

$231293673 of proceeds from the issuance of mortgage notes payable net of deferred financing costs in the amount

of $3377941 and principal payments of $14432386

$5000000 from borrowings on our credit facility

$417733 of cash paid for the redemption of common stock and

$4375205 of net cash distributions after giving effect to distributions reinvested by stockholders of $3172149

Contractual Commitments and Contingencies

We use secured and unsecured debt and intend to use in the future secured and unsecured debt as means of providing

additional funds for the acquisition of our properties and our real estate-related assets We believe that the careful use of

borrowings will help us achieve our diversification goals and potentially enhance the returns on our investments We expect that

our borrowings will be approximately 65% of the cost of our real properties before deducting depreciation and amortization

plus the value of our other investments after we have invested substantially all of the net offering proceeds in our public

offering In order to facilitate investments in the early stages of our operations we may temporarily borrow in excess of our

long-term targeted debt level Under our charter we are prohibited from borrowing in excess of 300% of our net assets which

generally approximates to 75% of the aggregate cost of our assets We may borrow in excess of this amount if such excess is

approved by majority of the independent directors and disclosed to stockholders in our next quarterly report along with

justification for such excess In such event we will monitor our debt levels and take action to reduce any suCh excess as

practicable We do not intend to exceed our charters leverage limit except in the early stages of our operations when the costs

of our investments are most likely to substantially exceed our net offering proceeds Our aggregate borrowings are reviewed by
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our board of directors at least quarterly As of December 31 2012 our borrowings were not in excess of 300% of the value of

our net assets

In addition to using our capital resources for investing purposes and meeting our debt obligations we expect to use our

capital resources to make certain payments to our advisor and the dealer manager During our organization and offering stage

these payments will include payments to the dealer manager for selling commissions and dealer manager fees and payments to

the dealer manager and our advisor for reimbursement of certain organization and other offering expenses However within 60

days of the end of the month in which our initial public offering ends our advisor has agreed to reimburse us to the extent that

selling commissions dealer manager fees and organization and other offering expenses incurred by us exceed 15% of our gross

offering proceeds of our initial public offering During our acquisition and development stage we expect to make payments to

our advisor in connection with the selection and origination or purchase of real estate and real estate-related investments the

management of our asset portfolio and costs incurred by our advisor in providing services to us

As of December 31 2012 we had notes payable totaling an aggregate principal amount of $413802388 For more

information on our outstanding indebtedness see Note Debt to the consolidated financial statements included in this annual

report

The following is summary of our contractual obligations as of December 31 2012

payments on

outstanding debt

obligations2

Payments due by period

Projected interest payments on outstanding debt obligations are based on the outstanding principal amounts and

interest rates in effect at December 31 2012 We incurred interest expense of $6291193 during the year ended

December 31 2012 including amortization of deferred financing costs totaling $225614

Projected principal payments on outstanding debt obligations are based on the terms of the notes payable agreements

Amounts include the amortization of the debt premiums associated with certain notes payable

Results of Operations

Overview

The discussion that follows is based on our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 2010 The ability to compare one period to another is significantly affected by acquisitions completed and dispositions

made during those periods As of December 31 2012 we owned 30 multifamily properties compared to owning only eight

multifamily properties at December 31 2011 and two multifamily properties at December 31 2010 The increase in our

property portfolio is the primary cause of the increases in operating income and expenses as further discussed below

Our results of operations for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 are not indicative of those expected in

future periods We have not yet invested all of the proceeds from our continuous public offering received to date and expect to

continue to raise additional capital increase our borrowings and make future acquisitions which would have significant

impact on our future results of operations In general we expect that our income and expenses related to our portfolio will

increase in future periods as result of anticipated future acquisitions of real estate and real estate-related investments

Contractual Obligations

Less than

v-
1-3 3-5

413802388 15368186 12445104 35065478 350923620
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To provide additional insight into our operating results we are also providing detailed analysis of same-store versus non-

same-store net operating income or NOT For more information on NOT and reconciliation of NOT non-GAAP measure to

net loss see Net Operating Income

Consolidated Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31 2012 and December 31 2011

The following table summarizes the consolidated results of operations for the years
ended December 2012 and 20 Ti

For the Years Ended

December 31

2012 2011 Changes Change%

Total revenues 30586932 5.710173 24876.759 436

Operating maintenance and management 8.687480 2055544 631936 323

Real estate taxes and insurance 3721952 756403 2.965549 392

Fees to affiliates 13127558 1519026 11608532 764

Depreciation and amortization 14957.857 2577462 12380395 480

Interest expense
6291.193 1186938 5104255 430%

General and administrative expenses 3085470 782.665 2302805 294

Acquisition costs 3275.349 881145 2394204 272

Net loss 22559927 4049010 18510917 457

NOT is non-GAAP financial measure used by investors and our management to evaluate and compare the

performance of our properties and to determine trends in earnings However the usefulness of NOT is limited because

it excludes general and administrative costs interest expense interest income and other expense acquisition costs

certain fees to affiliates depreciation and amortization expense and gains or losses from the sale of our properties and

other gains and losses as stipulated by GAAP the level of capital expenditures and leasing costs all of which are

significant economic costs For additional information on how we calculate NOT and reconciliation of NOT to net

loss see Net Operating Income

GAAP basis accounting for real estate assets utilizes historical cost accounting and assumes real estate values diminish

over time In an effort to overcome the difference between real estate values and historical cost accounting for real

estate assets the Board of Governors of NAREIT established the measurement tool of FF0 Since its introduction

FF0 has become widely used non-GAAP financial measure among RETTs Additionally we use MFFO as defined

by the Investment Program Association as supplemental measure to evaluate our operating performance MFFO is

based on FF0 but includes certain adjustments we believe are necessary due to changes in accounting and reporting

under GAAP since the establishment of FF0 Neither FF0 nor MFFO should be considered as alternatives to net loss

or other measurements under GAAP as indicators of our operating performance nor should they be considered as

alternatives to cash flow from operating activities or other measurements under GAAP as indicators of liquidity For

additional information on how we calculate FF0 and MFFO and reconciliation of FF0 and MFFO to net loss see

Funds From Operations and Modified Funds From Operations
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Net loss

For the year ended December 31 2012 we had net loss of $22559927 compared to net loss of $4049010 for the year

ended December 31 2011 The increase in net loss of$l8510917 over the prior year was primarily due to the increase in

operating maintenance and management expenses of $6631936 the increase in real estate taxes and insurance of $2965549
the increase in fees to affiliates of $11608532 the increase in depreciation and amortization expense of $12380395 the

increase in interest expense of $5104255 the increase in general and administrative expenses of $2302805 and the increase

in other acquisition costs of $2394204 partially offset by the increase in total revenues of $24876759 The increase in our

expenses was due primarily to the increase in our property portfolio from eight properties at December 31 2011 to 30

properties at December 31 2012

Total revenues

Rental income and tenant reimbursements for the year ended December 31 2012 were $30586932 compared to

$5710173 for the
year

ended December 31 2011 The increase of $24876759 was primarily due to the fact that we owned 30

multifamily properties as of December 31 2012 compared to eight multifamily properties as of December 31 2011

Additionally our total units increased by 5448 from 1242 at December 31 2011 to 6690 at December 31 2012 and average

monthly rents increased from $745 as of December 31 2011 to $863 as of December 31 2012 We expect rental income and

tenant reimbursements to increase in future periods as result of anticipated future acquisitions of real estate

Operating maintenance and management

Operating maintenance and management expenses for the year ended December 31 2012 were $8687480 compared to

$2055544 for the year ended December 31 2011 The increase of $6631936 was primarily due to the fact that we operated 30

multifamily properties as of December 31 2012 compared to eight multifamily properties as of December 31 2011 We expect

that these amounts will increase in future periods as result of anticipated future acquisitions of real estate but will decrease as

percentage of total revenues

Real estate taxes and insurance

Real estate taxes and insurance expenses for the year ended December 31 2012 were $3721952 compared to $756403 for

the year ended December 31 2011 The increase of $2965549 was due to the acquisition of 22 multifamily properties since

December 31 2011 and the continuing operation of the properties owned as of December 31 2011 We expect these amounts to

increase in future periods as result of anticipated future acquisitions of real estate

Fees to affiliates

Fees to affiliates for the year ended December 31 2012 were $13127558 compared to $1519026 for the year ended

December 31 2011 The increase of $11608532 was primarily due to acquisition fees earned by our advisor in connection

with the acquisition of 22 multifamily properties that totaled $10131220 for the year ended December 31 2012 compared to

acquisition fees earned by our advisor in connection with the acquisition of six multifamily properties that totaled $1060073
for the year ended December 31 2011 Additionally the property management and investment management fees payable to our

affiliated property manager and advisor increased for the year ended December 31 2012 as result of the growth of our

property portfolio We expect fees to affiliates to increase in future periods as result of anticipated future acquisitions of real

estate and real estate-related investments

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 31 2012 were $14957857 compared to $2577462
for the year ended December 31 2011 The increase of $12380395 was primarily due to the net increase in depreciable and

amortizable assets of $461698803 since December 31 2011 We expect these amounts to increase in future periods as result

of anticipated future acquisitions of real estate
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Interest expense

Interest expense
for the year ended December 31 2012 was $6291193 compared to $1186938 for the year ended

December 31 2011 The increase of $5104255 was primarily due to the net increases in the notes payable balance of

$365829339 due to financing incurred in connection with the acquisition of 22 multifamily properties since December 31

2011 Included in interest expense is the amortization of deferred financing costs of $225614 and $32964 and amortization of

loan premiums of $332348 and $0 for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively Also included in interest

expense is the unrealized loss on derivative instruments of $162761 and $0 for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011

Our interest expense in future periods will vary based on our level of borrowings which will depend on the amount of proceeds

raised in our ongoing initial public offering the availability and cOst of debt financing and the opportunity to acquire real estate

and real estate-related investments meeting our investment objectives

General and administrative expense

General and administrative expenses
for the year ended December 31 2012 were $3085470 compared to $782665 for the

year ended December 31 2011 These general and administrative costs consisted primarily of legal fees insurance premiums

audit fees other professional fees and independent director compensation The increase of $2302805 was primarily due to

increases in legal audit and other professional fees incurred in connection with the growth of our property portfolio We expect

general and administrative expenses
incurred by our advisor to increase in future periods as we acquire additional real estate

and real estate-related investments but to decrease as percentage of total revenue

Acquisition costs

Acquisition costs for the year ended December 31 2012 were $3275349 compared to $881145 for the year ended

December 31 2011 The increase in acquisition costs related primarily to our acquisition of 22 multifamily properties during

2012 compared to six acquisitions of multifamily properties during 2011 We expect acquisition costs to increase in future

periods as we acquire additional real estate and real estate-related investments but to decrease as percentage of total revenues
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Consolidated Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31 2011 and December 31 2010

The following table summarizes the consolidated results of operations for the
years

ended December 31 2011 and 2010

For the Years Ended
December 31

2011 2010 Change$ Change%

i4I
Operating maintenance and management 2055544 348103 1707441 490

Real esttteiixes wc
Fees to affiliates 1519026 419694 1099332 262

Depreeiaton aild z11i $46 412 2th69O 7fr

Interest expense 1186938 164677 1022261 621

Acquisition costs 881145 323906 557239 172

Net4
_____________

___________
FFO2 1471548 1623009 151461

Md2

For information on how we calculate NOl and reconciliation of NOT to net loss see Net Operating Income

For information on how we calculate FF0 and MFFO and reconciliation of FF0 and MFFO to net loss see

Funds From Operations and Modified Funds From Operations

Net loss

For the year ended December 31 2011 we had net loss of $4049010 compared to net loss of $2163581 for the
year

ended December 31 2010 The increase in net loss of $1885429 over the prior year was primarily due to the increase in

operating maintenance and management expenses of $1707441 the increase in real estate taxes and insurance of $647140
the increase in fees to affiliates of $1099332 the increase in depreciation and amortization

expense
of $2036890 the increase

in interest expense of $1022261 and the increase in other acquisition costs of $557239 partially offset by the increase in total

revenues of $4881943 and the decrease in general and administrative
expenses

of $302931 The increase in our expenses was

due primarily to the increase in our property portfolio from two properties at December 31 2010 to eight properties at

December 31 2011

Total revenues

Rental income and tenant reimbursements for the year ended December 31 2011 were $5710173 compared to $828230

for the
year

ended December 31 2010 The increase of $4881943 was primarily due to the fact that we owned eight

multifamily properties as of December 31 2011 compared to two multifamily properties as of December 31 2010

Additionally our total units increased by 905 from 337 at December 31 2010 to 1242 at December 31 2011

Operating maintenance and management

Operating maintenance and management expenses for the year ended December 31 2011 were $2055544 compared to

$348103 for the
year

ended December 31 2010 The increase of $1707441 was primarily due to the fact that we operated

eight multifamily properties as of December 31 2011 compared to two multifamily properties as of December 31 2010
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Real estate taxes and insurance

Real estate taxes and insurance expenses
for the year ended December 31 2011 were $756403 compared to $109263 for

the year ended December 31 2010 The increase of $647140 was due to the acquisition of six multifamily properties during

2011 and the continuing operation of the properties owned as of December 31 2010

Fees to affiliates

Fees to affiliates for the
year

ended December 31 2011 were $1519026 compared to $419694 for the year ended

December 31 2010 The increase of $1099332 was primarily due to acquisition fees eamed by our advisor in connection with

the acquisition of six multifamily properties that totaled $1060073 for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to

acquisition fees earned by our advisor in connection with the acquisition of two multifamily properties that totaled $357637 for

the year ended December 31 2010 Additionally the property management and investment management fees payable to our

affiliated property manager and advisor increased for the year ended December 31 2011 as result of the growth of our

property portfolio

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expenses
for the year ended December 31 2011 were $2577462 compared to $540572 for

the
year

ended December 31 2010 The increase of $2036890 was primarily due to the net increase in depreciable and

amortizable assets of $47424396 during 2011

Interest expense

Interest expense for the
year

ended December 31 2011 was $1186938 compared to $164677 for the year ended

December 31 2010 The increase of $1022261 was primarily due to the net increases in the notes payable balance of

$36323049 during 2011 due to financing incurred in connection with the acquisition of six multifamily properties during 2011

Included in interest expense is the amortization of deferred financing costs of $32964 and $1110 for the years ended

December 31 2011 and 2010

General and administrative expense

General and administrative expenses for the
year

ended December 31 2011 were $782665 compared to $1085596 for the

year ended December 31 2010 These general and administrative costs consisted primarily of legal fees insurance premiums

audit fees other professional fees and independent director compensation The decrease of $302931 was primarily due to our

advisor incurring $1975549 of operating expenses on our behalf for the year ended December 31 2011 which were not

included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for 2011

Acquisition costs

Other acquisition costs for the
year

ended December 31 2011 were $881145 compared to $323906 for the year ended

December 31 2010 The increase in acquisition costs related primarily to our acquisition of six multifamily properties during

2011 compared to two acquisitions of multifamily properties during 2010

51



Property Operations for the Three Months Ended December 31 2012 Compared to the Three Months Ended December 31
2011

For purposes of evaluating comparative operating performance we categorize our properties as same-store or non-same-

store same-store property is property that was owned at October 2011 non-same-store property is property that

was acquired placed into service or disposed of after October 2011 Our same store properties for the fourth quarter of 2011

and 2012 were the Lincoln Tower Apartments the Park Place Condominiums the Arbor Pointe Apartments the Clarion Park

Apartments and the Cooper Creek Village collectively referred to as the same-store properties

The following table presents the same-store and non-same-store results from operations for the three months ended

December 31 2012 and 2011

For the Three Months Ended

December31

2012 2011 Change Change

Revenues 2003709 1898738 104971 6%

Net operating income 980356 908237 72119
-yr

Non-same-store properties

See Net Operating Income below for reconciliation of NOT to net income loss

Net Operating income

Same-store net operating income for the three months endedDecember 31 2012 was $980356 compared to $908237 for

the three months ended December 31 2011 The 8% increase in same-store net operating income was primarily due to the 6%
increase in same-store rental revenues partially offset by the 3% increase in same-store operating expenses over the comparable

prior year period

Revenues

Same-store revenues for the three months ended December 31 2012 were $2003709 compared to $1898738 for the three

months ended December 31 2011 The 6% increase in same-store revenues was primarily due to the market rent increases at

the same-store properties partially offset by occupancy decreases at the Park Place Condominiums as result of certain

renovation projects currently in
progress

Operating Expenses

Same-store operating expenses for the three months ended December 31 2012 were $1023353 compared to $990501 for

the three months ended December 31 2011 The 3% increase in same-store operating expenses was primarily due to increased

personnel costs at the Clarion Park Apartments during the three months ended December 31 2012 as well as certain additional

training and benefit administration fees incurred at the same store properties during the three months ended December 31 2012

that were not incurred during three months ended December 31 2011

52



Net Operating Income

Net Operating Income or NOT is non-GAAP financial measure of performance NOT is used by investors and our

management to evaluate and compare the performance of our properties and to determine trends in earnings and to compute the

fair value of our properties as it is not affected by the cost of funds acquisition costs non operating fees to affiliates

the impact of depreciation and amortization expenses as well as gains or losses from the sale of operating real estate assets

that are included in net income computed in accordance with GAAP or general and administrative expenses and other gains

and losses that are specific to us The cost of funds is eliminated from net income loss because it is specific to our particular

financing capabilities and constraints The cost of funds is also eliminated because it is dependent on historical interest rates

and other costs of capital as well as past decisions made by us regarding the appropriate
mix of capital which may have

changed or may change in the future Acquisition costs and non-operating fees to affiliates are eliminated because they do not

reflect our continuing operating costs

Depreciation and amortization expenses as well as gains or losses from the sale of operating real estate assets are eliminated

because they may not accurately represent the actual change in value in our multifamily properties that result from use of the

properties or changes in market conditiOns While certain aspects of real property do decline in value over time in manner that

is reasonably captured by depreciation and amortization the value of the properties as whole have histoncally increased or

decreased as result of changes in overall economic conditions instead of from actual use of the property or the passage
of

time Gains and losses from the sale of real property vary from property to property and are affected by market conditions at the

time of sale which will usually change from period to period These gains
and losses can create distortions when companng one

penod to another or when companng our operating results to the operating results of other real estate companies that have not

made similarly timed purchases or sales We believe that eliminating these costs from net income is useful because the resulting

measure captures the actual revenue generated and actual expenses
incurred in operating our properties as well as trends in

occupancy rates rental rates and operating costs

However the usefulness of NOT is limited because it excludes general and administrative costs interest expense interest

income and other expense acquisition costs certain fees to affiliates depreciation and amortization expense and gains or losses

from the sale of properties and other gains
and losses as stipulated by GAAP the level of capital expenditures and leasing costs

necessary to maintain the operating performance of our properties
all of which are significant economic costs NOT may fail to

capture sigmficant trends in these components of net income which further limits its usefulness

NOT is measure of the operating performance of our properties but does not measure our performance as whole NOT is

therefore not substitute for net income loss as computed in accordance with GAAP This measure should be analyzed in

conjunction with net income loss computed in accordance with GAAP and discussions elsewhere in Management

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations regarding the components of net income loss that

are eliminated in the calculation of NOT Other companies may use different methods for calculating NOT or similarly entitled

measures and accordingly our NOT may not be comparable to similarly entitled measures reported by other companies that do

not define the measure exactly as we do
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The following is reconciliation of our NOT to net loss for the three months ended December 31 2012 and 2011 and for the

years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 computed in accordance with GAAP

For the Three Months
Ended December 31 For the Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2012 2011 2010

Fees to affihiates 5771425 582358 12019086 1319060 3894781sMIJC
Interest

expense 2403356 427507 6291193 1186938 164677

Acquisition costs 1580775 402713 881145 323906

Fees to affiliates for the three and twelve months ended December 31 2012 excludes property management fees of

$371417 and $960968 and other fees of $56060 and $147504 respectively that are included in NOT Fees to

affiliates for the three and twelve months ended December 31 2011 excludes property management fees of $68286
and $199966 respectively that are included in NOT Fees to affiliates for the

year
ended December 31 2010 excludes

property management fees of $30216 that are included in NOT

Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations

Due to certain unique operating characteristics of real estate companies as discussed below NAREIT an industry trade

group has promulgated measure known as funds from operations or FF0 which we believe to be an appropriate

supplemental measure to reflect the operating performance of real estate investment trust or REIT The use of FF0 is

recommended by the REIT industry as supplemental performance measure FF0 is not equivalent to our net income loss as

determined under GAAP

We define FF0 non-GAAP financial measure consistent with the standards established by the White Paper on FF0

approved by the Board of Governors of NAREIT as revised in February 2004 or the White Paper The White Paper defines

FF0 as net income loss computed in accordance with GAAP excluding gains or losses from sales of property and non-cash

impairment charges of real estate related investments plus real estate related depreciation and amortization and after

adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures In particular we believe it is appropriate to disregard

impairment charges as this is fair value adjustment that is largely based on market fluctuations and assessments regarding

general market conditions which can change over time An asset will only be evaluated for impairment if certain impairment

indications exist and if the carrying or book value exceeds the total estimated undiscounted future cash flows including net

rental and lease revenues net proceeds on the sale of the property and any other ancillary cash flows at property or group

level under GAAP from such asset Investors should note however that determinations of whether impairment charges have

been incurred are based partly on anticipated operating performance because estimated undiscounted future cash flows from

property including estimated future net rental and lease revenues net proceeds on the sale of the property and certain other

ancillary cash flows are taken into account in determining whether an impairment charge has been incurred While impairment

charges are excluded from the calculation of FF0 as described above investors are cautioned that due to the fact that

impairments are based on estimated future undiscounted cash flows and the relatively limited term of our operations it could be

difficult to recover any impairment charges Our FF0 calculation complies with NARETTs policy described above

The historical accounting convention used for real estate assets requires straight-line depreciation of buildings and

improvements which implies that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time especially if such assets are

not adequately maintained or repaired and renovated as required by relevant circumstances and/or as requested or required by
lessees for operational purposes in order to maintain the value disclosed We believe that since real estate values historically rise

and fall with market conditions including inflation interest rates the business cycle unemployment and consumer spending
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presentations of operating results for REIT using historical accounting for depreciation may be less informative Historical

accounting for real estate involves the use of GAAP Any other method of accounting for real estate such as the fairvalue

method caimot be construed to be any more accurate or relevant thanthe comparable methodologies of real estate valuation

found in GAAP Nevertheless we believe that the use of FF0 which excludes the impact of real estate related depreciation and

amortization provides more complete understanding of our performance to investors and to management and when

compared year over year reflects the impact on our operations from trends in occupancy rates rental rates operating costs

general and administrative expenses and interest costs which may not be immediately apparent from net income However

FF0 and MFFO as described below should not be construed to be more relevant or accurate than the current GAAP

methodology in calculating net income or in its applicability in evaluating our operating performance The method utilized to

evaluate the value and performance of real estate under .GAAP should be construed as more relevant measure of operational

performance and considered more prominently than the non-GAAP FF0 and MFFO measures and the adjustments to GAAP in

calculating FF0 and MFFO

Changes in the accounting and reporting promulgations
under GAAP for acquisition fees and expenses from

capitalization/depreciation
model to an expensed-as-incurred model that were put into effect in 2009 and other changes to

GAAP accounting for real estate subsequent to the establishment of NAREITs definition of FF0 have prompted an increase in

cash-settled expenses specifically acquisition fees and expenses
for all industries as items that are expensed under GAAP that

are typically accounted for as operating expenses Management believes these fees and expenses
do not affect our overall long-

term operating performance Publicly registered non-listed REITs typically have significant amount of acquisition activity

and are substantially more dynamic during their initial years of investment and operation While other start-up entities may also

experience significant acquisition activity during their initial years we believe that public non-listed REITs like us are unique

in that they have limited life with targeted exit strategies within relatively limited time frame after acquisition activity

ceases Our board of directors will determine to pursue liquidity event when it believes that the thencurrent market conditions

are favorable However our board of directors does not anticipate evaluating liquidity event i.e listing of our common stock

on national exchange merger or sale of our company or another similar transaction until 2015 Thus as limited life REIT

we will not continuously purchase assets and will have limited life

Due to the above factors and other unique
features of publicly registered non-listed REITs the Investment Program

Association or IPA an industry trade group has standardized measure known as MFFO which the IPA has recommended as

supplemental measure for publicly registered non-listed REITs and which we believe to be another appropriate supplemental

measure to reflect the operating performance of public non-listed REIT having the characteristics described above MFFO is

not equivalent to our net income or loss as determined under GAAP and MFFO may not be useful measure of the impact of

long-term operating performance on value if we do not continue to operate with limited life and targeted exit strategy as

currently intended We believe that because MFFO excludes costs that we consider more reflective of investing activities and

other non-operating items included in FF0 and also excludes acquisition fees and expenses
that affect our operations only in

periods in which properties are acquired MFFO can provide on going forward basis an indication of the sustainability that

is the capacity to continue to be maintained of our operating performance after the period in which we are acquiring our

properties and once our portfolio is in place By providing MFFO we believe we are presenting useful information that assists

investors and analysts to better assess the sustainability of our operating performance after our offering has been completed and

our properties have been acquired We also believe that MFFO is recognized measure of sustainable operating performance by

the non-listed REIT industry Further we believe MFFO is useful in comparing the sustainability of our operating performance

after our offering and acquisitions are completed with the sustainability of the operating performance of other real estate

companies that are not as involved in acquisition activities Investors are cautioned that MFFO should only be used to assess the

sustainability of our operating performance after our offering has been completed and properties have been acquired as it

excludes acquisition costs that have negative effect on our operating performance dunng the periods in which properties are

acquired

We define MFFO non-GAAP financial measure consistent with the IPAs Guideline 201.0-01 Supplemental Performance

Measure for Publicly Registered Non-Listed R.EITs Modified Funds from Operations or the Practice Guideline issued by the

IPA in.November 2010 The Practice Guideline defines MFFO as FF0 further adjusted for the following items as applicable

included in the determination of GAAP net income acquisition fees and expenses amounts relating to deferred rent receivables

and amortization of above and below market leases and liabilities which are adjusted in order to reflect such payments from

GAAP accrual basis to cash basis of disclosing the rent and lease payments accretion of discounts and amortization of
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premiums on debt investments mark-to-market adjustments included in net income nonrecurring gains or losses included in

net income from the extinguishment or sale of debt hedges foreign exchange derivatives or securities holdings where trading

of such holdings is not fundamental attribute of the business plan unrealized gains or losses resulting from consolidation

from or deconsolidation to equity accounting and after adjustments for consolidated and unconsolidated partnerships and joint

ventures with such adjustments calculated to reflect MFFO on the same basis The accretion of discounts and amortization of

premiums on debt investments nonrecurring unrealized gains and losses on hedges foreign exchange derivatives or securities

holdings unrealized gains and losses resulting from consolidations as well as other listed cash flow adjustments are

adjustments made to net income in calculating the cash flows provided by operating activities and in some cases reflect gains

or losses which are unrealized and may not ultimately be realized While we rely on our advisor for managing interest rate

hedge and foreign exchange risk we do not retain an outside consultant to review all our hedging agreements Inasmuch as

interest rate hedges are not fundamental part of our operations we believe it is appropriate to exclude such non-recurring

gains and losses in calculating MFFO as such gains and losses are not reflective of on-going operations

Our MFFO calculation complies with the IPAs Practice Guideline described above In calculating MFFO we exclude

acquisition related expenses amortization of above and below market leases fair value adjustments of derivative financial

instruments deferred rent receivables and the adjustments of such items related to noncontrolling interests Under GAAP
acquisition fees and

expenses are characterized as operating expenses
in determining operating net income These expenses are

paid in cash by us All paid and accrued acquisition fees and
expenses

will have negative effects on returns to investors the

potential for future distributions and cash flows generated by us unless earnings from operations or net sales proceeds from the

disposition of other properties are generated to cover the purchase price of the property these fees and expenses and other costs

related to such property In the event that proceeds from our initial public offering are not available to fund our reimbursement

of acquisition fees and expenses incurred by our advisor such fees and expenses will need to be reimbursed to our advisor from

other sources including debt operational earnings or cash flow net proceeds from the sale of properties or from ancillary cash

flows The acquisition of properties and the corresponding acquisition fees and expenses is the key operational feature of our

business plan to generate operational income and cash flow to fund distributions to our stockholders Further under GAAP
certain contemplated non-cash fair value and other non-cash adjustments are considered operating non-cash adjustments to net

income in determining cash flow from operating activities In addition we view fair value adjustments of derivatives and gains

and losses from dispositions of assets as non-recurring items or items which are unrealized and may not ultimately be realized

and which are not reflective of on-going operations and are therefore typically adjusted for when assessing operating

performance

Our management uses MFFO and the adjustments used to calculate MFFO in order to evaluate our performance against

other public non-listed REITs which have limited lives with short and defined acquisition periods and targeted exit strategies

shortly thereafter As noted above MFFO may not be useful measure of the impact of long-term operating performance on

value if we do not continue to operate in this manner We believe that our use of MFFO and the adjustments used to calculate

MFFO allow us to present our performance in manner that reflects certain characteristics that are unique to public non-listed

REITs such as their limited life limited and defined acquisition period and targeted exit
strategy and hence that the use of such

measures is useful to investors By excluding expensed acquisition costs the use of MFFO provides information consistent with

managements analysis of the operating performance of the properties Additionally fair value adjustments which are based on

the impact of current market fluctuations and underlying assessments of general market conditions but can also result from

operational factors such as rental and occupancy rates may not be directly related or attributable to our current operating

performance By excluding such changes that may reflect anticipated and unrealized gains or losses we believe MFFO provides

useful supplemental information

Presentation of this information is intended to provide useful information to investors as they compare the operating

performance to that of other public non-listed REITs although it should be noted that not all public non-listed REITs calculate

FF0 and MFFO the same way so comparisons with other public non-listed REITs may not be meaningful Furthermore FF0
and MFFO are not necessarily indicative of cash flow available to fund cash needs and should not be considered as an

alternative to net income loss or income loss from continuing operations as an indication of our performance as an

alternative to cash flows from operations as an indication of our liquidity or indicative of funds available to fund our cash

needs including our ability to make distributions to our stockholders FF0 and MFFO should be reviewed in conjunction with

GAAP measurements as an indication of our performance MFFO has limitations as performance measure in an offering such

as ours where the price of share of common stock is stated value and there is no regular net asset value determination during
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the offering stage and for period thereafter MFFO is useful in assisting management and investors in assessing the

sustainability of operating performance in future operating periods and in particular after the offering and acquisition stages

are complete and net asset value is disclosed MFFO is not useful measure in evaluating net asset value because impairments

are taken into account in determining net asset value but not in determining MFFO

Neither the SEC NAREIT nor any other regulatory body has passed judgment on the acceptability of the adjustments that

we use to calculate FF0 or MFFO In the future the SEC NAREIT or another regulatory body may decide to standardize the

allowable adjustments across the non-listed REIT industry and in response to such standardization we may have to adjust our

calculation and characterization of FF0 or MFFO accordingly

Our calculation of FF0 and MFFO is presented in the following table for the years
ended December 31 2012 2011 and

2010

For the Years Ended December 31

Reconciliation of net loss to MFFO 2012 2011 2010

Net loss 22559927 4049010 2163581

Depreciation of real estate assets 8.353.542 1.153535 149.928

Amortization of lease-related costs 6604315 1423927 390644

FF0 7602070 1471548 1.623.009

Acquisition fees and expehses2 13406569 1941218 681543

UnreaJized loss on derivative instruments 62761

Amortization of below-market leases 13 8.703

Net loss attributable to noncontroUing interest
1000

MFFO 5828557 469670 940466

FF0 per share basic and diluted 0.62 0.62 3.2J

MFFO per share basic and diluted
0.48 0.20 1.86

Net loss per share basic and diluted 1.84 1.72 28
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding basic and

diluted
12238094 2358867 506003

By excluding expensed acquisition costs management believes MFFO provides
useful supplemental information that

is comparable for each type of real estate investment and is consistent with management analysis of the investing

and operating performance of our properties Acquisition fees and expenses include payments to our advisor or third

parties Acquisition fees and expenses
under GAAP are considered operating expenses and as expenses

included in the

determination of net income and income from continuing operations both of which are performance measures under

GAAP All paid and accrued acquisition fees and expenses will have negative effects on returns to investors the

potential for future distributions and cash flows generated by us unless earnings from operations or net sales proceeds

from the disposition of properties are generated to cover the purchase price of the property these fees and expenses

and other costs related to the property In the event that proceeds from our initial public offering are not available to

fund our reimbursement of acquisition fees and expenses
incurred by our advisor such fees and expenses

will need to

be reimbursed to the advisor from other sources including debt operational earnings or cash flow net proceeds from

the sale of properties or from ancillary cash flows The acquisition of properties and the corresponding acquisition

fees and expenses is the key operational feature of our business plan to generate operational income and cash flow to

fund distributions to its stockholders

Acquisition fees and expenses for the years
ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 includes acquisition fees of

$10131220 $1060073 and $357637 respectively that are recorded in fees to affiliates in the accompanying
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statements of operations and acquisition expenses of $3275349 $881145 and $323906 respectively that are

recorded in acquisition costs in the accompanying statements of operations

Pursuant to the terms of our advisory agreement because MFFO did not exceed distributions paid during the three months

ended December 31 2012 we deferred $891727 of acquisition and investment management fees earned during the three

months ended December 31 2012 Acquisition fees and investment management fees of $288662 and $0 respectively are due
and payable as of December 31 2012 and are included in due to affiliates net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet

FF0 and MFFO may be used to fund all or portion of certain capitalizable items that are excluded from FF0 and MFFO
such as tenant improvements building improvements and deferred leasing costs

Inflation

Substantially all of our multifamily property leases are for term of one year or less In an inflationary environment this

may allow us to realize increased rents upon renewal of existing leases or the beginning of new leases Short-term leases

generally will minimize our risk from the adverse effects of inflation although these leases generally permit residents to leave
at the end of the lease term and therefore will

expose us to the effects of decline in market rents In deflationary rent

environment we may be exposed to declining rents more quickly under these shorter term leases

With respect to other commercial properties we currently include and expect in the future to include provisions in our
leases designed to protect us from the impact of inflation These provisions will include reimbursement billings for operating

expense pass-through charges real estate tax and insurance reimbursements or in some cases annual reimbursement of

operating expenses above certain allowance We believe that shorter term lease contracts lessen the impact of inflation due to

the ability to adjust rental rates to market levels as leases expire

As of December 31 2012 we had not entered into any leases as lessee

REIT Compliance

To qualify as REIT for tax purposes we are required to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income which is

computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain and which does not necessarily equal net income as

calculated in accordance with GAAP to our stockholders We must also meet certain asset and income tests as well as other

requirements We monitor the business and transactions that may potentially impact our REIT status If we fail to qualify as

REIT in any taxable year we will be subject to federal income tax including any applicable alternative minimum tax on our

taxable income at regular corporate rates

Distributions

Our board of directors has declared daily distributions that are paid on monthly basis We expect to continue paying

monthly distributions unless our results of operations our general financial condition general economic conditions or other

factors prohibit us from doing so During the early stages of our operations we may declare distributions in excess of our cash

from operations As result our distribution rate and payment frequency may vary from time totime However to qualify as

REIT for tax purposes we must make distributions equal to at least 90% of our REIT taxable income each year

Distributions accrue daily to our stockholders of record as of the close of business on each day are payable in

cumulative amounts on or before the third day of each calendar month with respect to the prior month and are calculated at

rate of $0.00 1964 per share per day which if paid each day over 365-day period is equivalent to 7.0% annualized

distribution rate based on purchase price of $10.24 per share of common stock Prior to September 10 2012 distributions

were calculated at rate of $0.00 1917 per share of common stock which was equivalent to 7.0% annualized distribution rate

based on purchase price of $10.00 per share of common stock There is no guaranty that we will pay distributions at this rate

in the future if at all
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Distributions declared and paid were as follows for the year ended December 31 2012

Net Cash

Provided By

Distributions Distributions Paid3
Used In

Distributions Declared Per Operating

Period DeclaredW ShareIX2 Cash Reinvested Total Activities

Second Quarter 2012 1498103 0.174 784467 555490 1339957 1565060

Fourth Quarter 2012 3710684 0.181 1943113 1434332 3377445 3608838

8636158 0.706 4375205 3172149 7547354 4563196

Distributions are based on daily record dates and calculated at rate of $0.00 1964
per

share per day Prior to

September 10 2012 distributions were calculated at rate of $0.00 1917 per share per day

Assumes each share was issued and outstanding each day during the periods presented

Distributions are paid on monthly basis Distributions for all record dates of given month are paid approximately

three days following month end

For the year ended December 31 2012 we paid aggregate distributions of $7547354 including $4375205 of distributions

paid in cash and 330688 shares of our common stock issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan for $3172149 For

the year ended December 31 2012 we had net loss of $22559927 We had negative FF0 for the year ended December 31

2012 of $7602070 and net cash used in operating activities was $4563196 We funded our total distributions paid which

includes net cash distributions and dividends reinvested by stockholders with proceeds from our public offering See the

reconciliation of FF0 to net loss above in Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations

Over the long-term we expect that greater percentage of our distributions will be paid from cash flow from operations and

FF0 except with respect to distributions related to sales of our real estate and real estate-related investments However our

operating performance cannot be accurately predicted and may deteriorate in the future due to numerous factors including

those discussed under Risk Factors and Results of Operations

In order to provide additional available funds for us to pay distributions under certain circumstances our obligation to pay

all fees due to our advisor pursuant to the advisory agreement will be deferred up to an aggregate amount of $5000000 during

our offering stage If during any calendar quarter during our offering stage the distributions we pay exceed our adjusted funds

from operations the payment of fees we are obligated to pay our advisor will be deferred in an amount equal to the amount by

which the distributions paid to our stockholders for the quarter exceed our adjusted funds from operations up to an amount

equal to cash distributions equal to 7.0% cumulative non-compounded annual return on stockholders invested capital

prorated for such quarter For purposes
of determining any deferral amount if during any calendar quarter during our offering

stage our adjusted funds from operations is negative the adjusted funds from operations will be deemed to be zero

We are only obligated to pay our advisor for these deferred fees if and to the extent that our cumulative adjusted funds from

operations for the period beginning on the date of the commencement of our private offering through the date of any such

payment exceed the lesser of the cumulative amount of any distributions paid to our stockholders as of the date of such

payment or cash distributions equal to 7.0% cumulative non-compounded annual return on invested capital for our

stockholders for the period from the commencement of our initial public offering through the date of such payment Our

obligation to pay the deferred fees will survive the termination of the advisory agreement and will continue to be subject to the

repayment conditions above We will not pay interest on the deferred fees if and when such fees are paid to our advisor

We accrue the amount of deferred fees that are probable and estimable of being paid Such deferred fees continue to accrue

until the fees are either paid or it becomes remote that the fees will be paid to our advisor We anticipate that any deferred fees

will ultimately be paid and therefore will be accrued when incurred As of December 31 2012 payment of $2399153 of our

fees earned by our advisor had been accrued and deferred pursuant to the terms of our advisory agreement
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 we had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have

current or future effect on our financial condition changes in financial condition revenues or expenses results of operations

liquidity capital expenditures or capital resources

Related-Party Transactions and Agreements

We have entered into agreements with our advisor and its affiliates whereby we have paid and may continue to pay certain

fees to or reimburse certain
expenses of our advisor or its affiliates for acquisition and advisory fees and expenses financing

coordination fees organization and offering costs sales commissions dealer manager fees asset and property management fees

and expenses leasing fees and reimbursement of certain operating costs See Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related

Transactions Director Independence and Note Related Party Arrangements to the consolidated financial statements

included in this annual report for discussion of the various related-party transactions agreements and fees

Critical Accounting Policies

Below is discussion of the accounting policies that we believe are critical because they involve significant judgments and

assumptions require estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain and because they are important for understanding and

evaluating our reported financial results These judgments affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and our

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and

expenses during the reporting periods With different estimates or assumptions materially different amounts could be reported

in our financial statements Other companies may utilize different estimates that may impact the comparability of our results of

operations to those of companies in similarbusinesses

Real Estate Assets

Depreciation andAmortization

Real estate costs related to the development construction and improvement of properties will be capitalized Acquisition

costs are expensed as incurred Repair and maintenance and tenant turnover costs will be charged to expense as incurred and

significant replacements and betterments will be capitalized Repair and maintenance and tenant turnover costs include all costs

that do not extend the useful life of the real estate asset We consider the period of future benefit of an asset to determine its

appropriate useful life and anticipate the estimated useful lives of assets by class to be generally as follows

Buildings 25-40 years

Building improvements 5-25
years

Tenant improvements Shorter of lease term or expected useful life

Tenant origination and absorption costs Remaining term of related lease

Furniture fixtures and equipment 5-10 years

Real Estate Purchase Price Allocation

We record the acquisition of income-producing real estate or real estate that will be used for the production of income as

business combination All assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combination are measured at their acquisition

date fair values Acquisition costs are generally expensed as incurred

We assess the acquisition-date fair values of all tangible assets identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities using

methods similar to those used by independent appraisers e.g discounted cash flow analysis and that utilize appropriate

discount and/or capitalization rates and available market information Estimates of future cash flows are based on number of

factors including historical operating results known and anticipated trends and market and economic conditions The fair value

of tangible assets of an acquired property considers the value of the property as if it was vacant
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Intangible assets include the value of in-place leases which represents the estimated value of the net cash flows of the in-

place leases to be realized as compared to the net cash flows that would have occurred had the property
been vacant at the time

of acquisition and subject to lease-up

We estimate the value of tenant origination
and absorption costs by considering the estimated carrying costs during

hypothetical expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions In estimating carrying costs we estimate the

amount of lost rentals using market rates during the expected lease-up periods

We amortize the value of in-place leases to expense over the remaining non-cancelable term of the respective leases Should

tenant terminate its lease the unamortized portion
of the in-place lease value and customer relationship intangibles would be

charged to expense in that period

We record above-market and below-market in-place lease values for acquired properties if any based on the present value

using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired of the difference between the contractual

amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and our estimate of fair market lease rates for the corresponding in-place

leases measured over period equal to the remaining cancelable term of the lease We amortize any capitalized
above-market

or below-market lease values as reduction or increase to rental income over the remaining non-cancelable terms of the

respective leases

Estimates of the fair values of the tangible assets identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities require us to make

significant assumptions to estimate market lease rates property-operating expenses carrying costs during lease-up periods

discount rates market absorption periods and the number of years the property will be held for investment The use of

inappropriate assumptions could result in an incorrect valuation of acquired tangible assets identifiable intangible assets and

assumed liabilities which could impact the amount of our net income loss

Impairment of Real Estate Assets

We will continually monitor events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of our real

estate and related intangible assets may not be recoverable When indicators of potential impairment suggest
that the carrying

value of real estate and related intangible assets and liabilities may not be recoverable we assess the recoverability of the assets

by estimating whether we will recover the carrying value of the asset through its undiscounted future cash flows and its

eventual disposition Based on this analysis if we do not believe that we will be able to recover the carrying value of the real

estate and related intangible assets and liabilities we record an impairment loss to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the

estimated fair value of the real estate and related intangible assets and liabilities If any assumptions projections or estimates

regarding an asset changes in the future we may have to record an impairment to reduce the net book value of such individual

asset

Rents and Other Receivables

We will periodically evaluate the collectability of amounts due from tenants and maintain an allowance for doubtful

accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of tenants to make required payments under lease agreements We

exercise judgment in establishing these allowances and consider payment history and current credit status of tenants in

developing these estimates Due to the short-term nature of the operating leases we do not maintain an allowance for deferred

rent receivable related to the straight-lining of rents

Revenue Recognition

We lease apartment
and condominium units under operating leases with terms generally of one year or less Generally

credit investigations are performed for prospective
residents and security deposits are obtained We will recognize minimum

rent including rental abatements concessions and contractual fixed increases attributable to operating leases on straight-line

basis over the term of the related lease and amounts expected to be received in later years
will be recorded as deferred rents We

record property operating expense reimbursements due from tenants for common area maintenance real estate taxes and other

recoverable costs in the period the related expenses are incurred

We recognize gains on sales of real estate either in total or deferred for period of time depending on whether sale has

been consummated the extent of the buyers investment in the property being sold whether the receivable is subject to future

subordination and the degree of our continuing involvement with the property after the sale If the criteria for profit recognition
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under the full-accrual method are not met we will defer gain recognition and account for the continued operations of the
property by applying the

percentage-of-completion reduced profit deposit installment or cost recovery method as appropriate
until the appropriate criteria are met

Fair Value Measurements

Under GAAP we are required to measure certain financial instruments at fair value on recurring basis In addition we are
required to measure other assets and liabilities at fair value on non-recurring basis e.g carrying value of impaired real estate
loans receivable and long-lived assets Fair value is defined as the price that would be received upon the sale of an asset or
paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date The GAAP fair value
framework uses three-tiered approach Fair value measurements are classified and disclosed in one of the following three
categories

Level
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or
liabilities

Level
quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active and model-derived valuations in which significant inputs and significant value
drivers are observable in active markets and

Level
prices or valuation

techniques where little or no market data is available that
requires inputs that are both

significant to the fair value measurement and unobsŁrvable

When available we utilize quoted market prices from an independent third-party source to determine fair value and will

classify such items in Level or Level in instances where the market is not active regardless of the
availability of

nonbinding quoted market price observable inputs might not be relevant and could require us to make significant adjustment
to derive fair value measurement Additionally in an inactive market market price quoted from an independent third partymay rely more on models with inputs based on information available only to that independent third party When we determine
the market for financial instrument we own to be illiquid or when market transactions for similar instruments do not appear
orderly we use several valuation sources including internal valuations discounted cash flow analysis and quoted market
prices and we will establish fair value by assigning weights to the various valuation sources

Changes in assumptions or estimation methodologies can have material effect on these estimated fair values In this

regard the derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and in many cases maynot be realized in an immediate settlement of the instrument

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We amortize the fair value of stock-based compensation awards to
expense over the vesting period and record any dividend

equivalents earned as dividends for financial reporting purposes Stock-based compensation awards are valued at the fair value
on the date of grant and amortized as an expense over the vesting period

Organization and Offering Costs

Organization and offering expenses include all
expenses other than sales commissions and related dealer manager fees

paid by us in connection with our initial public offering and our private offering inclUding legal accounting printing mailingand filing fees charges of our transfer agent expenses of organizing us data processing fees advertising and sales literature

costs transfer agent costs bona fide
out-of-pocket due diligence costs and amounts to reimburse our advisor or its affiliates for

the salaries of its employees and other costs in connection with
preparing supplemental sales materials and providing other

administrative services

We may also reimburse costs of bona fide
training and education meetings held by us primarily travel meal and lodging

costs of registered representatives of
broker-dealers attendance and

sponsorship fees and cost reimbursement of employees of
our affiliates to attend seminars conducted by broker-dealers and in certain cases reimbursement to participating broker-
dealers for technology costs associated with our initial public offering costs and expenses related to such technology costs and
costs and expenses associated with the facilitation of the marketing of our shares and the ownership of our shares by such
broker-dealers customers provided however that we will not pay any of the foregoing costs to the extent that such payment
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would cause total underwriting compensation for our initial public offering to exceed 10% of the gross proceeds of our initial

public offering as required by the rules of FINRA

We are obligated to reimburse our advisor the dealer manager or their affiliates as applicable for organization and offering

costs paid by them on our behalf provided that the advisor would be obligated to reimburse us to the extent selling

commissions dealer manager fees and organization and offering costs incurred by us in our initial public offering exceed 15%

of the gross offering proceeds of our initial public offering Any reimbursement of expense paid to our advisor will not exceed

actual expenses incurred by our advisor

Reimbursements to our advisor or our affiliates for offering costs paid by them on our behalf with respect to our private

offering are not limited to 15% of the
gross offering proceeds of our private offering However we will not make

reimbursements of offering costs in excess of 15% of the gross offering proceeds of our private offering unless approval is

obtained from our independent directors The independent directors have not approved the reimbursement of such excess costs

from our private offering Accordingly we have not accrued for the reimbursement of organization and offering costs of the

private offering in excess of 15% of gross offering proceeds raised in the private offering until such time as these costs are

approved by the independent directors

Income Taxes

We have elected to be taxed as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code beginning with the tax year ending December 31

2010 To qualify as REIT we must meet certain organizational and operational requirements including the requirement to

distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income to our stockholders which is computed without regard to the

dividends paid deduction or net capital gain and which does not necessarily equal net income as calculated in accordance with

GAAP As REIT we generally will not be subject to federal income tax to the extent we distribute qualifying dividends to

our stockholders If we fail to qualify as REIT in any taxable year after the taxable year in which we initially elect to be taxed

as REIT we will be subject to federal income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate income tax rates and generally

will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as REIT for federal income tax purposes for the four taxable years following the

year during which qualification is lost unless the Internal Revenue Service grants us relief under certain statutory provisions

Such an event could materially adversely affect our net income and net cash available for distribution to our stockholders

However we believe we are organized and operate in such manner as to qualify for treatment as REIT

We follow the income tax guidance under GAAP to recognize measure present and disclose in our consolidated financial

statements uncertain tax positions that we have taken or expect to take on tax return As of December 31 2012 and 2011 we

did not have any liabilities for uncertain tax positions that we believe should be recognized in our consolidated financial

statements We have not been assessed interest or penalties by any major tax jurisdictions Our evaluation was performed for

the tax years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011 As of December 31 2012 returns for calendar years

2011 and 2010 remain

subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions

Subsequent Events

Acquisition of Multifamily Properties

Vantage at Fair Oaks

On January 31 2013 we acquired fee simple interest in 288-unit multifamily residential property
located in Fair Oaks

Ranch Texas commonly known as Vantage at Fair Oaks or the Fair Oaks property Immediately upon acquisition we initiated

the process to change the name of the Vantage at Fair Oaks property to Fairmarc Apartments On March 2013 we changed

the name of Fairmarc Apartments to The Hills at Fair Oaks As result the Fair Oaks property will now be commonly

referred to as The Hills at Fair Oaks

We acquired the Fair Oaks property for an aggregate purchase price of $34560000 exclusive of closing costs We financed

the payment of the purchase price for Fair Oaks property
with combination of proceeds from our ongoing public offering

and loan in the aggregate principal amount of $24767000 from PNC Bank National Association national banking

association pursuant to the requirements of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Freddie Mac Capital Markets

Execution Program An acquisition fee of approximately $700000 was earned by our advisor in connection with the acquisition

of Fair Oaks property
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Libraiy Lofts East

On February 28 2013 we acquired fee simple interest in 118-unit multifamily residential property with 17000 square

feet of commercial space located in Kansas City Missouri commonly known as Library Lofts East or the Library Lofts

property

We acquired the Library Lofts property for an aggregate purchase price of $12750000 exclusive of closing ôosts We
funded the payment of the purchase price for the Library Lofts property with proceeds from our ongoing public offering We
intend to obtain mortgage financing on the Library Lofts property under normal and customary terms and conditions in the

future An acquisition fee of approximately $260000 was earned by our advisor in connection with the acquisition of the

Library Lofts property

Distributions Paid

On January 2013 we paid distributions of $1343399 which related to distributions declared for each day in the period

from December 2012 through December 31 2012 and consisted of cash distributions paid in the amount of $776559 and

$566840 in shares issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan

On February 2013 we paid distributions of $1439323 which related to distributions declared for each day in the period

from January 2013 through January 31 2013 and consisted of cash distributions paid in the amount of $829194 and

$610129 in shares issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan

On March 2013 we paid distributions of $1385121 which related to distributions declared for each day in the period

from February 2013 through February 28 2013 and consisted of cash distributions paid in the amount of $796795 and

$588326 in shares issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan

Share Redemptions

On January 31 2013 we redeemed 28842 shares of our common stock for total redemption value of $269651 or $9.35

per share pursuant to our share repurchase plan

Renewal of the Advisory Agreement

On March 13 2013 we entered into Amendment No to our amended and restated advisory agreement in order to renew
the term of the advisory agreement effective May 2013 for an additional one year term ending on May 2014

Status of Our Offtring

We commenced our initial public offering on July 19 2010 As of March 22 2013 we had sold 26701101 shares of

common stock in our public offering for gross proceeds of $267812851 including 575190 shares of common stock issued

pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan for gross offering proceeds of $5539778 As of March 22 2013 we had sold

total of 27314130 shares of our common stock in our private offering and public offering representing gross proceeds of

$273438807 including 575190 shares of common stock issued pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan for
gross

offering proceeds of $5539778
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ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We may be exposed to the effects of interest rate changes as result of borrowings used to maintain liquidity and to fund the

acquisition expansion and refinancing of our real estate investment portfolio and operations We may be also exposed to the

effects of changes in interest rates as result of the acquisition and origination
of mortgage mezzanine bridge and other loans

Our profitability
and the value of our investment portfolio may be adversely affected during any period as result of interest

rate changes Our interest rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings

prepayment penalties and cash flows and to lower overall borrowing costs We have managed and will continue to manage

interest rate risk by maintaining ratio of fixed rate long-term debt such that floating rate exposure
is kept at an acceptable

level In addition we may utilize variety of financial instruments including interest rate caps collars floors and swap

agreements in order to limit the effects of changes in interest rates on our operations When we use these types of derivatives to

hedge the risk of interest-earning assets or interest-bearing liabilities we may be subject to certain risks including the risk that

losses on hedge position will reduce the funds available for payments to holders of our common stock and that the losses may

exceed the amount we invested in the instruments

We borrow funds and make investments at combination of fixed and variable rates Interest rate fluctuations will generally

not affect our future earnings or cash flows on our fixed rate debt unless such instruments mature or are otherwise terminated

However interest rate changes will affect the fair value of our fixed rate instruments At December 31 2012 the fair value of

our fixed rate debt was $353947202 and the carrying value of our fixed rate debt was $352040388 The fair value estimate of

our fixed rate debt was estimated using discounted cash flow analysis utilizing rates we would expect to pay for debt of

similar type and remaining maturity if the loans were originated at December 31 2012 As we expect to hold our fixed rate

instruments to maturity and the amounts due under such instruments would be limited to the outstanding principal balance and

any accrued and unpaid interest we do not expect that fluctuations in interest rates and the resulting change in fair value of our

fixed rate instruments would have significant impact on our operations

Conversely movements in interest rates on our variable rate debt would change our future earnings and cash flows but not

significantly affect the fair value of those instruments However changes in required risk premiums would result in changes in

the fair value of floating rate instruments At December 31 2012 we were exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in

interest rates on $61762000 of our outstanding variable rate debt Based on interest rates as of December 31 2012 if interest

rates are 100 basis points higher during the 12 months ending December 31 2013 interest expense on our variable rate debt

would increase by $575313 and if interest rates are 100 basis points lower during the 12 months ending December 31 2013

interest expense on our variable rate debt would decrease by $111 616

At December 31 2012 the weighted-average interest rate of our fixed rate debt and variable rate debt was 4.12% and

71% respectively The weighted average
interest rate represents the actual mterest rate in effect at December 31 2012

consisting of the contractual interest rate using interest rate indices as of December 31 2012 where applicable

ITEM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our consolidated financial statements and supplementary data can be found beginning at page F-i of this annual report

ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None
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ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this annual report management including our chief executive officer and principal

financial officer evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures Based upon
and as of the date of the evaluation our chief executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that the disclosure

controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report to ensure that information

required to be disclosed in the reports we file and submit under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and

reported as and when required Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation controls and procedures

designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file and submit under the Exchange Act is

accumulated and communicated to our management including our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer as

appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as such

term is defined in Rule 3a- 15f or 5d- 15f promulgated under the Exchange Act

In connection with the preparation of this annual report our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2012 In making that assessment our management used the criteria set forth by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework

Based on its assessment our management believes that as of December 31 2012 our internal control over financial

reporting was effective based on those criteria There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the quarter ended December 31 2012 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially

affect our internal control over financial reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

On March 27 2013 we issued press release announcing our financial results for the
year ended December 31 2012

copy of the
press release is attached as Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Exhibit 99.1 attached hereto pertaining to our financial results shall not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the

Exchange Act nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act except as shall be

expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our directors and executive officers and their respective positions and offices are as follows

Name Age
Position

Rodney Emery 62 Chairman of the Board and thief Executive Officer

Ella Shaw Neyland 59 Affiliated Director and President

Kevin Keating 50 Treasurer

Ana Marie del Rio 58 Secretary

James Shepherdson 60 Affiliated Director

Scot Barker 64 Independent Director

Larry Dale 67 Independent Director

Kerry Dean Vandell 66 Independent Director

Ned Brines 51 Independent Director

Rodney Emery serves as our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer positions he has held since our

inception in May 2009 Mr Emery is the founder of Steadfast Companies and is responsible for the corporate vision strategy

and overall guidance of the operations of Steadfast Companies Mr Emery chairs the Steadfast Executive Committee which

establishes policy and strategy and acts as the general oversight committee of Steadfast Companies Mr Emery also serves on

the Steadfast Companies Investment Committee Prior to founding Steadfast Companies in 1994 Mr Emery served for

17 years as the President of Cove Properties diversified commercial real estate firm specializing in property-management

construction and development with specialty in industrial properties Mr Emery received Bachelor of Science in Accounting

from the University of Southern California and serves on the board of directors of several non-profit organizations

Our board of directors excluding Mr Emery has determined that the leadership positions previously and currently held by

Mr Emery and Mr Emerys extensive experience acquiring financing developing and managing hotel multifamily office and

retail real estate assets throughout the country have provided Mr Emery with the experience skills and attributes necessary to

effectively carry out his duties and responsibilities as director Consequently our board of directors has determined that

Mr Emery is highly qualified candidate for directorship and should therefore continue to serve as one of our directors

Ella Shaw Neyland serves as our President and an affiliated-director positions she has held since October 2012 Ms

Neyland has also served as one of our independent directors position she held from October 2011 to September 2012

Ms Neyland was founder and previously served as Chief Financial Officer for Thin Centers MD or TCMD which provides

medically supervised weight loss programs Prior to founding TCMD in June 2010 Ms Neyland was founder of

Santa Barbara Medical Innovations LLC privately owned company that owns and leases low-level lasers to medical groups

and served as its Chief Financial Officer from June 2009 to February 2011 From October 2004 to December 2008

Ms Neyland was financial advisor and an owner of Montecito Medical Investment Company private real estate acquisition

and development company headquartered in Santa Barbara California While with Montecito Medical Investment Company

Ms Neyland advised the company in the acquisition of 43 medical properties with over two million square feet of space in

13 states and advised the affiliate company Montecito Property Company in the acquisition of 8300 apartments
in 29

communities From April 2001 to September 2004 Ms Neyland served as the Executive Vice President Treasurer and Investor

Relations Officer of United Dominion Realty Trust Inc where she was responsible for capital market transactions banking

relationships and presentations to investors and Wall Street analysts Ms Neyland also served as voting member of the

Investment Committee of United Dominion Realty Trust Inc that approved the repositioning
of over $3 billion of investments

Prior to working at United Dominion Realty Trust Inc Ms Neyland served as the ChiefFinancial Officer at Sunrise Housing

LTD privately owned apartment development company from November 1999 to March 2001 Ms Neyland also served as
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Executive Director of CIBC World Markets which provides investment research and corporate banking products from

November 1997 to October 1999 From July 1990 to October 1997 Ms Neyland served as the Senior Vice President of Finance

and the Vice President of Troubled Debt Restructures/Finance for the Lincoln Property Company commercial real estate

development and management company From November 1989 to July 1990 Ms Neyland was the Vice President/Portfolio

Manager at Bonnet Resources Corporation subsidiary of BancOne Prior to her employment at Bonnet Resources

Corporation Ms Neyland served on the board of directors and as the Senior Vice President/Director of Commercial Real Estate

Lending at Commerce Savings Association subsidiary of the publicly held American Century Corporation from May 1983 to

March 1989 Ms Neyland received Bachelor of Science in Finance from Trinity University in San Antonio Texas

Our board of directors excluding Ms Neyland has determined that Ms Neylands prior service as director and as chief

financial officer have provided Ms Neyland with the experience skills and attributes necessary to effectively carry out her

duties and responsibilities as director Consequently our board of directors has determined that Ms Neyland is highly

qualified candidate for directorship and should therefore continue to serve as one of our directors

Kevin Keating serves as our Treasurer position he has held since April 2011 Mr
Keating has also served as the Chief

Accounting Officer for our advisor since April 2011 where he has focused primarily on the accounting function and compliance

responsibilities for us and our advisor Prior to joining us and our advisor Mr Keating served as Senior Audit Manager with

BDO USA LLP formerly BDO Seidman LLP an accounting and audit firm from June 2006 to January 2011 From
June 2004 to June 2006 Mr Keating served as Vice President and Corporate Controller of Endocare Inc medical device

manufacturer Mr Keating has extensive experience working with public companies and served as an Assistant Controller and

Audit Manager for Ernst Young LLP from 1988-1999 Mr Keating holds Bachelor of Science Accounting from St Johns

University and is certified public accountant

Ana Marie del Rio serves as our Secretary and Compliance Officer positions she has held since our inception in May 2009
Ms del Rio also serves as the Chief Operating Officer for Steadfast Companies Ms del Rio manages the Human Resources
Information Technology and Legal Services Departments for Steadfast Companies and is responsible for risk management and

company-wide communications She also works closely with Steadfast Management Company Inc in the management and

operation of Steadfast Companies residential units especially in the area of compliance Prior to joining Steadfast Companies
in April 2003 Ms del Rio was partner in the public finance group at Orrick Herrington Sutcliffe LLP where she practiced
from September 1993 to April2003 representing both issuers and underwriters in financing single-family and multifamily

housing transportation projects and other types of public-private and redevelopment projects From 1979 to 1993 Ms del Rio

co-owned and operated campaign consulting and research company specializing in local campaigns and ballot measures Ms
del Rio received Juris Doctor from the University of the Pacific McGeorge School of Law and received Master of Public

Administration and Bachelor of Arts from the University of Southern California

James Shepherdson serves as one of our affiliated directors position he has held since August 2011 Mr Shepherdson
has served as member of the Board of Managers of Steadfast Capital Markets Group LLC since February 2011 and has

worked in the investment industry for over 30 years Mr Shepherdson also serves as Manager of Crossroads Capital

Advisors LLC and its parent Crossroads Capital Group LLC since August 2009 and April 2011 respectively

Mr Shepherdson served as President of Retirement Services and Senior Executive Vice-President of AXA Equitable Life

Insurance Company or AXA Equitable from August 2005 to March 2011 Mr Shepherdson had overall responsibility for AXA
Equitables retirement and annuity business which included wholesale distribution through AXA Distributors the company
Mr Shepherdson co-founded in 1996 While serving as President and Chief Executive Officer of AXA Equitable from August
2005 to March 2011 Mr Shepherdson oversaw over $30 billion in sales From September 2009 to November 2011
Mr Shepherdson also served as Chairman of AXA Life Europe and Chief Executive Officer of AXA Global Distributors where

he distributed proprietary annuity products through global and national banking institutions throughout Europe
Mr Shepherdson served as President and Chief Executive Officer of John Hancock Funds vertically integrated mutual fund

company from May 2004 to July 2005 Mr Shepherdson served as co-Chief Executive Officer of MetLife Investors from April
2000 to June 2002 Mr Shepherdson received Master of Business Administration degree with honors and Bachelor of

Science in Business Administration from the University of Southern California Mr Shepherdson holds FINRA Series 22 26
39 and licenses
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Our board of directors excluding Mr Shepherdson has determined that the prior leadership positions which

Mr Shepherdson has heldand Mr Shepherdsons extensive experience in the investment industry provided Mr Shepherdson

with the experience skills and attributes necessary to effectively carry out his duties and responsibilities as director

Consequently our board of directors has determined that Mr Shepherdson is highly qualified candidate for directorship and

should therefore continue to serve as one of our directors

Scot Barker serves as one of our independent directors position he has held since September 2009 From December

2003 to his retirement in December 2005 Mr Barker served as President and Chief Operating Officer of GMAC Commercial

Holding Corp or GMACCH one of the nations largest financiers of commercial real estate Mr Barker served as President of

GMACCH Capital Markets Corp from 1998 to December 2003 During his tenure at GMACCH Mr Barker oversaw the firms

real estate lending and investing activities in North America Latin America Asia and Europe In 1978 Mr Barker and several

associates formed Newman and Associates Inc an investment bankmg firm specializing in financing affordable multifamily

housing with tax exempt municipal securities Mr Barker served as Vice-President of Newman and Associates Inc from 1978

to 1984 and as President from 1984 to 1998 when Newman and Associates was acquired by GMACCH Prior to founding

Newman and Associates Inc Mr Barker served as Vice-President with Gerwin Co from 1973 to 1978 Mr Barker has been

involved in variety of professional and not-for-profit groups primarily focused on housingrelated business Mr Barker

currently serves on the board of directors of Mountain Asset Management wholly-owned subsidiary of The Great-West Life

Assurance Company the Rocky Mountain Mutual Housing Association and the Colorado Housing Assistance Corporation

where he was past chairman Mr Barker was past president of the National Housing and Rehabilitation Association and

past member of the Federal National Mortgage Association Fannie Mae Housing Impact Advisory Council Mr Barker

received Bachelor of Arts from Colorado College and Master of Business Administration from the University of Denver

Our board of directors excluding Mr Barker has determined that the prior leadership positions which Mr Barker has held

and Mr Barkers extensive experience with the financing of commercial real estate and multifamily housing have provided

Mr Barker with the experience skills and attributes necessary to effectively carry out his duties and responsibilities as

director Consequently our board of directors has determined that Mr Barker is highly qualified candidate for directorship

and should therefore continue to serve as one of our directors

Larry Dale serves as one of our independent directors position he has held since September 2009 In March 2009

Mr Dale retired as Managing Director of Citi Community Capital or CCC leading investment banking group specializing

in affordable housing financing and division of Citigroup Municipal Securities Division where Mr Dale was responsible for

the overall management and oversight of the operation of the division As an employee of CCC Mr Dale was involved in

lending decisions and equity sales with us Mr Dale joined the predecessor company to CCC in 1997 From July 1987 to

January 1997 Mr Dale served as Senior Vice President of Fannie Mae leading its apartment financing and affordable

housing efforts Prior to joining Fannie Mae Mr Dale served from 1984 to 1987 as Vice President of Newman and Associates

Inc an investment banking firm focused on financing affordable multifamily housing with tax exempt municipal securities

Prior to joining Newman and Associates Mr Dale served from 1981 to 1983 as President of Mid-City Financial Corporation

regional multifamily development financing and management firm From 1971 to 1981 Mr Dale was employed by the

U.S Department of Housing and Urban Development HUD including service as Deputy to the Assistant Secretary for

Housing/FHA Commissioner from 1979 to 1981 Mr Dale currently serves as Chairman of the Board of the National Equity

Fund member of the Board of the Community Preservation and Development Corporation Chairman of the Finance

Committee of Mercy Housing Incorporateds Board of Trustees member of the board of directors and the Executive

Committee of the Local Initiative Support Corporation and member of the Advisory Board of the Paramount Community

Development Fund the Capmark Community Development Fund and the Community Impact NMTC Advisory Board

Mr Dale received Bachelor of Science in Materials Science from Cornell University and Master of Political Science from

the Maxwell School at Syracuse University

Our board of directors excluding Mr Dale has determined that the prior leadership positions which Mr Dale has held and

Mr Dales extensive experience in financing multifamily housing have provided Mr Dale with the experience skills and

attributes necessary to effectively cany out his duties and responsibilities as director Consequently our board of directors has

determined that Mr Dale is highly qualified candidate for directorship and should therefore continue to serve as one of our

directors
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Kerry Dean Vandell serves as one of our independent directors position he has held since October 2012 Dr Vandell

currently serves as the Deans Professor of Finance and Director of the Center for Real Estate at the Paul Merage School of

Business at the University of California-Irvine UCI having joined UCI in July 2006 He also has held courtesy appointments

at UCIs School of Law and the Department of Planning Policy and Design in the School of Social Ecology since 2008

Before joining UCI Dr Vandell was on the faculty of the University of Wisconsin-Madison for 17 years 1989-2006 where he

served as the Tiefenthaler Chaired Professor of Real Estate and Urban Land Economics the Director of the Center for Urban

Land Economics Research and the Chairman of the Department of Real Estate and Urban Land Economics His first academic

appointment was at Southern Methodist University 1976-1989 where he ultimately served as Professor and Chairman of the

Department of Real Estate and Regional Science Dr Vandell received his Ph.D from the Massachusetts Institute of

Technology in Urban Studies and Planning his M.C.P in City and Regional Planning from Harvard University and his

undergraduate and masters degrees in Mechanical Engineering from Rice University He has authored or co-authored over 70

publications and has been invited to provide numerous presentations on the topics of finance economics and real estate Dr

Vandell currently serves on the board of directors of Shopoff Properties Trust Inc public non-traded real estate investment

trust specializing in land investments

Our board of directors excluding Dr Vandell has determined that Dr Vandells prior position as finance professor and his

real estate program experience have provided Dr Vandell with the experience skills and attributes necessary to effectively

carry out his duties and responsibilities as director Consequently our board of directors has determined that Dr Vandell is

highly qualified candidate for directorship and should therefore continue to serve as one of our directors

Ned Brines serves as one of our independent directors position he has held since October 2012 Mr Brines currently

serves as the ChiefInvestment Officer for the CitizenTrust Wealth Management and Trust division of Citizens Business Bank

position he has held since July 2012 where Mr Brines is responsible for the investment management discipline process

products and related sources In addition in September 2008 Mr Brines founded Montelena Asset Management California

based registered investment advisor firm and currently serves as its Chief Investment Officer From June 2010 to July 2012

Mr Brines served as portfolio manager for Andell Holdings private family office with significant and diversified holdings

From May 2001 to September 2008 Mr Brines served as Senior Vice President and senior portfolio manager with Provident

Investment Counsel in Pasadena managing their Small Cap Growth Fund with $1.6 billion in assets under management AUM
Mr Brines was with Roger Engemann Associate in Pasadena from September 1994 to March 2001 in which he served as

both an analyst and portfolio manager for their mid cap mutual fund and large cap Private Client business as the firm grew.from

$3 billion to over $19 billion in AUM Mr Brines earned Master of Business Administration degree from the University of

Southern California and Bachelor of Science degree from San Diego State University Mr Brines also holds the Chartered

Financial Analyst CFA designation and is involved in various community activities including serving on the investment

committee of City of Hope

Our board of directors excluding Mr Brines has determined that Mr Brines prior service as director and as chief

investment officer have provided Mr Brines with the experience skills and attributes necessary to effectively carry out his

duties and responsibilities as director Consequently our board of directors has determined that Mr Brines is highly

qualified candidate for directorship and should therefore continue to serve as one of our directors

The Audit Committee

Our board of directors has established an audit committee The audit committees function is to assist our board of directors

in fulfilling its responsibilities by overseeing the integrity of our financial statements our compliance with legal and

regulatory requirements our independent auditors qualifications and independence and the performance of the

independent auditors and our internal audit function The members of the audit committee are Scot Barker Larry Dale

and Kerry Dean Vandell All of the members of the audit committee are independent as defined by our charter Our shares

are not listed for trading on any national securities exchange and therefore our audit committee members are not subject to the

independence requirements of the New York Stock Exchange or NYSE or any other national securities exchange However

each member of our audit committee is independent as defined by the NYSE All members of the audit committee have

significant financial andlor accounting experience Our board of directors has determined that Dr Vandell satisfies the SECs

requirements for and serves as our audit committee financial expert
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Investment Committee

Our board of directors has delegated to the investment committee certain responsibilities with respect to investment in

specific investments proposed by ouradvisor and the authority to review our investment policies and procedures on an

ongoing basis The investment committee must at all times be comprised of at least three members majority of whom must be

independent directors The current members of the investment committee are Rodney Emery Scot Barker Larry Dale

Ella Shaw Neyland and Ned Brines with Mr Emery serving as the chairman of the investment committee

With respect to investments the investment committee has the authority to approve all real property acquisitions

developments and dispositions including real property portfolio acquisitions developments and dispositions as well as all real

estate-related investments and all investments consistent with our investment objectives for purchase price total project cost

or sales price of up to 10% of the cost of our net assets as of the date of investment

Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16a of the Exchange Act requires each director officer and individual beneficially owning more than 10% of our

common stock to file with the SEC within specified time frames initial statements of beneficial ownership Form of our

common stock and statements of changes in beneficial ownership Forms and of our common stock These specified time

frames require the reporting of changes in ownership within two business days of the transaction giving rise to the reporting

obligation Reporting persons are required to furnish us withcopies of all Section 16a forms filed with the SEC Based solely

on review of the copies of such forms furnished to us during and with respect to the fiscal year ended December 31 2012 or

written representations that no additional forms were required we believe that all required Section 16a filings were timely and

correctly made by reporting persons during 2012

Code of Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted Code of Ethics that applies to all of our executive officers and directors including but not limited to our

principal executive officer principal financial officer and principal accounting officer Our Code of Ethics can be found at our

website http//www.steadfastreits.com

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation of Executive Officers

Our executive officers do not receive compensation directly from us for services rendered to us and we do not intend to pay

any compensation to our executive officers We do not reimburse our advisor directly or indirectly for the salary or other

compensation paid to any of our executive officers As result we do not nor has our board of directors considered

compensation policy for our executive officers and we have not included Compensation and Discussion Analysis in this

annual report Our executive officers are officers and/or employees of or hold an indirect ownership interest in our advisor

and/or its affiliates and our executive officers are compensated by these entities in partfor their services to us See Item 13

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director IndependenceCertain Transactions with Related Persons for

discussion of the fees paid to our advisor and its affiliates

Compensation of Directors

If director is also one of our executive officers or an affiliate of our advisor we do not pay any compensation to that

person for services rendered as director The amount and form of compensation payable to our independent directors for their

service to us is determined by our board of directors based upon recommendations from our advisor Four of our executive

officers Messrs Rodney Emery and Kevin Keating and Mses Ana Marie del Rio and Ella Neyland manage control or are

affiliated with our advisor and through our advisor they are involved in recommending and setting the compensation to be paid

to our independent directors
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We have provided below certain information regarding compensation earned by or paid to our directors during fiscal
year

December 31 2012

Fees Earned or All Other

Name Paid in Cash in 2012 Compensation Total

WS
Larry Dale2 99000 24329 123329

i4$61 42311

Ned Brines2X3 25250 14561 39811

Ella ShawNeyland4X5 81250 19328 100578

1od$yF ler

The amounts shown in this column reflect the aggregate fair value of shares of restricted stock granted under our

independent directors compensation plan computed as of the grant date in accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718

Independent Directors

Dr Vandell and Mr Brines have each served as independent directors since October 2012

Directors who are also our executive officers or executive officers of our affiliates do not receive compensation for

services rendered as director

Ms Neyland was initially elected to our board of directors on October 24 2011 Effective October 2012 Ms
Neyland was appointed as our President and is therefore considered an affiliated director as of such date As an

affiliated director Ms Neyland will not receive any further compensation for her services as director

Cash Compensation

We pay each of our independent directors

an annual retainer of $65000 the audit committee chairperson receives an initial $10000 annual retainer

$3000 for each in-person board of directors meeting attended

$2000 for each in-person committee meeting attended and

$1000 for each teleconference meeting of the board of directors or committee

Equity Plan Compensation

We have approved and adopted an independent directors compensation plan which operates as sub-plan of our long-term

incentive plan Under the independent directors compensation plan and subject to such plans conditions and restrictions each

of our current independent directors is entitled to receive 5000 shares of restricted common stock in connection with the initial

meeting of the full board of directors Our initial board of directors and each of the independent directors agreed to delay the

initial grant of restricted stock until we raised $2000000 in gross offering proceeds Going forward each new independent

director that joins our board of directors receives 5000 shares of restricted common stock upon election to our board of

directors In addition on the date following an independent directors re-election to our board of directors he or she receives

2500 shares of restricted common stock The shares of restricted common stock granted pursuant to our independent directors

compensation plan generally vest in four equal annual installments beginning on the date of grant and ending on the third

anniversary of the date of grant provided however that the restricted stock will become fully vested on the earlier to occur of

the termination of the independent directors service as director due to his or her death or disability or change in

control

On November 15 2012 we entered into Stock Purchase Plan with Ella Shaw Neyland our President and member of our

board of directors whereby Ms Neyland has agreed to invest $5529.60 for 600 shares of our common stock pursuant to our
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public offering on the first day of each fiscal quarter Please refer to Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and

Director Independence Certain Transactions with Related Persons for more information

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

We currently do not have compensation committee of our board of directors because we do not pay or plan to pay any

compensation to our officers There are no interlocks or insider participation as to compensation decisions required to be

disclosed pursuant to SEC regulations

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND

RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information about our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options warrants

and rights under our incentive award plan as of December 31 2012

Number of Securities to Weighted-Average Number of Securities

be Issued Upon Exercise Exercise Price of Remaining Available for

of Outstanding Options Outstanding Options Future Issuance Under

Warrants and Rights Warrants and Compensation Plans

Equity compensation pians not

approved by security holders N/A N/A N/A

73



Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

Rodney Emeryt3 22223

Scot Barker 27052

Larry Dale i3O00

Keiiy Dean Vandell 5153

Ned Brines 5153

Ella Shaw Neyland 8100

James Shepherdson

Kevin Keating

Ana Made dcl Rio 2302

All officers and directors as group 82983

Less than 1% of the outstanding common stock

The address of each named beneficial owner is do Steadfast Income REIT Inc 18100 Von Karman Avenue Suite

500 Irvine CA 92612

None of the shares are pledged as security

Consists of 22223 shares owned by Steadfast REIT Investments LLC which is primarily indirectly owned and

controlled by Rodney Emery

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Certain Transactions with Related Persons

The following describes all transactions during the period from January 2011 to December 31 2012 involving us our

directors our advisor our sponsor and any affiliate thereof and all such proposed transactions See also Note Related Party

Arrangements to the consolidated financial statements included in this annual report Our independent directors are specifically

charged with and have examined the fairness of such transactions to our stockholders and have determined that all such

transactions are fair and reasonable to us

Ownership Interests

On June 12 2009 our sponsor Steadfast REIT Investments LLC purchased 22223 shares of our common stock for an

aggregate purchase price of $200007 and was admitted as our initial stockholder Our sponsor is majority owned and controlled

indirectly by Rodney Emery our chairman and chief executive officer On July 10 2009 our advisor purchased 1000 shares

of our convertible stock for an aggregate purchase price of $1000 As of December 31 2012 and 2011 our advisor owned

100% of our outstanding convertible stock We are the general partner of our operating partnership and our advisor has made

$1000 capital contribution to our operating partnership as the initial limited partner

The following table shows as of March 22 2013 the amount of our common stock beneficially owned unless otherwise

indicated by any person who is known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our

common stock our directors our executive officers and all of our directors and executive officers as group

Amount and Nature of

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner1 Beneficial Ownership2 Percentage
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Our convertible stock will convert into shares of our common stock if and when we have made total distributions on the

then outstanding shares of our common stock equal to the original issue price of those shares plus an 8.0% cumulative non-

compounded annual return on the original issue price of those shares we list our common stock for trading on national

securities exchange or our advisory agreement is terminated or not renewed other than for cause as defined in our

advisory agreement In the event of termination or non-renewal of our advisory agreement for cause the convertible stock

will be redeemed by us for $1.00 In general each share of our convertible stock will convert into number of shares of

common stock equal to 1/1000 of the quotient of 10% of the excess of our enterprise value as defined in our charter

plus the aggregate value of distributions paid to date on the then outstanding shares of our common stock over the aggregate

purchase price paid by stockholders for those outstanding shares of common stock plus an 8.0% cumulative non-compounded

armual return on the original issue price of those outstanding shares divided by our enterprise value divided by the number

of outstanding shares of common stock on an as-converted basis in each case calculated as of the date of the conversion

Our Relationships with our Advisor and our Sponsor

Steadfast Income Advisor LLC is our advisor and as such supervises and manages our day-to-day operations and selects

our real property investments and real estate-related assets subject to oversight by our board of directors Our advisor also

provides marketing sales and client services on our behalf Our advisor is owned by our sponsor Mr Emery our Chairman of

the Board and Chief Executive Officer indirectly controls our sponsor our advisor and our dealer manager Ms Ana Mane del

Rio our Secretary owns an indirect 7% interest in our sponsor advisor and dealer manager Crossroads Capital Group LLC or

Crossroads Capital Group currently owns 25% membership interest in our sponsor
that will increase upon net increase in

our book capitalization Pursuant to the Second Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of our sponsor effective as of

May 31 2011 all distributions to Crossroads Capital Group are subordinated to distributions to the other member of our

sponsor Steadfast REIT Holdings LLC or Steadfast Holdings until Steadfast Holdings has received an amount equal to

certain expenses including certain organization and offering costs incurred by Steadfast Holdings and its affiliates on our

behalf Mr Shepherdson an affiliated director serves as Manager of Crossroads Capital Advisors LLC subsidiary of

Crossroads Capital Group which we refer to as Crossroads Capital Advisors

All of our other officers and directors other than our independent directors are officers of our advisor and officers limited

partners and/or members of our sponsor
and other affiliates of our advisor

We and our operating partnership have entered into the advisory agreement with our advisor and our operating partnership

which has one-year term expiring May 2013 subject to an unlimited number of successive one-year renewals upon mutual

consent of the parties We may terminate the advisory agreement without cause or penalty upon 60 days written notice and

immediately upon fraud criminal conduct willful misconduct gross negligence or material breach of the advisory agreement

by our advisor or our advisors brankruptcy If we terminate the advisory agreement we will pay our advisor all unpaid

advances for operating expenses and all earned but unpaid fees

Services provided by our advisor under the terms of the advisory agreement include the following

finding presenting and recommending investment opportunities to us consistent with our investment policies and

objectives

making investment decisions for us subject to the limitationsin our charter and the direction and oversight of our

board of directors

structuring the terms and conditions of our investments sales and joint ventures

acquiring investments on our behalf in compliance with our investment objectives and policies

sourcing and structuring our loan originations

arranging for financing and refinancing of investments

entering into service agreements for our loans

supervising and evaluating each loan servicers and property managers performance

reviewing and analyzing the operating and capital budgets of the properties underlying our investments and the

properties we may acquire
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entering into leases and service contracts for our properties

assisting us in obtaining insurance

generating our annual budget

reviewing and analyzing financial information for each of our assets and our overall investment portfolio

formulating and overseeing the implementation of strategies for the administration promotion management financing

and refinancing marketing servicing and disposition of our investments

performing investor relations services

maintaining our accounting and other records and assisting us in filing all reports required to be filed with the SEC the

Internal Revenue Service and other regulatory agencies

engaging and supervising the performance of our agents including our registrar and transfer agent and

performing any other services reasonably requested by us

The above summary is provided to illustrate the material functions that our advisor performs for us as an advisor and is not

intended to include all of the services that may be provided to us by our advisor its affiliates or third parties The advisor has

also entered into Services Agreement with Crossroads Capital Advisors whereby Crossroads Capital Advisors provides

advisory services to us on behalf of our advisor

Fees and Expense Reimbursements Paid to our Advisor

Pursuant to the terms of our advisory agreement we pay our advisor the fees described below

We pay our advisor an acquisition fee of 2.0% of the total cost of investment as defined in connection with the

acquisition or origination of any type of real property or real estate-related asset or our allocable cost of real

property or real estate-related asset acquired in joint venture in each case including purchase price acquisition

expenses and any debt attributable to such investments For the period from January 2011 to December 31 2012 we
incurred acquisition fees of $11191293 in connection with the acquisition of 28 multifamily properties During the

same period we paid $10611846 in acquisition fees and $648422 of the acquisition fees incurred to date have been

deferred pursuant to the terms of the advisory agreement until our cumulative adjusted funds from operations as
defined in the advisory agreement exceed the lesser of the cumulative amount of any distributions paid to our

stockholders as of the date of reimbursement of the deferred fee or cash distributions equal to 7.0% cumulative

non-compounded amiual return on invested capital to our stockholders as of the date of reimbursement

We pay our advisor an annual investment management fee that is payable monthly in an amount equal to one-twelfth

of 0.8% of the cost of all assets we own and of our investments in joint ventures including acquisition fees origination

fees acquisition and origination expenses and any debt attributable to such investments For the period from January

2011 to December 31 2012 we incurred investment management fees to oUr advisor of $2146853 Of the

$2146853 in investment management fees incurred we paid $427963 and $1750731 of such fees have been

deferred pursuant to the terms of the advisory agreement

We pay our advisor disposition fee of 1.5% of the contract sales price of each property sold if our advisor or its

affiliates provides substantial amount of services as determined by our independent directors in connection with the

sale of real property or real estate-related asset With respect to property held in joint venture the foregoing

commission will be reduced to percentage of such amounts reflecting our economic interest in the joint venture For

the period from January 2011 to December 31 2012 we did not pay our advisor any disposition fees

In addition to the fees we pay to our advisor pursuant to the advisory agreement we also reimburse our advisor and its

affiliates for the costs and
expenses described below

We reimburse our advisor and its affiliates for organization and offering expenses for actual legal accounting printing

mailing and filing fees charges of our transfer agent expenses of organizing the company data processing fees

advertising and sales literature costs information technology costs bonafide out of-of-pocket due diligence costs and

other costs in connection with preparing supplemental sales materials and providing other administrative services in
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connection with our offerings Any such reimbursement will not exceed actual expenses incurred by our advisor

After the termination of the initial public offering our advisor has agreed to reimburse us to the extent selling

commissions dealer manager fees and organization and offering expenses borne by us exceed 15% of the gross

proceeds raised in our completed public offering For the period from January 2011 to December31 2012 we paid

our advisor $11564 889 for the reimbursement of organization and offering expenses As of December 31 2012 our

advisor and its affiliates have incurred additional organization and offering costs of $5779140 which are not recorded

in our financial statements as of December 31 2012 because such costs only become liability of ours when shares

are sold and selling commissions the dealer manager fee and other organization and offering costs do not exceed 15%
of gross offering proceeds

Subject to the 2%/25% Guideline discussed below we reimburse our advisor for the cost of administrative services

including personnel costs and our allocable share of other overhead of the advisor such as rent and utilities provided

however that no reimbursement shall be made for costs of such personnel to the extent that personnel are used in

transactions for which our advisor receives an acquisition fee investment management fee or disposition fee or for the

employee costs our advisor pays to our executive officers For the period from
January 2011 to December 31 2012

$788443 waspaid to our advisor for administrative services

We reimburse our advisor for acquisition expenses incurred related to the selection and acquisition of real property

investments and real estate-related investments For the period from January 2011 to December 31 2012 we
reimbursed our advisor $1291912 for acquisition expenses

2%/25% Guidelines

As described above our advisor and its affiliates are entitled to reimbursement of actual expenses incurred for

administrative and other services provided to us for which they do not otherwise receive fee However we will not reimburse

our advisor or its affiliates at the end of any fiscal quarter for total operating expenses that for the four consecutive fiscal

quarters then ended or the expense year exceeded the greater of 2% of our average invested assets or 25% of our net

income which we refer to as the 2%125% Guidelines and our advisor must reimburse us quarterly for any amounts by which

our total operating expenses exceed the 2%/25% Guidelines in the expense year unless our independent directors have

determined that such excess expenses were justified based on unusual and non-recurring factors

For
purposes

of the 2%/25% Guidelinestotal operating expenses means all costs and
expenses paid or incurred by us as

determined under GAAP that are in any way related to our operation or to corporate business including advisory fees but

excluding the expenses of raising capital such as organization and offering expenses legal audit accounting underwriting

brokerage listing registration and other fees printing and other such
expenses and taxes incurred in connection with the

issuance distribution transfer registration and the listing of our shares of common stock interest payments taxes

non-cash expenditures such as depreciation amortization and bad debt reserves incentive fees acquisition fees and

acquisition expenses real estate commissions on the sale of real property and other fees and expenses connected with

the acquisition disposition management and ownership of real estate interests mortgage loans or other property including the

costs of foreclosure insurance premiums legal services maintenance repair and improvement of property

Operating Expense Reimbursement and Guaranty Agreement

On May 25 2011 we entered into an Operating Expense Reimbursement and Guaranty Agreement or the Reimbursement

Agreement which was subsequently amended on December 21 2011 Pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement if on the

earlier of the termination date of our advisory agreement and June 30 2012 in each case such date the Determination

Date our total operating expenses as of March 31 2011 exceeded the 2%/25% Guidelines measured for our entire operating

history through June 30 2012 then our advisor would be required to reimburse us for such excess amount the amount of any
such reimbursement the Determination Date Payment As of June 30 2012 our total operating expenses as of March 31
2011 did not exceed the 2%/25% Guidelines therefore no amount was due from the advisor In connection with the

Reimbursement Agreement our advisor agreed to pay all of our operating expenses beginning April 2011 until such time as

our cumulative operating expenses are below the cumulative 2%/25% Guidelines As of December 31 2012 our cumulative

operating expenses were below the cumulative 2%/25% Guidelines

77



Selling Commissions and Fees Paid to our Dealer Manager

The dealer manager for our ongoing public offering of common stock is Steadfast Capital Markets Group LLC an affiliate

of our sponsor Our dealer manager is licensed broker-dealer registered with FINRA As the dealer manager for our offering

Steadfast Capital Markets Group is entitled to certain selling commissions dealer manager fees and reimbursements relating to

raising capital Our dealer manager agreement with Steadfast Capital Markets Group provides
for the following compensation

We pay our dealer manager selling commissions of up to 6.5% of the
gross offering proceeds

from the sale of our

shares all of which may be reallowed to participating broker-dealers For the period from January 2011 to

December 31 2012 we paid $12921728 in selling commissions to our dealer manager

We pay our dealer manager dealer manager fee of 3.5% of the gross offering proceeds from the sale of our shares

portion of which may be reallowed to participating broker-dealers For the period from January 2011 to

December 31 2012 we paid $7431454 in dealer manager fees to our dealer manager

Property Management Fees Paid to Our Property Manager

We have entered into property management agreements with Steadfast Management Company Inc or the property

manager an affiliate of our sponsor with respect to the management of 28 of our multifamily properties Pursuant to the

management agreements we pay the property manager monthly management fee equal to certain percentage of each

propertys gross revenues as defined in the respective management agreements for each month Each management agreement

has an initial one year
term and will continue thereafter on month-to-month basis unless either party gives prior 60 day notice

of its desire to terminate the management agreement provided that we may terminate the management agreement upon an

uncured breach of the agreement upon 30 days prior written notice to the property manager For the period from January

2011 to December 31 2012 we have paid property management fees of $1017315 to our property manager

Stock Purchase Plan

On November 15 2012 we entered into Stock Purchase Plan or the plan with Ella Shaw Neyland our President and

member of our board of directors whereby Ms Neyland has agreed to invest $5529.60 for 600 shares of our common stock

pursuant to our public offering on the first day of each fiscal quarter The purchase of shares of our common stock by Ms

Neyland pursuant to the plan commenced on January 2013 and will terminate on the earliest to occur of November 15

2013 the termination of our public offering any suspension of our public offering by our board of directors or

regulatory body the date upon which the purchase of stock would cause the aggregate number of shares of stock owned by

Ms Neyland to exceed the ownership limits set forth in our charter or the termination of Ms Neylands employment with

Steadfast REIT Services Inc and its affiliates The shares will be purchased pursuant to the plan at price of $9.2 160 per share

reflecting the elimination of selling commissions and the dealer manager fee in connection with such sales

Currently Proposed Transactions

Other than as described above there are no currently proposed material transactions with related persons other than those

covered by the terms of the agreements described above

Policies and Procedures for Transactions with Related Persons

In order to reduce or eliminate certain potential conflicts of interest our charter and our advisory agreement contain

restrictions and conflict resolution procedures relating to transactions we enter into with our advisor our directors or their

respective affiliates Each of the restrictions and procedures that apply to transactions with our advisor and its affiliates will also

apply to any transaction with any entity or real estate program controlled by our advisor and its affiliates As general rule any

related party transaction must be approved by majority of the directors including majority of independent directors not

otherwise interested in the transaction In determining whether to approve or authorize particular related party transaction

these persons will consider whether the transaction between us and the related party is fair and reasonable to us and has terms

and conditions no less favorable to us than those available from unaffiliated third parties

We have also adopted Code of Ethics that applies to each of our officers and directors which we refer to as covered

persons The Code of Ethics sets forth certain conflicts of interest policies that limit and govern certain matters among us the

covered persons our advisor and their respective affiliates
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Director Independence

Although our shares are not listed for trading on any national secunties exchange majonty of the members of our board of

directors and all of the members of the audit committee are independent as defined by the NYSE The NYSE standards

provide that to qualify as an independent director in addition to satisfying certain bnght line cnteria the board of directors

must affirmatively determine that director has no material relationship with us either directly or as partner stockholder or

officer of an organization that has relationship with us In addition we have determined that these directors are independent

pursuant to the definition of independence in our charter which is based on the definition included in the North American

Securities Administrators Association Inc.s Statement of Policy Regarding Real Estate Investment Trusts as revised and

adopted on May 2007 Our board of directors has determined that Scot Barker Larry Dale Kerry Dean Vandell and

Ned Brines each satisfies the bright-line criteria and that none has relationship with us that would interfere with such persons

ability to exercise independent judgment as member of our board of directors None of these directors has ever served as or is

related to an employee of ours or any of our predecessors or acquired compames or received any compensation from us or any

such other entities except for compensation directly related to service as director Therefore we believe that all of these

directors are independent directors

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

During the
year

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 Ernst Young LLP or Ernst Young served as our independent

registered public accounting firm and provided us certain tax and other services Ernst Young has served as our independent

auditor since our formation

Pre-Approval Policies

The audit committee charter imposes duty on our audit committee to pre-approve all auditing services performed for us by

our independent auditors as well as all permitted non-audit services in order to ensure that the provision of such services does

not impair the auditors independence In determining whether or not to pre-approve services our audit committee will consider

whether the service is permissible service under the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC Our audit committee may

in its discretion delegate to one or more of its members the authority to pre-approve any audit or non-audit services to be

performed by the independent auditors provided any such approval is presented to and approved by the full audit committee at

its next scheduled meeting

All services rendered by Ernst Young for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 were pre-approved in accordance

with the policies and procedures described above

Principal Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees

Our audit committee reviewed the audit and non-audit services performed by Ernst Young as well as the fees charged by

Ernst Young for such services In its review of the non-audit service fees our audit committee considered whether the

provision
of such services is compatible with maintaining the independence of Ernst Young The aggregate

fees billed to us

for professional accounting services including the audit of our annual financial statements by Ernst Young for the
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 are set forth in the table below

20i2 2011

Audit-related fees 181475 146347

All other fees 1.995 1995

1183$
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For purposes of the preceding table Ernst Youngs professional fees are classified as follows

Audit fees These are fees for professional services performed for the audit of our annual financial statements and the

required review of quarterly financial statements and other procedures performed by Ernst Young in order for them

to be able to form an opinion on our consolidated financial statements These fees also cover services that are normally

provided by independent auditors in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements

Audit-relatedfees These are fees for assurance and related services that traditionally are performed by independent

auditors that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the financial statements such as due

diligence related to acquisitions and dispositions attestation services that are not required by statute or regulation

internal control reviews and consultation concerning financial accounting and reporting standards

Tax fees These are fees for all professional services performed by professional staff in our independent auditors tax

division except those services related to the audit of our financial statements These include fees for tax compliance

tax planning and tax advice including federal state and local issues Services may also include assistance with tax

audits and appeals before the Internal Revenue Service and similar state and local agencies as well as federal state

and local tax issues related to due diligence

All other fees These are fees for any services not included in the above-described categories

PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statement Schedules

See the Index to Financial Statements at page of this report

The following financial statement schedule is included herein at page of this report

Schedule III Real Estate Assets and Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization

Exhibits

EXHIBIT LIST

Exhibit Description

3.1 Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Steadfast Income REIT Inc incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 3.1 to Pre-Effective Amendment No to the Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-li
filed May 62010 Commission File No 333-160748 Pre-Effective Amendment No

3.2 Bylaws of Steadfast Income REIT Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrants

Registration Statement on Form S-il filed July 23 2009 Commission File No 333-160748

4.1 Form of Subscription Agreement incorporated by reference to Appendix to the prospectus dated July

2010 of the Registrant

4.2 Form of Distribution Reinvestment Plan incorporated by reference to Appendix to the prospectus dated

July 2010 of the Registrant

10.1 Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement dated as of May 2010 by and among Steadfast Income

REIT Inc Steadfast Secure Income REIT Operating Partnership L.P and Steadfast Income Advisor LLC

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Pre- Effective Amendment No

10.2 Limited Partnership Agreement of Steadfast Income REIT Operating Partnership L.P incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Pre-Effective Amendment No ito the Registrants Registration Statement on

Form S-ll filed October 15 2009 Commission File No 333-160748 Pre-Effective Amendment No
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10.3 Steadfast Income REIT Inc 2009 Long-Term Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to

Pre-Effective Amendment No

10.4 Steadfast Income REIT Inc Independent Directors Compensation Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.5 to Pre-Effective Amendment No

10.5 Form of Restricted Stock Award Certificate incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Pre-Effective

Amendment No

10.6 Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement With Escrow Instructions dated as Febr ary 16 2011 by and

between Arbor Pointe L.P and Steadfast Asset Holdings Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to

the Registrants Form 8-K filed May 10 2011

10.7 Notice dated April 11 2011 from Steadfast Asset Holdings Inc to Arbor Pointe L.P incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed May 10 2011

10.8 Assignment and Assumption of Purchase Agreement dated May 2011 by and between Steadfast Asset

Holdings Inc and SIRArbor Pointe LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants

Form 8-K filed May 10 2011

10.9 Property Management Agreement dated as of May 2011 by and between SIR Arbor Pointe LLC and

Steadfast Management Co Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed

May 10 2011

10.10 Multifamily Note dated May 2011 by SIR Arbor Pointe LLC in favor of PNC Bank National

Association and Acknowledgement and Agreement of Key Principal to Personal Liability for Exceptions to

Non-Recourse Liability by Steadfast Income REIT Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the

Registrants Form 8-K filed May 10 2011

10.11 Multifamily Mortgage Assignment of Rents and Security Agreement dated as of May 2011 by and

among SIR Arbor Pointe LLC and PNC Bank National Association incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed May 10 2011

10 12 Assignment of Management Agreement dated as of May 2011 by and among SIR Arbor Pointe LLC
Steadfast Management Co Inc and PNC Bank National Association incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed May 10 2011

10.13 Operating Expense Reimbursement and Guaranty Agreement dated as of May 25 2011 by and among
Steadfast Income REIT Inc Steadfast Income Advisor LLC Beacon Bay Holdings LLC and Rodney

Emery incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed May 25 2011

10.14 Amendment No to the Operating Expense Reimbursement and Guaranty Agreement dated as of

December 21 2011 by and among Steadfast Income REIT Inc Steadfast Income Advisor LLC Beacon

Bay Holdings LLC and Rodney Emery incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrants

Form 8-K filed December 22 2011

10.15 Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions dated May 2011 by and between Olathe

Housing Associates Limited Partnership and Steadfast Asset Holdings Inc incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed June 17 2011

10.16 First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and JOint Escrow Instructions dated June 2011 by and

between Olathe Housing Associates Limited Partnership and Steadfast Asset Holdings Inc incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed June 17 2011

10.17 Second Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions dated June 10 2011 by

and between Olathe Housing Associates Limited Partnership and Steadfast Asset Holdings Inc incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed June 17 2011

10.18 Assignment and Assumption of Purchase Agreement dated as of June 13 2011 by and between Steadfast

Asset Holdings Inc and SIR Clarion Park LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the

Registrants Form 8-K filed June 17 2011

10.19 Property Management Agreement dated as of June 28 2011 by and between SIR Clarion Park LLC and

Steadfast Management Co Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed

July62011

10.20 Multifamily Note dated as of June 28 2011 by SIR Clarion Park LLC in favor of PNC Bank National

Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed July 2011
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10.21 Multifamily Loan and Security Agreement dated as of June 28 2011 by and between SIR Clarion Park
LLC and PNC Bank National Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants

Form 8-K filed July 2011

10.22 Multifamily Mortgage Assignment of Leases and Rents Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of

June 28 2011 by and among SIR Clarion Park LLC and PNC Bank National Association incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed July 2011

10.23 Guaranty of Non-Recourse Obligations dated as of June 28 2011 by and between Steadfast Income REIT
Inc and PNC Bank National Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrants

Form 8-K filed July 2011

10.24 Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions dated June 24 2011 by and between Cooper
Creek Village LLC and Steadfast Asset Holdings Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Registrants Form 8-K filed August 19 2011

10.25 First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions dated June 30 2011 by
and between Cooper Creek Village LLC and Steadfast Asset Holdings Inc incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed August 19 2011

10.26 Second Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow Instructions dated July 2011 by
and between Cooper Creek Village LLC and Steadfast Asset Holdings Inc incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed August 19 2011

10.27 Written notice of exercise of extension option pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement and Joint Escrow

Instructions dated June 24 2011 by and between Cooper Creek Village LLC and Steadfast Asset Holdings
Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed August 19 2011

10.28 Assignment and Assumption of Purchase Agreement dated as of August 15 2011 by and between Steadfast

Asset Holdings Inc and SIR Cooper Creek LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the

Registrants Form 8-K filed August 19 2011

10.29 Property Management Agreement dated as of August 24 2011 by and between SIR Cooper Creek LLC and
Steadfast Management Company Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Form 8-

filed August 30 2011

10.30 Multifamily Note dated as of August 24 2011 by SIR Cooper Creek LLC in favor of PNC Bank National

Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed August 30 2011

10.31 Multifamily Loan and Security Agreement dated as of August 24 2011 by and between SIR Cooper Creek
LLC and PNC Bank National Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants
Form 8-K filed August 30 2011

10.32 Multifamily Mortgage Assignment of Leases and Rents Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of

August 24 2011 by and among SIR Cooper Creek LLC and PNC Bank National Association incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed August 30 2011

10.33 Guaranty of Non-Recourse Obligations dated as of August 24 2011 by Steadfast Income REIT Inc to and

for the benefit of PNC Bank National Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the

Registrants Form 8-K filed August 30 2011

10.34 Environmental Indemnity Agreement dated August 24 2011 by SIR Cooper Creek LLC and PNC Bank
National Association incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed August 30
2011

10.35 Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement With Escrow Instructions dated as of November 2011 by and
between Truman Farm Villas L.P and Steadfast Asset Holdings Inc incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Form 8-K filed December 2011
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101 .SCH XBRL Schema Document Furnished herewith

101 .CAL XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document Furnished herewith

101 .LAB XBRL Labels Linkbase Document Furnished herewith

101 .PRE XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document Furnished herewith

101 .DEF XBRL Definition Linkbase Document Furnishced herewith
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Steadfast Income REIT Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Steadfast Income REIT Inc the Company as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of operations equity and cash flows for the three years

in the period ended December 31 2012 Our audits also included the financial statement schedule in Item 15a Schedule III-

Real Estate Assets and Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization These financial statements and schedule are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and

schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Companys internal control over

financial reporting Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as basis for designing audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Companys internal control over financial reporting Accordingly we express no such opinion An audit includes examining on

test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial

position of Steadfast Income REIT Inc at December 31 2012 and 2011 and the consolidated results of its operations and its

cash flows for the three years in the period ended December 31 2012 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting

principles Also in our opinion the financial statement schedule referred to above when considered in relation to the basic

financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

Is Ernst Young LLP

Irvine California

March 27 2013
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STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC

Ats
Real Estate

Building and improvements

iiin1 oihtatioæ nd bnptLonotsts

Total real estate cost

Less ewnu1ataddriatio antI ainrtizatn

Total real estate net

Cah nd isIj eqilvients

Restricted cash

Rents and other

Deferred financing costs and other assets net

Total aseta

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

52128526 5645l

512420903 61552400

L4920 26flO
578045449 69866681

I1807 362 ____________

559972087 66751176

52S664 122681

5467219 818348

i41415 2O3
6203711 1472853

88258556 gi522t

blitie

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Rejow-nlurket tgiit

Notes payable

Mortgage notes $ybie net

Revolving credit facility

Total notes payable net

Distributions payable

Due to affihiatea net

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies Note

Redeemable common stock

Equity

8536953

Ili349

1629479

408802388 47973049

5000000

413802388 47973049

1343399 254592

3471796 1386065

427455885 51243185

3049521 385458

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

191130977 38260059

39278923 8082838

152081150 30223618

152081150 30223618

$582586556 81852261

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Common stock $0.01 par value per share 999999000 shares authorized 22908859 and

4638699 shares issued and outstanding at December 312012 and December 312011

respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Cumniative distributions and net 1oses

Total stockholders equity

Noncontroiliug interet

Total equity

Total liabilities and qui1y

229086
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STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Revenues

Tenant reimbursements and other

aIWt1
Expenses

Real estate taxes and insurance

Depreciation and amortization

nteret pts
General and administrative expenses

QquiâoLçs

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net 1es tt1jbb 4o eni1jIo
Net loss per common share basic and diluted

For the year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

$fl t34 7714

2630955 547859 56801

3721952 756403 109263

14957857 2577462 540572

3085470 782665 1085596

_______
53146859 9759183 299181147

1000

O41
1.84 1.72 4.27

declared

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

1640845
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STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31 2010 2011 AND 2012

Stockholders Equity

Transfers to redeemable common stock

Other offering costS affihiate

Distributions declared

Amortization stock-based competSaticet

Net loss for the year ended December31

2010

BALANCE December31 2040

Issuance of common stock

Transfers to redeemable common stock

Other offering costs to affiliates

Distributions declared

Amortization of ttixIc-based compensation

Net loss for the year ended December 31
2011

539220

1S49905

62167

2722156

447293

982068

4049010

8082838

2722156

41773

9820681

S63I1 58

94425

57827

596561

230402

54r74

BALANCE December 31 2009

Issuance of common stock

Common Stock Convertibl Stock Cumulative
Additional Paid- Distributions

In Capital Net Losses

200775$

Total

Stockholders

Equity

20L007

Shares

22223

Amount

222

Shares

1000

Amount

itt

Noncontrolling

Interest

1000

57827

596561

54774

Total Equity

10905510

230402

57827

59656L

230402

54774

___________________
2162581 2162581 1000 2163581

1184283 11843 1000 10 9568008 Z3929S 7ISS78 7186$78

3454416 34544 34217712 34252256 34252256

BALANCE December 31 2041

Issuance of common stock

1640845

4438699 46387 1000 10 38260059

18314135 183139 182891102

539220

S499o5

1640845

62467

Transfers to redeemable common stock

Redemption of eonimtm tck

Other offering costs to affiliates

Distributions declared

Amortization of stock-based compensation

539220

$4905

1640845

62J67

4375 440

4049010

30223618

18307424

BALANCE December 31 2012

4040010

302618

183074241

636158t

94425

27

9820681

8636158

94425

22908859 229086 10 152081150

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net oss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities

epreiaion and amotatiou

Accretion of below-market leases

AncOiizatiou of defeiied finance ctsts

Stock-based compensation

Amortizaioti of loan premtuiu

Change in fair value of interest rate caps

Changes in operatiit aset and liabilities

Restricted cash operating activities

RenIs and other mceiables

Other assets

Acedunts payable and aecrued

Due to affiliates net

Net cash usein operating antiities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Acquisition of real eseMantmenta

Addition to real estate investments

Escrow deposits for rending rea uste acquisitions

Restricted cash investing activities

Purchase of intereSt at cap

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash FIows from FinancingActivities

Proceeds from issuance of mortgage notes payable

1rineipal payments on moitgage notespayabln

Borrowings from credit facility

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

Payments of commissions on sales of common stock and related dealer

manager fees to affiliates

Reimbursement of other ofVringost to ffihiatns

Payment of deferred financing costs

Distributions paid to comdttm stockboldets

Redemption of common stock

Net nash provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period

For the year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

22559927 404OiG 2163581

14957857

138703

225614

94425

33Z348

162761

4062793 195574

720767 77567 25685

1070522 90273 111134

6816685 586390 831501

2064522 919668 374695

4563i96 21273 455876

378 132 177 51 910000 l09f10OQ0

3116467 406886 2324

374900 89871

586078 622774

29570

382505492 53833531 10902324

249104000

4432386

5000000

179849886

17154479

9799471

3377941

437525

417733
_______________ _______________

3439667 63377288 14014390

2672017 9342484 2656190

1Z200681 2858197 202007

9528664 12200681 2858197

2577462

3Z964

94667

540572

1110

96646

36415000

91t95

33244982

5000000

10735413

927042

589345

72500

132136

3198703

1765418

339150

887472
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STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

gs 4puPt M$27

plemental Disclosure of Noncash Transactions

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31 2012

Organization and Business

Steadfast Income REIT Inc the Company was formed on May 2009 as Maryland corporation that has elected to

qualify as real estate investment trust REIT On June 12 2009 the Company was initially capitalized pursuant to the sale

of 22223 shares of common stock to Steadfast REIT Investments LLC the Sponsor at purchase price of $9.00 per share

for an aggregate purchase price of $200 007 On July 10 2009 Steadfast Income Advisor LLC the Advisor Delaware

limited liability company formed on May 2009 invested $1000 in the Company in exchange for 1000 shares of convertible

stock the Convertible Stock as described in Note

Substantially all of the Companys business is conducted through Steadfast Income REIT Operating Partnership L.P
Delaware limited partnership formed on July 2009 the Operating Partnership The Company is the sole general partner of

the Operating Partnership As the Company accepts subscriptions for shares of its common stock the Company transfers

substantially all of the net offering proceeds to the Operating Partnership in exchange for partnership interests and the

Companys percentage ownership in the Operating Partnership increases proportionately The Company and Advisor entered

into an Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of the Operating Partnership the Partnership Agreement on

September 28 2009

As of December 31 2012 the Company owned 30 multifamily properties comprising total of 6690 apartment homes and

8995 square feet of rentable commercial space For more information on the Companys real estate portfolio see Note

Private Offe ring

On October 13 2009 the Company commenced private offering of up to $94000000 in shares of the Companys
common stock at purchase price of $9.40 per share with discounts available for certain categories of purchasers the Private

Offering The Company offered its shares of common stock for sale in the Private Offering pursuant to confidential private

placement memorandum and only to persons that were accredited investors as that term is defined under the Securities Act of

1933 as amended and Regulation promulgated thereunder On July 2010 the Company terminated the Private Offering

and on July 19 2010 the Company commenced its registered public offering described below The Company sold 637279
shares of common stock in the Private Offering for gross offering proceeds of $5844325

Public Offering

On July 23 2009 the Company filed registration statement on Form S-li with the Securities and Exchange Commission

the SEC to offer maximum of 150000000 shares of common stock for sale to the public at an initial price of $10.00 per

share with discounts available for certain categories of purchasers the Primary Offering The Company also registered up
to 15789474 shares of common stock for sale pursuant to the Companys distribution reinvestment plan the DRP and

together with the Primary Offering the Public Offering at an initial price of $9.50 per share The SEC declared the

Companys registration statement effective on July 2010 The Company commenced the Public Offering on July 19 2010
The Company may reallocate shares of common stock registered in the Public Offering between the Primary Offering and the

DRP

On July 12 2012 the Companys board of directors determined an estimated value per share of the Companys common
stock as of March 31 2012 of $10.24 As result of the determination of the estimated value

per
share of the Companys

common stock as of March 31 2012 effective September 10 2012 the offering price of the Companys common stock to the

public in the Primary Offering increased from the previous price of $10.00 per share to $10.24 per share Additionally

effective September 10 2012 the price of shares of the Companys common stock issued pursuant to the DRP increased from

price of $9.50 per share to price of $9.73 per share or 95% of the new Primary Offering price of $10.24 per share Effective

September 10 2012 the Companys board of directors increased the amount of distributions paid on each share of the

Companys common stock from $0.00i9i7 per share per day to $0.001964 per share per day which if paid each day over

365-day period is equivalent to 7.0% annualized distribution rate based on the new offering price of $10.24 per share The

Companys board of directors may again in its sole discretion change the price at which the Company offers shares of
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STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

DECEMBER31 2012

common stock to the public in the Primary Offering or to its stockholders pursuant to the DRP to reflect future changes in the

Companys estimated value
per

share and other factors that the Companys board of directors deems relevant

From the conmiencement of the Public Offering on July 19 2010 to December 31 2012 the Company sold 22244340

shares of common stock in the Public Offering for gross proceeds of $222327700 including 393471 shares of common stock

issued pursuant to the DRP for gross offering proceeds of $3771655

The Company intends to use substantially all of the net proceeds from the Public Offering to continue to invest in and

manage diverse portfolio of real estate investments primarily in the multifamily sector located throughout the United States

In addition to the Companys focus on multifamily properties the Company may also selectively invest in other types of

commercial properties The Company may also acquire or originate mortgage mezzanine bridge and other real estate loans and

equity securities of other real estate companies

The business of the Company is externally managed by the Advisor pursuant to the Advisory Agreement as amended the

Advisory Agreement which is subject to annual renewal by the Companys board of directors The current term of the

Advisory Agreement expires on May 2013 Subject to certain restrictions and limitations the Advisor manages the

Companys day-to-day operations manages the Companys portfolio of properties and real estate-related assets sources and

presents investment opportunities to the Companys board of directors and provides investment management services on the

Companys behalf The Company has retained Steadfast Capital Markets Group LLC the Dealer Manager an affiliate of

the Company to serve as the dealer manager for the Public Offering The Dealer Manager is responsible for marketing the

Companys shares of common stock being offered pursuant to the Public Offering The Advisor along with the Dealer

Manager also provides offering services marketing investor relations and other administrative services on the Companys

behalf

The Partnership Agreement provides that the Operating Partnership is operated in manner that will enable the Company to

satisfy the requirements for being classified as REIT for tax purposes avoid any federal income or excise tax liability

and ensure that the Operating Partnership will not be classified as publicly traded partnership for purposes
of

Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended the Internal Revenue Code which classification could

result in the Operating Partnership being taxed as corporation rather than as partnership In addition to the administrative

and operating costs and expenses incurred by the Operating Partnership in acquiring
and operating real properties the

Operating Partnership will pay all of the Companys administrative costs and expenses and such expenses
will be treated as

expenses of the Operating Partnership

The Company commenced its operations on August 11 2010 upon acquiring fee simple interest in multifamily property

located in Springfield Illinois

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries

All significant intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in consolidation The financial statements of the

Companys subsidiaries are prepared using accounting policies consistent with those of the Company

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting

principles GAAP as contained within the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting Standards

Codification ASC and the rules and regulations of the SEC

Square footage occupancy and other measures used to describe real estate included in the notes to consolidated financial

statements are presented on an unaudited basis
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STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

DECEMBER 31 2012

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company to make estimates

and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes Actual

results could materially differ from those estimates

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the current year

presentation

Real Estate Assets

Depreciation and Amortization

Real estate costs related to the development construction and improvement of properties are capitalized Acquisition costs

are expensed as incurred Repair and maintenance and tenant turnover costs are charged to expense as incurred and significant

replacements and betterments are capitalized Repair and maintenance and tenant turnover costs include all costs that do not

extend the useful life of the real estate asset The Company considers the period of future benefit of an asset to determine its

appropriate useful life and anticipates the estimated useful lives of assets by class to be generally as follows

Buildings 25-40 years

Building improvements 5-25 years

Tenant improvements Shorter of lease term or expected useful life

Tenant origination and absorption costs Remaining term of related lease

Furniture fixtures and equipment 5-10 years

Real Estate Purchase Price Allocation

The Company records the acquisition of income-producing real estate or real estate that will be used for the production of

income as business combination All assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combination are measured at their

acquisition-date fair values Acquisition costs are generally expensed as incurred

The Company assesses the acquisition-date fair values of all tangible assets identifiable intangible assets and assumed

liabilities using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers e.g discounted cash flow analysis and that utilize

appropriate discount and/or capitalization rates and available market information Estimates of future cash flows are based on

number of factors including historical operating results known and anticipated trends and market and economic conditions

The fair value of tangible assets of an acquired property considers the value of the property as if it was vacant

Intangible assets include the value of in-place leases which represents the estimated value of the net cash flows of the in-

place leases to be realized as compared to the net cash flows that would have occurred had the property been vacant at the time

of acquisition and subject to lease-up

The Company estimates the value of tenant origination and absorption costs by considering the estimated carrying costs

during hypothetical expected lease-up periods considering current market conditions In estimating carrying costs the

Company estimates the amount of lost rentals using market rates during the expected lease-up periods

The Company amortizes the value of in-place leases to expense over the remaining non-cancelable term of the respective

leases Should tenant terminate its lease the unamortized portion of the in-place lease value and customer relationship

intangibles would be charged to expense in that period

The Company records above-market and below-market in-place lease values for acquired properties based on the present

value using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired of the difference between the

contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and the Companys estimate of fair market lease rates for the
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STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

DECEMBER 31 2012

corresponding in-place leases measured over period equal to the remaining cancelable term of the lease The Company

amortizes any capitalized above-market or below-market lease values as reduction or increase to rental income over the

remaining non cancelable terms of the respective leases

The total amount of other intangible assets acquired will be further allocated to in-place lease values and customer

relationship intangible values based on the Companys evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenants lease and its

overall relationship with that respective tenant Characteristics that the Company considers in allocating these values include

the nature and extent of existing business relationships with the tenant growth prospects for developing new business with the

tenant and the tenants credit quality and expectations of lease renewals including those existing under the terms of the lease

agreement among other factors

Estimates of the fair values of the tangible assets identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities require
the Company

to make significant assumptions to estimate market lease rates property-operating expenses carrying costs during lease-up

periods discount rates market absorption periods and the number of years the property
will be held for investment The use of

inappropriate assumptions could result in an incorrect valuation of acquired tangible assets identifiable intangible assets and

assumed liabilities which could impact the amount of the Companys net income loss

Impairment of Real Estate Assets

The Company will continually monitor events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of

the Company real estate and related intangible assets may not be recoverable When indicators of potential impairment

suggest that the carrying value of real estate and related intangible assets and liabilities may not be recoverable the Company

assesses the recoverability of the assets by estimating whether the Company will recover the carrying value of the asset through

its undiscounted future cash flows and its eventual disposition Based on this analysis if the Company does not believe that it

will be able to recover the carrying value of the real estate and related intangible assets and liabilities the Company records an

impairment loss to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of the real estate and related intangible

assets and liabilities If any assumptions projections or estimates regarding an asset changes in the future the Company may

have to record an impairment to reduce the net book value of such individual asset

Rents and Other Receivables

The Company will periodically evaluate the collectability of amounts due from tenants and maintain an allowance for

doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of tenants to make required payments under lease

agreements The Company exercises judgment in establishing these allowances and considers payment history and current

credit status of tenants in developing these estimates Due to the short-term nature of the operating leases The Company does

not maintain an allowance for deferred rent receivable related to the straight-lining
of rents

Revenue Recognition

The Company leases apartment and condominium units under operating leases with terms generally of one year or less

Generally credit investigations are performed for prospective residents and security deposits are obtained The Company will

recognize minimum rent including rental abatements concessions and contractual fixed increases attributable to operating

leases on straight-line basis over the term of the related lease and amounts expected to be received in later years
will be

recorded as deferred rents The Company records property operating expense
reimbursements due from tenants for common

area maintenance real estate taxes and other recoverable costs in the period the related expenses are incurred

The Company recognizes gains on sales of real estate either in total or deferred for period of time depending on whether

sale has been consummated the extent of the buyers investment in the property being sold whether the receivable is subject to

future subordination and the degree of the Companys continuing involvement with the property after the sale If the criteria for

profit recognition under the full-accrual method are not met the Company will defer gain recognition and account for the

continued operations of the property by applying the percentage-of-completion reduced profit deposit installment or cost

recovery method as appropriate until the appropriate criterja are met
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STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

DECEMBER 31 2012

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash

equivalents Cash equivalents may include cash and short-term investments Short-term investments are stated at cost which

approximates fair value As of December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company had amounts in excess of federally insured limits in

deposit accounts with financial institution The Company limits such deposits to financial institutions with high credit

standing

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents those cash accounts for which the use of funds is restricted by loan covenants As of

December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company had restricted cash balance of $5467219 and $818348 respectively which

represents amounts set aside as impounds for future property tax payments property insurance payments and tenant

improvement payments as required by agreements with the Companys lenders

Deferred Financing Costs

The Company capitalizes deferred financing costs such as commitment fees legal fees and other third party costs associated

with obtaining commitments for financing that result in closing of such financing The Company amortizes these costs over

the terms of the respective financing agreements using the interest methQd The Company expenses unamortized deferred

financing costs when the associated debt is refinanced or repaid before maturity unless specific rules are met that would allow

for the
carryover

of such costs to the refinanced debt Costs incurred in seeking financing transactions that do not close are

expensed in the period in which it is determined that the financing will not close

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Companys objective in using derivatives is to add stability to interest expense and to manage the Companys exposure

to interest rate movements or other identified risks To accomplish these objectives the Company may use various types of

derivative instruments to manage fluctuations in cash flows resulting from interest rate risk attributable to changes in the

benchmark interest rate of LIBOR or other applicable benchmark rates As of December 31 2012 the Companys derivative

instruments include an interest rate cap based on the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association SIFMA
Municipal Swap Index

The Company measures its derivative instruments and hedging activities at fair value and records them as an asset or

liability depending on its rights or obligations under the applicable derivative contract For derivatives designated as fair value

hedges the changes in the fair value of both the derivative instrument and the hedged items are recorded in earnings

Derivatives used to hedge the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows or other types of forecasted transactions are

considered cash flow hedges For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges the effective portions of changes in fair value of

the derivatives are reported in other comprehensive income loss and are subsequently reclassified into eamings when the

hedged item affects earnings Changes in fair value of derivative instruments not designated as hedges and ineffective portions

of hedges are recognized in earnings in the affected period The Company assesses the effectiveness of each hedging

relationship by comparing the changes in fair value or cash flows of the derivative hedging instrument with the changes in fair

value or cash flows of the designated hedged item or transaction

As of December 31 2012 the Company did not have any derivatives designated as cash flow or fair value hedges nor are

derivatives being used for trading or speculative purposes

Fair Value Measurements

Under GAAP the Company is required to measure certain financial instruments at fair value on recurring basis In

addition the Company is required to measure other assets and liabilities at fair value on non-recurring basis e.g carrying

value of impaired real estate loans receivable and long-lived assets Fair value is defined as the price that would be received

upon the sale of an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement

date The GAAP fair value framework uses three-tiered approach Fair value measurements are classified and disclosed in one

of the following three categories
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STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

DECEMBER 31 2012

Level unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or

liabilities

Level quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in

markets that are not active and model-derived valuations in which significant inputs and significant value drivers are

observable in active markets and

Level pricesor valuation techniques where little or no market data is available that requires inputs that are both

significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable

When available the Company utilizes quoted market prices from an independent third-party source to determine fair value

and will classify such items in Level or Level In instances where the market is not active regardless of the availability of

nonbinding quoted market price observable inputs might not be relevant and could require the Company to make significant

adjustment to derive fair value measurement Additionally in an inactive market market price quoted from an independent

third party may rely more on models with inputs based on information available only to that independent third party When the

Company determines the market for financial instrument owned by the Company to be illiquid or when market transactions

for similar instruments do not appear orderly the Company uses several valuation sources including internal valuations

discounted cash flow analysis and quoted market prices and will establish fair value by assigning weights to the various

valuation sources

The following describes the valuation methodologies used by the Company to measure fair value including an indication of

the level in the fair value hierarchy in which each asset or liability is generally classified

Interest rate caps
These derivatives did not qualify as fair value hedges Fair value was based on model-driven valuation

using the associated variable rate curve and an implied market volatility both of which were observable at commonly quoted

intervals for the full term of the caps Therefore the Companys interest rate caps were classified within Level of the fair

value hierarchy

The following table reflects the Companys assets required to be measured at fair value on recurring basis on the

consolidated balance sheets

December 31 2012

Fair Value Measurements Using

Level Level Level

Interest ratecaps
133109

Changes in assumptions or estimation methodologies can have material effect on these estimated fair values In this

regard the derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and in many cases may

not be realized in an immediate settlement of the instrument

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The accompanying consolidated balance sheets include the following financial instruments cash and cash equivalents

restricted cash rents and other receivables accounts payable and accrued liabilities due to affiliates and notes payable

The Company considers the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents restricted cash rents and other receivables and

accounts payable and accrued liabilities and the revolving line of credit to approximate the fair value of these financial

instruments based on the Short duration between origination of the instruments and their expected realization The fair value of

amounts due to affiliates is not determinable due to the related party nature of such amounts

The fair value of the mortgage notes payable is estimated using discounted cash flow analysis using borrowing rates

available to the Company for debt instruments with similar terms and maturities As of December 31 2012 and 2011 the fair
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value of the mortgage notes payable was $410709202 and $48555347 respectively compared to the carrying value of

$408802388 and $47973049 respectively The Company has determined that its notes payable are classified as Level

within the fair value
hierarchy

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The Company amortizes the fair value of stock-based compensation awards to expense over the vesting period and records

any dividend equivalents eamed as dividends for financial reporting purposes Stock-based compensation awards are valued at

the fair value on the date of grant and amortized as an expense over the vesting period

Distribution Policy

The Company has elected to be taxed as REIT and to operate as REIT beginning with its taxable
year ending

December 31 2010 To maintain its qualification as REIT the Company intends to make distributions each taxable year equal
to at least 90% of its REIT taxable income which is determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital

gain and which does not necessarily equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP For the period from January
2012 to September 2012 distributions were based on daily record dates and calculated at rate of $0.00 1917 per share

per
day and $0.00 1964 per share

per day beginning September 10 2012 Each day during the period from January 2012 through
December 31 2012 was record date for distributions

Distributions to stockholders are determined by the board of directors of the Company and are dependent upon number of

factors relating to the Company including funds available for the payment of distributions financial condition the timing of

property acquisitions capital expenditure requirements and annual distribution requirements in order for the Company to

qualify as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code

Organization and Offering Costs

Organization and offering expenses include all
expenses other than sales commissions and related dealer manager fees to

be paid by the Company in connection with the Public Offering and the Private Offering including legal accounting printing

mailing and filing fees charges of the Companys transfer agent expenses of organizing the Company data processing fees

advertising and sales literature costs transfer agent costs bona fide out-of-pocket due diligence costs and amounts to reimburse

the Advisor or its affiliates for the salaries of its employees and other costs in connection with preparing supplemental sales

materials and providing other administrative services

The Company may also reimburse costs of bona fide training and education meetings held by the Company primarily

travel meal and lodging costs of registered representatives of broker-dealers attendance and sponsorship fees and cost

reimbursement of employees of the Companys affiliates to attend seminars conducted by broker-dealers and in certain cases
reimbursement to participating broker-dealers for technology costs associated with the Public Offering costs and expenses
related to such technology costs and costs and

expenses associated with the facilitation of the marketing of the Companys
shares of common stock and the ownership of the Companys shares of common stock by such broker-dealers customers

provided however that the Company will not pay any of the foregoing costs to the extent that such paymentwould cause total

underwriting compensation for the Public Offering to exceed 10% of the gross proceeds of the Public Offering as required by
the rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority Inc FINRA

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement and the dealer manager agreement by and among the Company the Operating

Partnership and the Dealer Manager the Dealer Manager Agreement the Company is obligated to reimburse the Advisor
the Dealer Manager or their affiliates as applicable for organization and offering costs paid by them on behalf of the

Company provided that within 60 days of the end of the month in which the Public Offering terminates the Advisor is

obligated to reimburse the Company to the extent selling commissions dealer manager fees and organization and offering costs

incurred by the Company in the completed Public Offering exceed 15% of gross offering proceeds of the completed Public

Offering Any reimbursement of expenses paid to Advisor will not exceed actual expenses incurred by the Advisor

Reimbursements to the Advisor the Dealer Manager or their affiliates for offering costs paid by them on behalf of the

Company with respect to the Private Offering are not limited to 15% of the
gross offering proceeds of the Private Offering
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However the Company will not make reimbursements of offering costs in excess of 15% of the gross offering proceeds of the

Private Offering unless approval is obtained from the Companys independent directors The independent directors have not

approved the reimbursement of such excess costs from the Private Offering Accordingly the Company has not accrued for the

reimbursement of organization and offering costs of the Private Offering in excess of 15% of the gross offering proceeds raised

in the Private Offering until such time as the reimbursement of such costs are approved by the independent directors of the

Company

Operating Expenses

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement the Company is limited in the amount of certain operating expenses it may record on

rolling four-quarter basis to the greater
of 2% of average invested assets and 25% of net income Operating expenses include all

costs and expenses
incurred by the Company as determined under GAAP that in any way are related to the operation of the

Company excluding expenses of raising capital interest payments taxes property operating expenses non-cash expenditures

incentive fees acquisition fees and expenses
and investment management fees During the four quarters ended December 31

2012 the Company recorded operating expenses
of $1427993 which is included in general and administrative expenses in the

accompanying statement of operations Operating expenses of $159104 remain payable and are included in due to affiliates in

the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31 2012

Income Taxes

The Company has elected to be taxed as REIT under the Internal Revenue Code beginning with the tax year ending

December 31 2010 To qualify as REIT the Company must meet certain organizational
and operational requirements

including the requirement to distribute at least 90% of the Companys annual REIT taxable income to stockholders which is

computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain and which does not necessarily equal net income as

calculated in accordance with GAAP As REIT the Company generally will not be subject to federal income tax to the extent

it distributes qualifying dividends to its stockholders If the Company fails to qualify as REIT in any taxable year after the

taxable year in which the Company initially elects to be taxed as REIT it will be subject to federal income tax on its taxable

income at regular corporate income tax rates and generally will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as REIT for federal

income tax purposes for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification is lost unless the Internal Revenue

Service grants the Company relief under certain statutory provisions Such an event could materially adversely affect the

Companys net income and net cash available for distribution to stockholders However the Company believes it is organized

and operates in such manner as to qualify for treatment as REIT

The Company follows the Income Taxes Topic of the ASC to recognize measure present and disclose in its accompanying

consolidated financial statements uncertain tax positions that the Company has taken or expects to take on tax return As of

December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company had no liabilities for uncertain tax positions that it believes should be recognized in

its accompanying consolidated financial statements The Company has not been assessed interest or penalties by any major tax

jurisdictions The Companys evaluation was performed for the tax years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011 As of

December 31 2012 the Companys tax returns for calendar years 2011 and 2010 remain subject to examination by major tax

jurisdictions

Per Share Data

Basic earnings loss per
share attributable for all periods presented are computed by dividing net income loss attributable

to controlling interest by the weighted average
number of shares of the Companys common stock outstanding during the

period Diluted earnings loss per
share are computed based on the weighted average number of shares of the Companys

common stock and all potentially dilutive securities if any Distributions declared per common share assumes each share was

issued and outstanding each day during the period Nonvested shares of the Companys restricted common stock give rise to

potentially dilutive shares of the Companys common stock but such shares were excluded from the computation of diluted

earnings per share because such shares were anti-dilutive during the period
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Segment Disclosure

The Company has determined that it has one reportable segment with activities related to investing in multifamily

properties The Companys investments in real estate are in different geographic regions and management evaluates operating

performance on an individual asset level However as each of the Companys assets has similar economic characteristics

tenants and products and services its assets have been aggregated into one reportable segment

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2011 the FASB issued guidance that expands the existing disclosure requirements for fair value measurements

primarily for Level measurements which are measurements based on unobservable inputs such as the Companys own data

This guidance is largely consistent with current fair value measurement principles with few exceptions that do not result in

change in general practice The guidance will be applied prospectively and will be effective for interim and annual reporting

periods ending after December 15 2011 The adoption of this guidance did not have material impact on the Companys
financial position or results of operations as the guidance relates only to disclosure requirements

In June 2011 the FASB issued guidance requiring entities to present items of net income and other comprehensive income
either in one continuous statement referred to as the statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive
statements of net income and other comprehensive income The new guidance does not change which components of

comprehensive income are recognized in net income or other comprehensive income or when an item of other comprehensive
income must be reclassified to net income The guidance will be applied prospectively and was originally to be effective for

interim and annual reporting periods ending after December 15 2011 In December 2011 the FASB deferred certain provisions
of this guidance related to the presentation of certain reclassification adjustments out of accumulated other comprehensive
income by component in both the statement and the statement where the reclassification is presented The adoption of this

guidance did not have material impact on the Companys financial position or results of operations but changed the location

of the presentation of other comprehensive income to more closely associate the disclosure with net income

In September 2011 the FASB issued guidance that allows entities to perform qualitative analysis as the first step in

determining whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount If it is

determined that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount then

quantitative analysis for impairment is not required The guidance was effective for interim and annual impairment tests for

fiscal periods beginning after December 15 2011 The adoption of this guidance did not have material impact on the

Companys financial position or results of operations

In December 2011 the FASB issued guidance regarding disclosures about offsetting assets and liabilities which requires

entities to disclose information about offsetting and related arrangements to enable users of its financial statements to

understand the effect of those arrangements on its financial position Theguidance is effective for fiscal years and interim

periods beginning on or after January 2013 with retrospective application for all comparative periods presented The adoption

of this guidance which is related to disclosure only is not expected to have material impact on the Companys consolidated

financial position or results of operations

In July 2012 the FASB issued revised guidance intended to simplify how an entity tests indefinite-lived intangible assets

for impairment The amendments will allow an entity first to assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is
necessary to

perform quantitative impairment test An entity will no longer be required to calculate the fair value of an indefinite-lived

intangible asset and perform the quantitative test unless the entity determines based on qualitative assessment that it is more

likely than not that its fair value is less than its canying amount The amendments are effective for annual and interim

indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15 2012 Early adoption
is permitted The Company does not expect the adoption to have material impact on the Companys consolidated financial

position or results of operations
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Average Average

Occupancy as Monthly Rent

of asof

Dec Dec Dec Dec

31 31 31
12 211 12

As of December 31 2012 the Company owned 30 multifamily properties The following table provides summary

information regarding the Companys property portfolio

Property Name

Contract Mortgage

Purchase Number Purchase Debt

Location Date of Units
-_Price

Outstanding

Park Place Des Moines

Condominiums IA

Clarion Park

Apartments1

12 Montclair Parc

Apartments

14 Estancia

Apartments

18 Sycamore Terrace Terre Haute

Apartments IN
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of asof

Dec Dec Dec Dec

31 31 31 3111 2012 2011

100% of the units are required to be rented to tenants earning no more than 60% of the areas median income

Approximately 74% of the units are required to be rented to tenants earning no more than 60% of the areas median

income

Property Name

Contract

Purchase Number Purchase

Location Date of Units Price

Average

Occupancy as

Mortgage
Debt

Outstandin

Average

Monthly Rent

23 Arrowhead

Apartments

25
Forty-57

Apartments

27 Riverford

Crossing

Apartments

Lexington

KY 12/20/2012 436 52500000 38500000 87.2% 836

Frankfort
KY

268 19000000

6690 570808500 408802388 92.4% 94.1% 863 745
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The purchase price for the Companys acquisitions during the year
ended December 31 2012 was allocated as follows as of

the respective closing dates of each acquisition

Tenant

Origination

and Below- Premium on Total

Purchase Building and Absorption Market Assumed Purchase

Date Land Improvements Costs Leases LiabilitiesW Price
Property Name

Windsor on the River

Apartments
1/26/2012 3381946 28425125 1192929 33000000

Renaissance St Andrews

Apartments
2/17/2012 838685 11418911 242.404 12500000

Spring Creek Apartments
3/9/2012 2346.503 17196951 405392 598846 19350000

Montclair Parc

Apartments
4/26/2012 3.325.556 31238.849 1185595 35750000

Sononia Grande

Apartments
5/24/2012 2737794 28912593 549613 32.200000

Estancia Apartments
6/29/2012 2544634 26719.064 521564 1.885.262 27900.000

Montelena Apartments
7/13/2012 1860.351 16920747 455160 886258 18350000

Valley Farms Apartments
8/30/2012 724771 14.1 14640 260.589 15100000

Hilliard Park Apartments 9/11/2012 1413.437 18079371 405 321 98129 19800000

Sycamore Terrace

Apartments 9/20/2012 939537 15.216448 344015 16500000

Hilliard Suniit

Apartments 9/28/2012 1536795 22190376 448652 75823 24100000

Springmarc Apartments 10/19/2012 1917909 19596051 43 1.878 95.838 21850000

Renaissance at St

Andrews condominiums 10/3 1/20 12 92255 1256080 26665 1375000

Ashley Oaks Apartments 11/29/2012 3.819796 26234422 735.782 30790000

Arrowhead Apartments 1/30/2012 2.094728 14252673 402599 16750000

The Moorings

Apartments
11/30/2012 2250208 17578.326 421466 20250.000

Forty-57 Apartments 12/20/2012 3055614 48682501 761885 52500000

Keystone Farms

Apartments 12/28/2012 1.052401 7167740 179.859 8400000

Riverford crossing

Apartments 12/28/2012 2595387 26862579 542034 30000000

tr Iz
South Pointe at Valley

Farms 12/28/2012 2212402 2996562 66.036

Montecito Apa 12/31/2012 3081522 15484282 134196

Grand

Apartments 12/31/2012 2.657734 37195.861 816667 170262
_____________

46479965 447.740152 10830301 440.052 3370366 501240000

Loan premiums are amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of the assumed loan

i4.4
5275000

40500000
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As of December 31 2012 and 2011 accumulated depreciation and amortization related to the Companys consolidated real

estate properties and related intangibles were as follows

Tenant

Building and Origination and Below-Market
Land Improvements Absorption Total Real Estate Leases

Less Accumulated depreciation and

amortization 9515773

December 31 2011

Assets
Liabilities

Tenant

Building and Origination and Below-Market
Land improvements Absorption Total Real Estate Leases

Depreciation and amortization
expense was $14957857 and $2577462 for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011

respectively

The increase in net loss as result of amortization of the Companys tenant origination and absorption costs for the
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 was $6743018 and $1423927 respectively Tenant origination and absorption costs had

weighted-average amortization period as of the date of acquisition of less than one year

The increase in rental income as result of the accretion of the Companys below-market lease intangible liabilities for the

years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 was $138703 and $0 The Companys below-market lease intangible liabilities had

weighted-average accretion period as of the date of acquisition of less than one year

Operating Leases

As of December 31 2012 the Companys real estate portfolio comprised 6690 residential apartment homes and was 95.2%
leased by diverse group of residents For the year ended December 31 2012 the Companys real estate portfolio earned

approximately 99% and 1% of its rental income from residential tenants and commercial office tenants respectively For the

year ended December 31 2011 the Companys real estate portfolio earned approximately 97% and 3% of its rental income
from residential tenants and commercial office tenants respectively The residential tenant lease terms consist of lease

durations equal to 12 months or less The commercial office tenant leases consist of lease durations varying from three to five

years

Some residential and commercial leases contain provisions to extend the lease agreements options for early termination

after paying specified penalty and other terms and conditions as negotiated The Company retains substantially all of the risks

and benefits of ownership of the real estate assets leased to tenants Generally upon the execution of lease the Company
requires security deposits from tenants in the form of cash deposit and/or letter of credit for commercial tenants Amounts

required as security deposits vary depending upon the terms of the respective leases and the creditworthiness of the tenant but

generally are not significant amounts Therefore exposure to credit risk exists to the extent that receivable from tenant

exceeds the amount of its security deposit Security deposits received in cash related to tenant leases are included in accounts

December 31 2012

Assets Liabilities

8557589 18073362 138703

Less Accumulated depreciation and

amortization 1300934 1814571 3115505
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payables and accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and totaled $1809508 and $440822 as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

The future minimum rental receipts from the Companys properties under non-cancelable operating leases attributable to

commercial office .tenants as of December 31 2012 and thereafter is as follows

2014
69167

2016
1109

266533

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 no tenant represented over 10% of the Companys annualized base rent and there were

no significant industry concentrations with respect to its commercial leases

Deferred Financing Costs and Other Assets

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 deferred financing costs and other assets net of accumulated amortization consisted

of

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Less accumulated amortization
259688 34074

Prepaid expenses
975843 147719

Escrow deposits for pending real estate acquisitions
1175100 800200

6203711 1472853
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Debt

Notes Payable

The following is summary of notes payable secured by real property as of December 31 2012 and 2011

Principal Outstanding at

Payment Maturity Interest December 31 December 31
Propert Name Type Date RateW 2012 2011

Principal and

Lincoln Tower Property interest May 2019 3.66% 8652963 6650000

Park Place Property Interest only December 31 2013c2 5.25% 5000.000 5000000

Principal and

Arbor Pointe Property interest June 12018 4.86% 5087.013 5163262

Principal and

interest 4.58 8916787
Clarion Park Property

EBT Lofts Property

10 Renaissance Property6

Principal and

interest3
January 12019 3.82% 5590000

Principal and

interest3 January 2023

Principal and
12 Montclair Parc Property interest

5590000

3.85% 9084000

May 12019 3.70%

Principal and

13 Sonoma Grande Property interest8 June 2019 3.31% 22540000

14 F.stancia Property Interest only October 2Ol7 5.94% 22.203718

Prncipai and
15 Montelena Property1 interest

August 2018 4.82% 12.817796

24766709

Principal and
16 Valley Farms Property interest

Principal and

interest

20 Springmarc Property

Principal and

interest3

LIBOR
3.44% 11550000

November 2019 3.69% 15470000
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The Company has the option to extend the maturity date for up to two successive periods of 12 months each subject

to customary and market rate extension provisions

monthly payment of interest only is due and payable for twelve months from the loan date after which monthly

payment of principal and interest is due and payable until the maturity date

The loan was onginally funded with proceeds from the issuance of Iowa Finance Authority Vanable Rate Demand

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds Windsor on the River LLC Project Series 2007A in the original aggregate

principal amount of $24000000 the Bonds pursuant to an Indenture of Trust dated May 2007 the Indenture

by and between the issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A the Bond Trustee astrustee

for the holders of the Bonds The Company is required to pay or cause to be paid to the Bond Trustee on each date on

which any payment of the principal of premium if any or interest on the Bonds is due whether on an interest

payment date at maturity or upon redemption or acceleration an amount which together with the funds held by the

Bond Trustee in bond fund will be sufficient to enable the Bond Trustee to pay the principal of premium if any and

interest on the Bonds due on such date The loan will bear interest at rate equal to the interest rate borne from time to

time by the Bonds calculated on the same basis and to be paid by the Company at the same time as interest on the

Bonds is calculated and paid from time to time Interest on the Bonds is calculated by the remarketing agent and is

equal to the interest rate per annum which in the professional judgment of the remarketing agent having due regard

for prevailing market conditions would be the minimum interest rate necessary to cause the sale of the Bonds on the

first day of an interest period at price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds plus accrued interest The

Bonds currently bear interest at weekly rate

The Company entered into an interest rate cap that limits the SIFMA portion of the interest rate to 3% through January

31 2017 and 5% thereafter until January 31 2019

On December 27 2012 the Companyrefinanced the existing mortgage loan secured by the Renaissance St Andrews

Property
with the proceeds of new mortgage loan in the aggregate principal amount of $9084000 portion of the

Property Name
Payment

Type

Maturity

Date

and

December 2019

Principal Outstanding at

Interest December 31 December 31
Rate 2012 2011

12562000

Principal and

26 Riverford Crossing Property
interest4 January 2023 3.78%

Principal and

28 Montecito Property
interest3 January 2020 3.47% 14250000

21900000

Except as otherwise noted interest on the notes accrues at fixed rate per annum

47
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proceeds from the new loan were used to retire $7000000 of principal and accrued interest outstanding on the

existing mortgage loan

The principal balance at December 31 2012 includes the unamortized portion of the debt premium of $516504
During the

year ended December 31 2012 the Company recorded amortization of debt premiums of $82342 as an

offset to interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

monthly payment of interest only is due and payable through June 2014 after which monthly payment of

principal and interest is due and payable until the maturity date

The principal balance at December 31 2012 includes the unamortized portion of the debt premium of $1703718
During the year ended December 31 2012 the Company recorded amortization of debt premiums of $181544 as an

offset to interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

10 The Company has the option to extend the maturity date to October 2018 subject to customary and market rate

extension provisions

11 The principal balance at December 31 2012 includes the unamortized portion of the debt premium of $817796
During the year ended December 31 2012 the Company recorded amortization of debt premiums of $68462 as an

offset to interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

12 monthly payment of interest only is due and payable through August 2013 after which monthly payment of

principal and interest is due and payable until the maturity date

13 The Company entered into an interest rate
cap

that limits the London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR portion of the

interest rate to 5% through November 2016

14 monthly payment of interest only is due and payable for 24 months from the loan date after which monthly

payment of principal and interest is due and payable until the maturity date

Revolving Credit Facility

On October 22 2012 the Company entered into an unsecured revolving line of credit with PNC Bank N.A to borrow up
to $5000000 Each advance under the facility is due within 180 days from the date of the advance and all unpaid principal and

interest is due and payable in full on October 22 2013

For each advance the Company has the option to select the interest rate from the following options 2.0% plus the

highest of the Prime Rate as defined in the credit agreement the sum of the Federal Funds Rate as defmed in the

credit agreement plus 0.50% and LIBOR plus 1.0% or LIBOR plus 3.0% For each advance wherein one of the

LIBOR options is selected by the Company the Company may select either the one-month LIBOR three-month LIBOR or six-

month LIBOR As of December 31 2012 $5000000 was outstanding bearing interest at one-month LIBOR plus 3.0%

The following is summary of the Companys aggregate maturities as of December 31 2012

Maturities During the Years Ending December 31

Contractual Obligation Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter

Principal payments

on outstanding

debt ob1igations 413802388 15368186 5480944 6964160 7165031 27900447 350923620

Projected principal payments on outstanding debt obligations are based on the terms of the notes payable agreements

The Companys notes payable contain customary financial and non-financial debt covenants As of December 31 2012 and

2011 the Company was in compliance with all financial and non-financial debt covenants
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Forthe years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company incurred.interest expense
of $6291193 and $1186938

Interest expense
for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 includes amortization of deferred financing costs of

$225614 and $32964 amortization of loan premiums of $332348and $0 and net unrealized losses from the change in fair

value of interest rate caps of $162761 and $0 respectively Interest expense of $852105 and $135317 was payable as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively and is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying

consolidated balance sheets

As of December 31 2012 the Companys weighted-average interest rate on its outstanding debt was 3.91%

StockholdersEquity

General

Under the Companys Second Articles of Amendment and Restatement the Charter the total number of shares of capital

stock authorized for issuance is 1100000000 shares consisting of 999999000 shares of common stock with par
value of

$0.01 per share 1000 shares of convertible stockwith par value of $0.01 per share and 100000000 shares designated as

preferred stock with par
value of $0.01 per share

Common Stock

The shares of the Companys common stock entitle the holders to one vote per share on all matters upon which stockholders

are entitled to vote to receive dividends and other distributions as authorized by the Companys board of directors in

accordance with the Maryland General Corporation Law and to all rights of stockholder pursuant to the Maryland General

Corporation Law The common stock has no preferences or preemptive conversion or exchange rights

During 2009 the Company issued 22223 shares of common stock to the Sponsor for $200007 As of December 31 2012

the Company had issued 22881619 shares of common stock in its Private Offering and Public Offering for offering proceeds

of $194612707 net of offering costs of $33559318 including 393471 shares of common stock pursuant to the DRP for total

proceeds of $3771655 The offering costs primarily consist of selling commissions and dealer manager fees Offering

proceeds include $590856 and $505951 of amounts receivable from the Companys transfer agent as of December 31 2012

and 2011 respectively which are included in rents and other receivables in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

During the year ended December 31 2012 the Company granted 17500 shares of restricted stock to its independent

directors at weighted average
fair value of $9.23 as compensation for services in connection with their initial election or re

election to the board of directors at the Companys annual meeting During the year ended 2011 the Company granted 7500

shares of restricted common stock to its independent directors pursuant to the Companys independent directors compensation

plan at fair value of $9.10 per
share in connection with their re-election to the board of directors at the Companys annual

meeting and 5000 shares of restricted common stock to one of its then independent directors at fair value of $9.10 per
share

in connection with her initial election to the board of directors During 2010 the Company granted 15000 shares of restricted

common stock to its independent directors pursuant to the Companys independent directors compensation plan at fair value

of $8.55 per share in connection with the Company raising $2000000 in the Private Offering The shares of restricted common

stock vest and become non-forfeitable in four equal annual installments beginning on the date of grant and ending on the third

anniversary of the date of grant and will become fully vested and become non-forfeitable on the earlier to occur of the

termination of the independent directors service as director due to his or her death or disability or change in control of

the Company

Included in general and administrative expenses is $94425 and $62167 for the years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011

respectively for compensation expense related to the issuance of restricted common stock The weighted average remaining

term.of the restricted common stock is 1.79 years as of December 31 2012

For the year ended December 31 2012 the Company issued zero shares of restricted common stock in lieu of cash

compensation and therefore $0 of compensation expense is included in general and administrative expenses for independent

director compensation of common stock in lieu of cash compensation For the year ended December 31 2011 the Company
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issued 3572 shares of common stock to an independent director as compensation in lieu of cash compensation at weighted

average
fair value of $9 10 per share Included in general and administrative

expenses is $32500 of compensation expense for

independent director compensation of common stock in lieu of cash compensation for the year ended December 31 2011

Convertible Stock

The Company issued 1000 shares of Convertible Stock to the Advisor for $1000 The Convertible Stock will convert into

shares of the Companys common stock if and when the Company has made total distributions on the then outstanding
shares of common stock equal to the original issue price of those shares plus an 8.0% cUmulative non-compounded annual

return on the original issue price of those shares subject to specified conditions the Company lists the common stock for

trading on national securities exchange or the Advisory Agreement is terminated or not renewed by the Company other
than for cause as defined in the Advisory Agreement listing will also be deemed to have occurred on the effective date
of any merger of the Company in which the consideration received by the holders of the Companys common stock is the

securities of another issuer that are listed on national securities exchange Upon conversion each share of Convertible Stock
will convert into number of shares of common stock equal to 1/1000 of the quotient of 10% of the amount if any by
which the Companys enterprise value as defined in the Charter plus the aggregate value of distributions paid to date on
the outstanding shares of common stock exceeds the aggregate purchase price paid by the stockholders for those shares plus
an 8.0% cumulative non-compounded annual return on the original issue price of those shares divided by the Companys
enterprise value divided by the number of outstanding shares of common stock in each case calculated as of the date of the

conversion In the event of termination or non-renewal of the Advisory Agreement by the Company for cause the Convertible

Stock will be redeemed by the Company for $1.00

Prefrrred Stock

The Charter also provides the Companys board of directors with the authority to issue one or more classes or series of

preferred stock and prior to the issuance of such shares of preferred stock the board of directors shall have the power from
time to time to classify or reclassifr in one or more series any unissued shares and designate the preferences rights and

privileges of such shares of preferred stock The Companys board of directors is authorized to amend the Charter without the

approval of the stockholders to increase the aggregate number of authorized shares of capital stock or the number of shares of

any class or series that the Company has authority to issue As of December 31 2012 and 2011 no shares of the Companys
preferred stock were issued and outstanding

Distribution Reinvestment Plan

The Companys board of directors has approved the DRP through which common stockholders may elect to reinvest an

amount equal to the distributions declared on their shares of common stock in additional shares of the Companys common
stock in lieu of receiving cash distributions The initial purchase price per share under the DRP was $9.50 Effective September

10 2012 shares of the Companys common stock are issued pursuant to the DRP at price of $9.73
per share or 95% of the

new offering price of $10.24 per share The Companys board of directors may in its sole discretion from time to time change
this price based upon changes in the Companys estimated value

per share the then current price of shares of the Companys
common stock in the Public Offering and other factors that the Companys board of directors deems relevant

No sales commissions or dealer manager fees are payable on shares sold through the DRP The Companys board of

directors may terminate the DRP at its discretion at any time upon ten days notice to the Companys stockholders Following

any termination of the DRP all subsequent distributions to stockholders will be made in cash

Share Repurchase Plan and Redeemable Common Stock

The Companys repurchase plan may provide an opportunity for stockholders to have their shares of common stock

repurchased by the Company subject to certain restrictions and limitations No shares can be repurchased under the Companys
share repurchase plan until after the first anniversary of the date of purchase of such shares provided however that this

holding period shall not apply to repurchases requested within two years after the death or disability of stockholder
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Prior to the completion of the Companys Offering Stage as defined below the purchase price for shares repurchased

under the Companys share repurchase plan will be as follows

Repurchase Price

on Repurchase DateWShare Purchase Anni%ersary

Less than year
No Repurchase A11oed

year
92.5% of Purchase Price

years
95.0% of Purchase Price

years
97.5% of Purchase Price

years
100.0% of Purchase Price

In the event of stockholders death or disability Average Issue Price for Shares3

After the completion of the Companys Offering Stage as defined below the purchase price for shares repurchased under

the Companys share repurchase plan will be as follows

Repurchase Price

on Repurchase Date1
Share Purchase Anniversary

Less than year
No Repurchase Allowed

year
92.5/o of Estimated Value per

Shar4

years
95.0/o of Estimated Value per

Shar4

years
97.5% of Estimated Value per

Shar4

years
100.0/a of Estimated Value per

Share4

Average Issue Price for Sharcs
In the event of stockholders death or disability2

As adjusted for any stock dividends combinations splits recapitalizations or any similar transaction with respect to the

shares of common stock

The required one year holding period to be eligible to redeem shares under the Companys share repurchase plan does

not apply in the event of death or disability of stockholder For purposes of the Companys share repurchase plan

disability means the stockholder has received determination of disability based upon physical or mental condition

or impairment arising after the date the stockholder acquired the shares to be redeemed and the determination of such

disability was made by the governmental agency responsible for reviewing and awarding the disability retirement benefits

that the stockholder could be eligible to receive which the Company refers to as the applicable govemmental agency

The applicable governmental agencies are limited to the following the Social Security Administration ii the U.S

Office of Personnel Management with respect to disability benefits under the Civil Service Retirement System CSRS
or iii the Veterans Administration and in each case the agency charged with administering disability benefits at that

time on behalf of one of the applicable governmental agencies Disability determinations by governmental agencies other

than those listed above including but not limited to workers compensation insurance or the administration or enforcement

of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 as amended or the Americans with Disabilities Act will not entitle stockholder to

the terms available for the repurchase of shares Repurchase requests following an award by the applicable governmental

agency of disability Social Security Administration Notice of Award U.S Office of Personnel Management

determination of disability under CSRS Veterans Administration record of disability-related discharge as the case may

be or such other documentation issued by the applicable governmental agency that the Company deems acceptable and

demonstrates an award of the disability benefits As the following disabilities generally do not entitle worker to Social

Security or related disability benefits they will not qualify as disability for purposes
of our share repurchase plan

disabilities occurring after the legal retirement age temporary disabilities and disabilities that do not render

worker incapable of performing substantial gainful activity However where stockholder requests
the repurchase of
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shares due to disability and the stockholder does not have disability that meets the definition described above but is

subject to similar circumstances the Companys board of directors may repurchase the stockholders shares in its sole

discretion

The purchase price per share for shares redeemed upon the death or disability of stockholder will be equal to the average

issue price per share for all of the stockholders shares

For purposes of the share repurchase plan the Estimated Value per Share will equal the purchase price until the day
the Company publicly discloses subsequent to completion of the Offering Stage new Estimated Value

per
Share

Thereafter the Estimated Value per Share is determined by the board of directors based on periodic valuations by

independent third-party appraisers and qualified independent valuation experts selected by the Advisor

The purchase price per share for shares repurchased pursuant to the share repurchase plan will be further reduced by the

aggregate amount of net proceeds per share if any distributed to the Companys stockholders prior to the repurchase date as

result of the sale of one or more of the Companys assets that constitutes return of capital distribution as result of such sales

The Company will consider the Companys Offering Stage complete on the first date that the Company is no longer publicly

offering equity securities that are not listed on national securities exchange whether through the Public Offering or follow-on

public equity offerings provided the Company has not filed registration statement for follow-on public equity offering as of

such date for purposes of this definition the Company does not consider public equity offerings to include offerings on
behalf of selling stockholders or offerings related to distribution reinvestment plan employee benefit plan or the

redemption
of interests in the Operating Partnership

Repurchases of shares of the Companys common stock will be made quarterly upon written request to the Company at least

15 days prior to the end of the applicable quarter Repurchase requests will be honored approximately 30 days following the end

of the applicable quarter the Repurchase Date Stockholders may withdraw their repurchase request at any time up to three

business days prior the Repurchase Date During the
year

ended December 31 2012 the Company redeemed total of 43975
shares with total redemption value of $417732 and received requests for the redemption of 49943 shares with total

redemption value of $475796 During the year ended December 31 2011 the Company received requests for the redemption
of 22874 shares with total redemption value of $211588 all of which were redeemed during the

year
ended December 31

2012

As of December 31 2012 the Company had 28842 shares of outstanding and unfulfilled redemption requests and recorded

$269651 in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet related to these

unfulfilled redemption requests The Company redeemed the outstanding redemption requests as of December 31 2012 of

$269651 on the January 31 2013 redemption date

The Company cannot guarantee that the funds set aside for the share repurchase plan will be sufficient to accommodate all

repurchase requests made in any quarter In the event that the Company does not have sufficient funds available to repurchase

all of the shares of the Companys common stock for which repurchase requests have been submitted in any quarter priority

will be given to redemption requests in the case of the death or disability of stockholder If the Company repurchases less than

all of the shares subject to repurchase request in any quarter with respect to any shares which have not been repurchased the

requesting stockholder may withdraw the request for repurchase or ask that the Company honor the request in future

quarter if any when such repurchases can be made
pursuant to the limitations of the share repurchase plan and when sufficient

funds are available Such pending requests will be honored among all requests for redemptions in any given redemption period

as follows first pro rata as to redemptions sought upon stockholders death or disability and next pro rata as to other

redemption requests

The Company is not obligated to repurchase shares of the Companys common stock under the share repurchase plan The

Company presently intends to limit the number of shares to be repurchased in any calendar
year to those that could be funded

from the net proceeds from the sale of shares pursuant to the DRP and shall not exceed 5% of the weighted average number of

shares of the Companys common stock outstanding during the prior calendar year There is no fee in connection with

repurchase of shares of the Companys common stock
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The aggregate amount of repurchases under the Companys share repurchase plan is not expected to exceed the aggregate

proceeds received from the sale of shares pursuant to the DRP However if this amount is not sufficient to fund repurchase

requests subject to the 5% limitation outlined above the Company board of directors may in its sole discretion choose to use

other sources of funds to repurchase shares of the Companys common stock Such sources of funds could include cash on

hand cash available from borrowings and cash from liquidations of securities investments as of the end of the applicable

month to the extent that such funds are not otherwise dedicated to particular use such as working capital cash distributions

to stockholders or purchases of real estate assets

In addition the Companys board of directors may in its sole discretion amend suspend or terminate the share repurchase

plan at any time upon 30 days notice to the Companys stockholders if it determines that the funds available to fund the share

repurchase plan are needed for other business or operational purposes or that amendment suspension or termination of the

share repurchase plan is in the best interest of the Companys stockholders Therefore stockholders may not have the

opportunity to make repurchase request prior to any potential termination of the Companys share repurchase plan

Pursuant to the share repurchase plan for the years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company reclassified

$2722156 and $539220 net of $417732 and $0 of fulfilled redemption requests respectively from permanent equity to

temporary equity which is included as redeemable common stock on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets The

redeemable common stock balance at any given time will consist of DRP proceeds from the prior year plus DRP

proceeds from the current year through the current period less actual current year redemptions paid or pending redemption

Distributions

The Companys long-term policy is to pay distributions from cash flow from operations However the Company expects to

have insufficient cash flow from operations available for distribution until it makes substantial investments In order to provide

additional available funds to pay distributions under certain circumstances the Companys obligation to pay all fees due to the

Advisor from the Company pursuant to the Advisory Agreement will be deferred up to an aggregate amount of $5000000

during the Offering Stage If during any calendar quarter during the Offering Stage the distributions paid by the Company

exceed funds from operations FF0 as defined by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts plus any

acquisition expenses and acquisition fees expensed that are related to any property loan or other investment acquired or

expected to be acquired and any non operating non cash charges incurred such as impairments
of property or loans any

other than temporary impairments of marketable securities or other similar charges for the quarter
which is defined in the

Advisory Agreement as Adjusted Funds From Operations the payment of fees the Company is obligated to pay the Advisor

will be deferred in an amount equal to the amount by which distributions paid to stockholders for the quarter exceed Adjusted

Funds From Operations for such quarter up to an amount equal to 0% cumulative non compounded annual return on

stockholders invested capital pro
rated for such quarter As of December31 2012 and 2011 $2399153 and $680 359

respectively of fees had been deferred pursuant to the Advisory Agreement

For purposes
of calculating the amount of fees that may be deferred pursuant to the Advisory Agreement the amount of

distributions paid during fiscal quarter shall include the value of shares of the Companys common stock distributed pursuant

to the DRP Additionally for purposes of calculating the difference between Adjusted Funds From Operations and the amount

of distributions paid during measurement period if Adjusted
Funds From Operations during such period is negative Adjusted

Funds From Operations shall be deemed to be zero

The Company is only obligated to pay the Advisor its deferred fees if and to the extent that cumulative Adjusted Funds

From Operations for the period beginning on the date of the commencement of the Private Offering through the date of any

such payment exceed the lesser of the cumulative amount of any distributions paid to stockholders as of the date of such

payment or distributions including the value of shares issued pursuant to the DRP equal to 7.0% cumulative non

compounded annual return on invested capital for the period from the commencement of the Public Offering through the date

of such payment The Companys obligation to pay the deferred fees will survive the termination of the Advisory Agreement

and will continue to be subject to the repayment conditions above The Company will not pay interest on the deferred fees if

and when such fees are paid to the Advisor
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Distributions Declared

Distributions declared to date accrue daily to stockholders of record as of the close of business on each day are

payable in cumulative amounts on or before the third day of each calendar month with respect to the prior month and are

calculated at rate of $0.001964 per share per day which if paid each day over 365-day period is equivalent to 7.0%

annualized distribution rate based on purchase price of $10.24 per share of common stock Prior to September 10 2012
distributions were calculated at rate of $0.00 1917

per
share of common stock per day which was equivalent to 7.0%

annualized distribution rate based on purchase price of $10.00 per share of common stock Stockholders may elect to receive

cash distributions or purchase additional shares through the DRP

Distributions declared for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 were $8636158 and $1640845 including

$3637548 and $640658 or 378390 shares and 67437 shares respectively of common stock attributable to the DRP

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 $1343399 and $254592 distributions declared were payable which included

$566840 and $101440 of distributions reinvested pursuant to the DRP respectively

Distributions Paid

For the
years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company paid cash distributions of $4375205 and $887472 which

related to distributions declared for each day in the period from December 2011 through November 30 2012 and

December 2010 through November 30 2011 respectively Additionally for the
years ended December 31 2012 and 2011

330688 and 59194 shares of common stock were issued pursuant to the DRP for
gross offering proceeds of $3172149 and

$562347 respectively For the
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company paid total distributions of $7547354
and $1449819

Related Party Arrangements

The Company has entered into the Advisory Agreement with the Advisor and Dealer Manager Agreement with the Dealer

Manager with respect to the Public Offering Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement and Dealer Manager Agreement the

Company is obligated to pay the Advisor and the Dealer Manager specified fees upon the provision of crtain services related to

the Public Offering the investment of funds in real estate and real estate-related investments and the management of the

Companys investments and for other services including but not limited to the disposition of investments Subject to the

limitations described below the Company is also obligated to reimburse the Advisor and its affiliates for organization and

offering costs incurred by the Advisor and its affiliates on behalf of the Company and the Company is obligated to reimburse

the Advisor and its affiliates for acquisition and origination expenses and certain operating expenses incurred on behalf of the

Company or incurred in connection with providing services to the Company As discussed in Note in certain circumstances

the Companys obligation to pay some or all of the fees due to the Advisor pursuant to the Advisory Agreement will be deferred

up to an aggregate amount of $5000000

F-30



STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

DECEMBER 31 2012

Amounts attributable to the Advisor and its affiliates incurred and paid for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 are

as follows

Paid Received For the Year Ended

Incurred For the Year Ended December 31 December 31

2012 2011 2012 2011

Expensed

Investment management feesW 1887866 258987 383359 44604

Acquisition
fees 10131220 1060073 9876075 735 771

Acquisition expensest2 1033301 371104 997180 294732

Property management

Fees 960968 199 966 834537 182778

Reimbursement of onsite personnel3 3004041 654544 2.8485 11 608231

Other fees 147504 132064

Other operating expenses4 1427993 189065 1456646 1308

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Additional paid-in-capital

Other offering costs reimbursement 9820681 1849905 9799.471 1765418

Selling commissions 10895367 2026.361 10895367 2026361

Dealer management fees 6259112 172342 62591 12 1172342

Due from Advisor 53.353

45568053 7782347 43482322 6778192

Included in fees to affiliates in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the years ended

December 31 2012 and 2011

Included in acquisition costs in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the years
ended

December 31 2012 and 2011

Included in operating maintenance and management in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for

the
years

ended December 31 2012 and 2011

Included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the

years
ended December 31 2012 and 2011
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Amounts attributable to the Advisor and its affiliates that are payable as of December 31 2012 and 2011 are as follows

Payable as of

December 31 201 December31 2011

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Evpensed

Investment management feest1 1750731 246224

Acquisition fees2 937.084 681.939

Acquisition expenses 144048 107927

Property management

Fees 150633 24202

Reimbursement of onsite personnel 201843 46313

Other fees
15440

Other operating expenses 159104 187757

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Additional paidin-cap ilal

Other offering costs reimbursement 12913 91703

Due to affiliates net 3471796 1386065

Investment management fees earned by the Advisor totaling $1750731 and $246224 were deferred as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively pursuant to the terms of the Advisory Agreement

Acquisition fees earned by the Advisor totaling $648422 and $434135 were deferred as of December 31 2012 and

2011 respectively pursuant to the terms of the Advisory Agreement The remaining acquisition fees of $288662 and

$247804 were due and payable and are included in due to affiliates in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Organization and Offr ring Costs

Organization and offering costs other than selling commissions and dealer manager fees of the Company are initially

being paid by the Advisor or its affiliates on behalf of the Company These organization and other offering costs include all

expenses to be paid by the Company in connection with the Public Offering and Private Offering including legal accounting

printing mailing and filing fees charges of the Companys transfer agent expenses of organizing the Company data processing

fees advertising and sales literature costs transfer agent costs bona fide out-of-pocket due diligence costs and amounts to

reimburse the Advisor or its affiliates for the salaries of its employees and other costs in connection with preparing

supplemental sales materials and providing other administrative services in connection with the Public Offering and the Private

Offering Any reimbursement of expenses paid to the Advisor will not exceed actual expenses incurred by the Advisor

Organization costs include all expenses incurred by the Company in connection with the formation of the Company including
but not limited to legal fees and other costs to incorporate the Company

Included in organization and offering costs are payments made to Crossroads Capital Advisors LLC Crossroads an

affiliate of the Sponsor for certain specified services provided to the Company on behalf of the Advisor including without

limitation establishing operational and administrative processes engaging and negotiating with vendors providing

recommendations and advice for the development of marketing materials and ongoing communications with investors assisting

in public relations activities and the administration of our distribution reinvestment plan and share redemption plan and

providing advice as to our real estate portfolio and property operations
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Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement the Company is obligated to reimburse the Advisor or its affiliates as applicable for

organization and offering costs paid by them on behalf of the Company in connection with the Public Offering provided.that

the Advisor is obligated to reimburse the Company to the extent selling commissions dealer manager fees and organization and

offering costs incurred by the Company in the Public Offering exceed 15% of gross offering proceeds raised in the completed

Public Offering

Reimbursements to the Advisor or its affiliates for offering costs paid by them on behalf of the Company with respect to the

Private Offering is not limited to 15% of the gross offering proceeds of the Private Offering However the Company will not

make reimbursements of organization and offering costs in excess of 15% of the gross offering proceeds of the Private Offering

unless approval is obtained from the independent directors of the Company The independent directors have not approved the

reimbursement of excess cost of the Private Offering Accordingly the Company has not accrued for the reimbursement of

organization and offering costs of the Private Offering in excess of the 15% of gross offering proceeds raised through the

Private Offering

The amount of reimbursable organization and offering OOcosts that have been paid or recognized from inception

through December 31 2012 is as follows

Percentage of

Gross Offering

Amount Proceeds

OO limitation
15%

OO expenses recorded

Broker dealer fees paid
7773534 3.46%

11742474 5.23%
Public offering costs reimbursements

Public offering cosis reimbursements accrual 112913 0.05%

Organizational costs reimbursements 100738 0.04%

Total OO costs reimbursements recorded by the company 33660056 15.00%

The Company may also reimburse certain costs Of bona fide training and education meetings rimarily the travel meal and

lodging costs of registered representatives of broker-dealers attendance and sponsorship
fees and cost reimbursement of

employees of the Companys affiliates to attend seminars conducted by broker-dealers and in special cases reimbursement to

participating broker-dealers for technology costs associated with the Public Offering costs and expenses
related to such

technology costs and costs and expenses
associated with the facilitation of the marketing of the Companys shares and the

ownership of the Companys shares by such broker-dealers customers provided however that the Company will not pay any

of the foregoing costs to the extent that such payment would cause total underwriting compensation to exceed 10% of the gross

proceeds of the Public Offering as required by the rules of FINRA
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As of December 31 2012 and 2011 the Advisor had incurred $39439196 and $14100576 respectively of organizational

and offering costs on behalf of the Company of which $5779140 and $7427627 respectively have been deferred as of the

applicable date as follows

Incurred Amounts

from Amounts Incurred Recognized Amounts

Inception Recognized Amounts during the during the Amounts Recognized

through Through Deferred as Year Ended Year Ended Deferred as Through
December December of December December December of December December

312011 312011 312011 312012 312012 312012 312012

Private Offering costs 2301719 876649 1425070 1425070 876649

14100576 6672949 7427627 25338620 26987107 5779140 33660056

Organization costs are expensed as incurred From inception through December 31 2012 the Company incurred $100738

of organizational costs on the Companys behalf of which $100738 was reimbursed to the Advisor No organizational costs

were incurred or recognized during the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011

Offering costs including selling commissions and dealer manager fees are deferred and charged to stockholders equity as

such amounts are reimbursed to the Advisor the Dealer Manager or their affiliates from gross offering proceeds For each of the

years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Advisor did not incur any costs nor did the Company reimburse the Advisor for

any costs related to the Private Offering From inception through December 31 2012 the Advisor had incurred total offering

costs related to the Private Offering of $2301719 of which $1425070 is deferred and remains potentially reimbursable to the

Advisor subject to the approval of the independent directors

For the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Advisor incurred $25338620 and $8386829 and the Company
reimbursed the Advisor $26987107 and $5048608 respectively of offering costs related to the Public Offering Included in

the $25338620 and $8386829 of offering costs incurred by the Advisor during the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011

are $1458000 and $851000 of amounts paid to Crossroads for certain offering services provided to the Company The Advisor

has incurred total offering costs related to the Public Offering of $37036739 from inception through December 31 2012 of

which $4354070 is deferred and remains potentially reimbursable subject to the 15% limitation described above and the

approval of the independent directors

The Company has reimbursed the Advisor $33660056 for organization and offering costs incurred from inception through

December 31 2012 including reimbursements of organization costs of $100738 reimbursements of Private Offering costs of

$876649 and reimbursements of Public Offering costs of $32682669 The Company accrued $112913 and $91703 for the

reimbursement of offering costs in the fmancial statements as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Investment Management Fee

The Company pays the Advisor monthly investment management fee equal to one-twelfth of 0.80% of the cost of real

properties and real estate-related assets acquired directly by the Company or the Companys allocable cost of each real

property or real estate-related asset acquired through joint venture Such fee will be calculated including acquisition fees

acquisition expenses
and any debt attributable to such investments or the Companys proportionate share thereof in the case of

investments made through joint ventures During the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the distributions the Company

paid exceeded the Companys Adjusted Funds From Operations for each period therefore in accordance with the Advisory

Agreement $1750731 and $246224 of investment management fees the Company was obligated to pay the Advisor have

been deferred as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively
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Acquisition Fees and Expenses

The Company pays the Advisor an acquisition fee equal to 0% of the purchase price in connection with the acquisition

or origination of any type of real property or real estate-related asset acquired directly by the Company or the Companys

allocable portion of the purchase price In connection with the acquisition or origination of any type of real property or real

estate-related asset acquired through joint venture including any acquisition and origination expenses and any debt

attributable to such investments During the years ended December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 the Company incurred

acquisition fees of $10131220 and $1060073 of which $9876075 and $735771 was paid to the Advisor Acquisition fees of

$288662 and $247804 were due and payable and included in due to affiliates in the accompanying balance sheets at

December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 respectively During the years
ended December 31 2012 and December 31 2011

the distributions the Company paid exceeded the Companys Adjusted Funds From Operations for each period therefore in

accordance with the Advisory Agreement $648422 and $434135 of acquisition fees the Company was obligated to pay the

Advisor had been deferred as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

In additiOn to acquisition fees the Company reimburses the Advisor for amounts directly incurred by the Advisor and

amounts the Advisor pays to third parties in connection with the selection acquisition or development of property or

acquisition of real estate-related assets whether or not the Company ultimately acquires the property or the real estate-related

assets For the year ended December 31 2012 the Advisor incurred $1033301 of direct acquisition costs and the Company

paid $2242048 of acquisition costs to third parties

The Charter limits the Company ability to pay acquisition
fees if the total of all acqmsitlon fees and expenses relating to

the purchase would exceed 6% of the contract purchase price Under the Charter majority of the Companys board of

directors including majority of the independent directors is required to approve any acquisition fees or portion thereof that

would cause the total of all acquisition fees and expenses relating to an acquisition to exceed 6% of the contract purchase price

In connection with the purchase of securities the acquisition
fee may be paid to an affiliate of the Advisor that is registered as

F1NRA member broker-dealer if applicable F1NRA rules would prohibit the payment of the acquisition fee to firm that is not

registered broker-dealer

Property Management Fees and Expenses

The Company has entered into Property Management Agreements with Steadfast Management Company Inc an affiliate

of the Sponsor the Property Manager in connection with the acquisition of each of the Companys properties except for

EBT Lofts and Keystone Farms which are both managed by an unaffiliated third-party management company The property

management fee payable with respect to each property under the Property Management Agreements each Property

Management Agreement ranges
from 2.5% to 3.5% of the annual gross revenue collected which is usual and customary for

comparable property management services rendered to similarproperties in similar geographic markets as determined by the

Advisor and approved by majority of the Companys board of directors including majority of the independent directors

Generally each Property Management Agreement has an initial one year term and will continue thereafter on month-to-month

basis unless either party gives 60 day prior
notice of its desire to terminate the Property Management Agreement provided

that the Company may terminate the Property Management Agreement upon an uncured breach of the Property Management

Agreement upon 30 days prior written notice to the Property Manager For the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the

Company incurred $960968 and $199966 respectively of property management fees of which $834537 and $182778 was

paid to the Property Manager Property management fees totaling $150633 and $24202 were payable to the Property Manager

at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

In addition to the property management fee the Property Management Agreements also specif certain other fees payable to

the Property Manager for benefit administration and training services For the year ended December 31 2012 the Company

incurred $147504 of other fees of which $132064 was paid to the Property Manager The Company did not incur other fees in

connection with the Property Management Agreements during the year ended December 31 2011 Other fees totaling $15440

and $0 were payable to the Property Manager at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively
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In addition the Company reimburses the Property Manager for the salaries and related benefits of on-site property

management employees For the
years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company incurred $3004041 and $654544 of

salaries and related benefits of on-site property management employees of which $2848511 and $608231 was paid to the

Property Manager Property management expenses totaling $201843 and $46313 were payable to the Property Manager at

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Other Operating Expense Reimbursement

In addition to the various fees paid to the Advisor the Company is obligated to pay directly or reimburse all expenses

incurred in providing services to the Company including the Companys allocable share of the Advisors overhead such as

rent employee costs utilities and information technology costs The Company will not reimburse the Advisor for employee

costs in connection with services for which the Advisor or its affiliates receive acquisition fees or disposition fees or for the

salaries the Advisor
pays to the Companys executive officers

The Charter limits the Companys total operating expenses during any four fiscal quarters to the greater of 2% of the

Companys average invested assets or 25% of the Companys net income for the same period the 2% 25% Limitation The

Company may reimburse the Advisor at the end of each fiscal quarter for operating expenses incurred by the Advisor

provided however that the Company shall not reimburse the Advisor at the end of any fiscal quarter for operating expenses
that exceed the 2%/25% Limitation unless the independent directors have determined that such excess expenses were justified

based on unusual and non-recurring factors The Advisor must reimburse the Company for the amount by which the Companys
operating expenses for the preceding four fiscal quarters then ended exceed the 2%/25% Limitation For purposes of

determining the 2%/25% Limitation amount Average invested assets means the average monthly book value of the

Companys assets invested directly or indirectly in equity interests arid loans secured by real estate during the 12-month period

before deducting depreciation bad debts or other non-cash reserves Total operating expenses means all
expenses paid or

incurred by the Company that are in any way related to the Companys operation including the Companys allocable share of

Advisor overhead and investment management fees but excluding the expenses of raising capital such as organization and

offering expenses legal audit accounting underwriting brokerage listing registration and other fees printing and other such

expenses and taxes incurred in connection with the issuance distribution transfer listing and registration of shares of the

Companys common stock interest payments taxes non-cash expenditures such as depreciation amortization and

bad debt reserves reasonable incentive fees based on the gain in the sale of the Companys assets acquisition fees and

acquisition expenses including expenses relating to potential acquisitions that the Company does not close real estate

commissions on the resale of investments and other
expenses connected with the acquisition disposition management and

ownership of investments including the costs of foreclosure insurance premiums legal services maintenance repair and

improvement of real property

On May 25 2011 the Company entered into an Operating Expense Reimbursement and Guaranty Agreement the

Reimbursement Agreement which was subsequently amended on December 21 2011 Pursuant to the Reimbursement

Agreement if on the earlier of the termination date of the Advisory Agreement and June 30 2012 in each case such

date the Determination Date the Companys total operating expenses as of March 31 2011 exceeded the 2%/25%

Limitation measured for the Company entire operating history through June 30 2012 then the Advisor would be required to

reimburse the Company for such excess amount the amount of any such reimbursement the Determination Date Payment
As of June 30 2012 the Companys total operating expenses as of March 31 2011 did not exceed the 2%/25% Limitation

therefore no amount was due from the Advisor In connection with the Reimbursement Agreement the Advisor agreed to pay
all of the operating expenses of the Company beginning April 2011 until such time as the Companys cumulative operating

expenses are below the cumulative 2%/25% Limitation As of December 31 2012 the Companys cumulative operating

expenses were below the cumulative 2%/25% Limitation
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The general and administrative expenses recognized by the Company and incurred by the Advisor on behalf of the

Company which are inclusive of total operating expenses for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 were as follows

For the Period

from May
2009

Inception to

For the years ended December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2012

Generaland administrative expenses recognized by the Company 3085470 782665 4953731

For the year ended December 31 2012 the Advisor and its affiliates incurred $1427993 of the Companys operating

expenses including the allocable share of Advisors overhead expenses
of $930187 none of which were in excess of the

2%/25% Limitation and are includedin the $3085470 of general and administrative expenses recognized by the Company For

the year ended December 31 2011 the Advisor and its affiliates incurred $1975549 of the Companys operating expenses in

excess of the 2%/25% Limitation consisting of general and administrative expenses of $1123107 and the Companys

allocable share of Advisors overhead expenses reimbursable by the Company of $852442 From inception through

December 31 2012 the Advisor and its affiliates incurred operating expenses
in excess of the 2%/25% Limitation on behalf of

the Company of $2571910 consisting of $1123107 of general and administrative expenses and $1448803 of the Companys

allocable share of the Advisors overhead expenses These excess amounts have not been recognized by the Company nor are

the amounts included in due to affiliates net on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as the independent directors

have not approved nor have they been requested to approve the reimbursement of such amounts in excess of the 2%/25%

Limitation pursuant to the Reimbursement Agreement

Disposition Fee

If the Advisor or its affiliates provides substantial amount of services as determined by the Companys independent

directors in connection with the sale of property or real estate-related asset the Company will pay the Advisor or its affiliates

1.5% of the sales price of each property or real estate-related asset sold To the extent the disposition fee is paid upon the sale of

any assets other than real property it will be included as an operating expense
for purposes of the 2%/25% Limitation In

connection with the sale of securities the disposition fee may be paid to an affiliate of the Advisor that is registered as F1NRA

member broker-dealer if applicable FINRA rules would prohibit the payment of the disposition fee to firm that is not

registered broker-dealer The Charter limits the maximum amount of the disposition fees payable to the Advisor for the sale of

any real property to the lesser of one-half of the brokerage commission paid or 3% of the contract sales price As of

December 31 2012 the Company had not sold or otherwise disposed of property or real estate-related assets Accordingly the

Company had not incurred any disposition fees as of December 31 2012

Selling Commissions and Dealer Manager Fees

The Company pays the Dealer Manager up to 6.5% and 3.5% of the gross offering proceeds from the Primary Offering as

selling commissions and dealer manager fees respectively reduced sales commission and dealer manager fee is paid in

connection with volume discounts and certain other categories of sales No sales commission or dealer manager fee is paid with

respect to shares of common stock issued pursuant to the DRP The Dealer Manager reallows 100% of sales commissions

earned to participating broker-dealers The Dealer Manager may also reallow to any participating broker-dealer portion of the

Allocable share of Advisors overhead expenses
incurred on behalf

of the Company and not recognized by the Company 852442 1448803

F-37



STEADFAST INCOME REIT INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Continued

DECEMBER 31 2012

dealer manager fee that is attributable to that participating broker-dealer for certain marketing costs of that participating broker-

dealer The Dealer Manager will negotiate the reallowance of the dealer manager fee on ease-by-case basis with each

participating broker-dealer subject to various factors associated with the cost of the marketing program For the years ended

December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company paid selling commissions of $10895367 and $2026361 and dealer manager fees

of $6259112 and $1172342 respectively

Incentive Award Plan and Independent Director Compensation

The Company has adopted an incentive plan the Incentive Award Plan that provides for the grant of equity awards to its

employees directors and consultants and those of the Companys affiliates The Incentive Award Plan authorizes the grant of

non-qualified and incentive stock options restricted stock awards restricted stock units stock appreciation rights dividend

equivalents and other stock-based awards or cash-based awards No awards have been granted under the Incentive Award Plan

as of December 31 2012 and 2011 except those awards granted to the independent directors as described below

Under the Companys independent directors compensation plan which is sub-plan of the Incentive Award Plan each of

the Companys independent directors was entitled to receive 5000 shares of restricted common stock in connection with the

initial meeting of the Companys full board of directors The Companys board of directors and each of the independent

directors agreed to delay the initial grant of restricted stock until the Company raised $2000000 in gross offering proceeds in

the Private Offering In addition on the date following an independent directors re-election to the Companys board of

directors he or she receives 2500 shares of restricted common stock One-fourth of the shares of restricted common stock

generally vest and become non-forfeitable upon issuance and the remaining portion will vest in three equal annual installments

beginning on the date of grant and ending on the third anniversary of the date of grant provided however that the restricted

stock will become fully vested and become non-forfeitable on the earlier to occur of the termination of the independent

directors service as director due to his or her death or disability or change in control of the Company

On April 15 2010 after raising $2000000 in
gross offering proceeds in the Private Offering the Company granted each of

the then three independent directors 5000 shares of restricted common stock On August 11 2011 the Company granted each

of the then three independent directors 2500 shares of restricted common stock upon re-election to the Companys board of

directors On October 23 2011 one of the independent directors resigned from the Companys board of directors and by so

doing forfeited 4375 shares of unvested restricted common stock On October 24 2011 the Company granted newly elected

independent director 5000 shares of restricted common stock On August 2012 the Company granted each of the three then

independent directors 2500 shares of restricted stock upon re-election to the Companys board of directors On October

2012 the Company granted 5000 shares of restricted common stock to each of its two new independent directors In addition

to the shares granted under the independent directors compensation plan one of the independent directors elected to receive

50% of director compensation in stock through December 31 2011 The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense

of $94425 and $94667 for the
years

ended December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 respectively

On November 15 2012 the Company entered into Stock Purchase Plan the Plan with Ella Shaw Neyland the

Companys President and member of the Companys board of directors whereby Ms Neyland has agreed to invest $5530 for

600 shares of common stock pursuant to the Companys Public Offering on the first day of each fiscal quarter The purchase of

shares of the Companys common stock by Ms Neyland pursuant to the Plan commenced on January 2013 and will

terminate on the earliest to occur of November 15 2013 ii the termination of the Companys Public Offering iiiany

suspension of the Companys Public Offering by the Companys board of directors or regulatory body iv the date upon
which the purchase of stock would cause the aggregate number of shares of stock owned by Ms Neyland to exceed the

ownership limits set forth in the Charter or the termination of Ms Neylands employment with Steadfast REIT Services

Inc and its affiliates The shares will be purchased pursuant to the Plan at price of $9.2 160 per share reflecting the

elimination of selling commissions and the dealer manager fee in connection with such sales
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Commitments and Contingencies

Economic Dependency

The Company is dependent on the Advisor and the Dealer Manager for certain services that are essential to the Company

including the sale of the Companys shares of common and preferred stock available for issue the identification evaluation

negotiation purchase and disposition of real estate and real estate-related investments management of the daily operations of

the Companys real estate and real estate-related investment portfolio and other general and administrative responsibilities In

the event that these companies are unable to provide the respective services the Company will be required to obtain such

services from other sources

Concentration of Credit Risk

The geographic concentration of the Companys portfolio makes it particularly susceptible to adverse economic

developments in the Columbus Ohio Lexington Kentucky Tulsa Oklahoma and Austin Texas apartment markets Any

adverse economic or real estate developments in these markets or the greater Midwest region of the United States such as

business layoffs or downsizing relocations of businesses increased competition from other apartment communities decrease

in demand for apartments or any other changes could adversely affect the Companys operating results and its ability to make

distributions to stockholders

Environmental

As an owner of real estate the Company is subject to various environmental laws of federal state and local governments

The Company is not aware of any environmental liability that could have material adverse effect on its financial condition or

results of operations However changes in applicable environmental laws and regulations the uses and conditions of properties

in the vicinity of the Companys properties the activities of its tenants and other environmental conditions of which the

Company is unaware with respect to the properties could result in future environmental liabilities

Legal Matters

From time to time the Company is subject or party to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of its business

Management is not aware of any legal proceedings of which the outcome is reasonably likely to have material adverse effect

on the Companys results of operations or financial condition nor is the Company aware of any such legal proceedings

contemplated by government agencies

10 Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses interest rate derivatives with the objective of managing exposure to interest rate movements thereby

minimizing the effect of interest rate changes and the effect they could have on future cash flows Interest rate caps are used to

accomplish this objective As of December 31 2012 the Company had two interest rate caps with notional amounts totaling

$45212000 The following table provides the terms of the Companys interest rate derivative instruments that were in effect at

December 31 2012

21712000 One-Month LIBOR

Effective Maturity Notional

Date Date Amount

Cap Cap Floating Rate 10/24/2011 11/1/2016

Fair Value as of

Variable Fixed December 31
Rate Rate 2012

0.21% 5.00% 19628
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Initial Cost of Coinpan

Gross Amount at which Carried at

Close of Period

Cost

apitalized Accumulated
Owner- Subsequent Depreciation OrigiiiaI

ship Building and to Building and and Date of Date
Description Location Percent Encumbrances Land lmprovenments1 lotal cquisitioII Land Improvements1 utah2 nmorlization Construction cquired

ilhard

Summit

Apartments Columbus OH 100% 16.800.0011 l.53t795 22639028 24175.823 7.154 1.536795 2646.l82 24 182977 452.751 2012 9/2812

Springmarc

Apartments San \Iareos TX J00o 5470.000 917.909 20.027.929 21.945.838 5.574 1.917.909 20.033.503 21.951.412 32.299 200h tO19 12

Renaissance at

St

Andrews

condomini

urns ouisulle KY 100% 92255 1.282.745 1.375000 5748 92.255 1.288493 1380748 t173913 2001 10/31/12

AsHes Oaks

Apartments San Antonio TX 100o 2.712000 .819.796 26970204 30.790000 69.551 .89796 27.039 755 13.559551 233.0701 1955 29 12

AtTowhead

Apartments Palatine II 100% 12.562000 2.094.728 14.655271 16750000 155 2.094728 14655.427 16750 155 117302 1976 0/30/12

The Moorings

Apartments Roselle IL 10000 15.187000 2.250.205 17.999.792 20250.0011 2250.208 17.999.792 20.250000 131.164 1976 I30112

Fotly-57

Apartments Lexington KY 100o 38500000 3.055614 49444386 52500.000 3055.614 4944436 51500.000 110.60 2008 11/20/12

Keystone

Farms

Apartments Nashville FN l00o 6.200.000 1.052401 7547.599 8.400.000 I05.4u1 7347.599 8400000 5.155 1998 1228 12

Riverfort

crossing

Apartments Frankfort KY 100% 21900000 2595 387 27404u13 30000.000 259387 27.40460 30.000000 23.324 2011 12/28/12

South Pointe at

Valley

Farms Louisville K\

Hilliard Grand

Apartments Dublin OH

Building and improvements include tenant origination and absorption costs

The loan premiums on assumed debt and below-market lease intangible liabilities allocated to individual assets in the amount of $3.4 million and $0.4 million

respectively are reflected in the table above

The
aggregate cost of real estate for federal income tax purposes was $578 million as of December 31 2012

2275000 2212402

100o 29255766 2657734 38012528 40670262 2657734 38012528 40670262 8223 2010 12/31/12
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summary of activity for real estate and accumulated depreciation for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

2012 2011 2010

tM
Balance at the beginning of the

year 69866681 17552324

Improvements 3019850 406886 2324

hti4daVftd _________________ _________________ _________________

Balance at the end of the year 578045449 69866681 17552324

Accumulated depreciation

oflh ye 55
Depreciation expense 14957857 2577462 540572

Wfffl4ti1noiiize4 set _________________________ ____________
Balance atthe end of the year 18073362 3115505 540572
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